° Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas
Steel Pipe Holdings Limited

PCK HIAMRXKARATERABIRLF
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(MHERETMRINEBR2T)
Stock code IR 1X5% : 1938

2020

ANNUAL
REPORT




CONTENTS

]
%
\S =5
P

W

X

g

X
4
2\

) |
.' \ \‘ 2
oy |
L/ 3
6
9
14
15
32
43
58

71

87

95

96

97

99

101

104

243

tEER

Corporate Profile

ARER

Corporate Information

FEBREE

Chairman’s Statement

#2 18 B 5T %

Awards and Recognitions

BEAE

Quality Certifications

EEENRESN

Management Discussion and Analysis
EERAREREEE

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
EEEREE

Report of Directors

TEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

RE HERERRE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIYZEERE

Independent Auditor’s Report

mEBRER

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FEZTEWAR

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
REMBMRR K

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
HERERER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ZERERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

PR IR R M A

Notes to Financial Statements

TFEMBHRER

Five-Year Financial Summary



2

CORPORATE PROFILE
TEEH

Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries hereinafter referred
to as the “Group”) is the largest manufacturer and exporter
of longitudinal welded steel pipes and is engaged in property
development and investment in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). The Company has been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 1938) since February 2010. The Group’s steel pipes
are mainly used for energy transmission including oil and gas
transmission pipelines, deep sea pipelines, city gas networks,
and petrochemicals, mining, infrastructure construction, offshore
engineering, steel structures and water utilities industries.

The Group’s production bases and offices are located in Panyu,
Zhuhai, Lianyungang, Nanjing, Hong Kong, Saudi Arabia and
Indonesia, with 6 production lines for longitudinal submerged arc-
welded (“LSAW”), 2 production lines for spiral submerged arc-
welded (“SSAW”) and other production lines with a combined
annual production capacity of 1,950,000 tonnes as at 31 December
2020.

The Group is an industry pioneer, particularly strong in research
and development, holding 84 patents (including 32 invention
patents) and 13 international certificates and having a long
standing international and nationwide track record. Furthermore,
the Group is the first and only steel pipe manufacturer in the
PRC to manufacture and successfully develop deep sea welded
steel pipes for use at a water depth of 3,500m and a qualified
supplier of Petrobras and Petronas. Our joint venture company in
Saudi Arabia is also a qualified supplier of the Saudi Arabian Oil
Company, Saipem S.p.A. and National Petroleum Construction
Company etc. The Group is a welded steel pipe manufacturer in
the PRC that has received honours and awards, including “Gold

n oo«

Cup Prize for Actual Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “Superior
Quality Award for Actual Quality of Metallurgical Products”,
“National Key New Products”, “Province-recognised Enterprise
Technology Centre” and “High and New Technology Enterprise”,
and hosted a “Academician Workstation” and is the main drafter
of the national standard for longitudinal welded steel pipes in the

PRC.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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Executive Directors
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Independent Non-executive Directors
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Mr TIAN Xiao Ren
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms WONG Pui Shan FCCA, CPA, ACIS, ACS, MSc (Fin)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr AU YEUNG Kwong Wah (Chairman)
Mr CHEN Ping

Mr TIAN Xiao Ren

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr CHEN Ping (Chairman)

Mr TIAN Xiao Ren
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Ms CHEN Zhao Nian

=

HITES

BRELEE (LE)

BREUHE ST (B /)
(R=ZZFE_ZTF+H-BEZE)

BRIEF L

BMIAELLT (RZZT_ZTF+A—HEFT)

BYFHTES
BRI 4
HELE

Lt 9 E R

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

AEME
T ML +FCCA, CPA, ACIS, ACS, MSc (Fin)

BERERE

B Sk (E/5)
PR 5 4

FE % 81 5% 4

REZES
B SE (EE)
PR % 8 5% 4
B8 %k

FMWEEE
AR L (EF)
PR St

RE %L

RERX

BREEE
BRkEF L

RIAMAARMEZRERLF



CORPORATE INFORMATION
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HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

2/F., 3-5 Golden Dragon City

Yayun Avenue

511450 Panyu District

Guangzhou City

Guangdong Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Suite Nos 1, 2 and 19

15th Floor, Tower 3

China Hong Kong City

33 Canton Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Ceritfied Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue,

Central, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
1938

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.pck.com.cn

pck.todayir.com

LEGAL ADVISERS AS TO HONG KONG LAW
Loeb & Loeb LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications

Bank of Jiangsu

China Construction Bank

Guangzhou Rural Commercial Bank
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
The Export-Import Bank of China
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

3rd Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road

P.O.Box 1586

Grand Cayman

KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Center

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong
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KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

BERERNBFELTIE

BEFEERLERRA A
E5

SR KNEBR183%

A F 5412

BIRAMRARMELZRERLT O



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREEF

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), | would like to present to you the
consolidated audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

In 2020, the persistence of the coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”)
pandemic has brought a major and lasting impact on the global
economy and the petroleum industry, causing a sharp drop in crude
oil demand. International oil prices are still hovering at a low level,
and the world economy underwent unprecedented challenges.
Continuous tensions between China and the United States and
complex and volatile factors dragged the global economy into
a synchronized slowdown. The Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB1,141.8 million (2019: RMB1,194.0 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 4.4% compared with
that of 2019. However, the Group recorded profit of approximately
RMB622.9 million (2019: loss of RMB142.1 million). Profit per
share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent was
approximately RMBO0.62 (2019: loss per share was RMBO0.14). The
Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

ITRHRES

During 2020, there were more uncertainties in all industries under
COVID-19, and the domestic economy in China persevered in the
adversity. Nonetheless, 2020 is the year with the most orders for
steel pipes since the Group’s listing. The Group delivered a total
of 341,000 tons of steel pipes and received orders for a total of
654,000 tons of steel pipes for the year, including 300 kilometers
natural gas transmission pipeline project with 140,000 tons of steel
pipes in Nigeria, projects of three large oil companies, Yuanba-
Deyang Gas Pipeline Project of Shandong Haiwode (1Ll 5 /& K
f2) and other national engineering projects, construction of the
Huangmao Sea Cross-sea Channel and Zhujiang Delta Water
Resources Allocation En-gineering.

The Group provided 140,000 tons of steel pipes for natural gas
transmission pipeline project in Nigeria with a total length of
300 kilometers, which is a key project for oil and gas facilities
construction of Nigeria. It is the only large pipeline connecting the
gas source site in the south and the gas consumption area in the
north. This project can stimulate local economic development and
is also a key project of the Group’s infrastructure construction for
the Belt and Road Initiative of the PRC.

The Group actively and continuously carries out independent
research and development to diversify products and improve
product quality. For Zhujiang Delta Water Resources Allocation
Engineering, the Group built the first domestic large dimension
inner wall fusion-bonded epoxy powder anti-corrosion coating
production line, which can guarantee the quality of the water
supply station and the service life of the pipelines. The project
diverts water from the West River in the west of the river network
in Zhujiang Delta to the east of Zhujiang Delta and supplies water
to Nansha District of Guangzhou, and water-deficient area in
Shenzhen and Dongguan.

In mid-September 2020, the Group announced the sale of the
land held by Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co., Limited (“PCKSP”)
to the government for resumption, the land for a compensation of
approximately RMB3,453 million and an early completion bonus
payment of approximately RMB691 million. The land was originally
the production plant of PCKSP, with an area of approximately
280,197 square meters, located at Qinghe Road, Shiji Town, Panyu
District, Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. Most of
proceeds are used to reduce the Group’s liabilities and interest,
favorable for the long-term development of the Group’s steel pipe
business. The Group’s production bases are mainly in Lianyungang
and Zhuhai, and the sale of land has no significant impact on the
Group’s production.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETEHRES

PROSPECT

The COVID-19 outbreak has brought a significant impact on
China’s economic, social and energy development, and the growth
rate of oil and gas demand has slowed significantly. Facing the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the development of China’s
oil and gas industry is facing challenges, but China’s promotion
of the development of the natural gas industry has not changed.
Therefore, China will accelerate the construction of pipeline
network facilities and the demand for steel pipes of the Group is
still huge.

With the unremitting efforts, the Group is firmly confident that, it
will overcome any hardships, adjust its strategic direction, build
up its strength and lay a solid foundation to guard the Group with
fearless spirit, as well as improve and strengthen its technologies,
actively expand new product areas, and expand its product range
from originally only supplying oil and gas transmission pipeline to
offering steel pipes for infrastructure and high-end construction
projects such as bridges, wind power generation, offshore
platforms and water pipes so as to meet the diversified demands
of domestic and foreign markets for high-performance steel pipe
products, and expand product use and increase market share.

After the Group sold the land to substantially reduce the debt, the
gearing ratio and interest will be significantly reduced, which will
help improve next year’s performance.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to thank all our staff for
performing their tasks diligently in such a challenging year. | am
also grateful to our shareholders for their continuous support to
the Group during a consolidation stage where it is accumulating
strength for a prosperous future. The Board has full confidence
in the management team and its ability. As we grow a stronger
foundation, our future will be even brighter.

Chen Chang
Chairman

Panyu, Guangdong, China
30 March 2021
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(Guangzhou City Science and Technology
Committee*)
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International Exhibition of Inventions
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(China Inventions Association*)
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Guangdong Province Patent Excellence
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(Three-roller forming technology and
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(Guangdong Provincial Bureau of Personnel &
Intellectual Property Office of Guangdong Province*)
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Guangdong High and New Technology Enterprise*
(Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong
Province*, Guangdong Province Department of Finance*,

Guangdong Municipal Office of the State Administration
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First Prize for Sci-Tech
Achievement in Guangzhou
City*

(The People’s Government of
Guangzhou City*)
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of Taxation*, and Guangdong Provincial Local Taxation
Bureau*)

20 I (Renewed in 2013

2013 4%)
B ASEH B
BB
(B RPHEEHISER BN EB/ B M AR B )
Key High and New Technology Enterprise of
China Torch Item*
(Torch High-tech Industry Development Centre of
Science and Technology Department of the PRC*)
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Department*, General Administration of Customs*,
State Administration of Taxation*)
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1st Runner-up of The 19th
National Invention Exhibition*
Dual-drive push-press type steel
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Guangdong Province*
(The People’s Government of
Guangdong Province*)
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(Invention Association of China*)
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Centre of Guangdong Province*
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Intellectual Property
Demonstration Enterprise of
Guangdong Province*
(Intellectual Property Department
of Guangdong Province*)
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Innovative Enterprise of
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Top 10 Original Brands of
Guangdong Province*
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of Enterpreneurs of Guangdong
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Indigenous Innovation Product of

Guangdong Province*

Department of Science and Technnlogy of Guangdong Province*,
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Finance Department of Guangdong Province*, Intellectual

Propel of Province®, Admi

of Quality and Technology Supervision of Guangdong Province*)
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1st Runner-up of The 20th National
Invention Exhibition*
Five-electrode submerged arc
welding equipment

(Invention Association of China*)
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(The People’s Government of
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of Guangdong Province*
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(The People’s Government of
Guangdong Province*)
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(The People’s Government of
Guangdong Province*)

First Prize of Metallurgical
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(China Iron & Steel Association,
The Chinese Society for Metals)
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(The Guangdong Provincial Department
of Science and Technology, the
Guangdong Development and
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Province, the Guangdong Intellectual
Property Office and the Guangdong
Provincial Federation of Trade
Unions*)

2014

TEREERBEYER
BELER
(FEMSTXHE)
Superior Quality Award
for Actual Quality of
Metallurgical Product
(China Iron & Steel Association*)

gg\%’i*@‘
'@#ﬁ

5

2015

AR Al 3

( REREPHBEATNE - FERE PBUE -
EREERVBR  EREBITHER)
High Technology Enterprises*
(Department of Science and Technology
of Province*,

Province Department of Finance*,
Guangdong Municipal Office of the State
A -ation of Taxation*,

Provincial Local Taxation Bureau*)
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ISREERERE

2014

EREERAEEREARE
REE

(EREERHSE)

Model Experimenting Enterprise
for Credit Management of
Guangdong Province

(Guangdong Credit Association)

FREHERARE

iE #

2016
R P
(RARARERE)

(EREARBUT)
First Prize of Sci-Tech

Achievement

(Deep Sea Pipe for Natural Gas)
(The People’s Government of Guangdong
Province)
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2016

AREERBYRESNE-
ERE (RE)
(FEEETEGE)

Gold Cup Prize for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical
Products*-welded steel pipes
(China Iron & Steel Association)

B TR XA A LT L LAY

ERATHE AL SR
QE S
AAYREREHEURLY RRAE,
PRty
aine con R

waRaLn

=2 s

§ e —ex =
&)
zm‘ﬂxn

EHY. 016510501

Bexsnsanoms

2017
EHERTNEBRINES R
—%5%
(EEBHTARBA)

First Prize of Lianyungang
Science and Technology
Progress Award*

(The People’s Government of
Lianyungang)

€
5
€
€
€
€
{¢
€
&

N

2016

AEERBYRESFR-
BHER IR E
(FEIRE T ¥iHE)

Gold Cup Prize for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical
Products*-spiral submerged
arc-welded steel pipes
(China Iron & Steel Association)

HeT s B RAZIAT (o) A IR

2017

BREERMT
(BREAGENERMEZER &
REMBE - EREABITHER
EREERIBR  SHAEE
RAE)

Provincial Enterprise
Technology Centre*

( Provincial

and Information Commission*,
Guangdong Provincial Department
of Finance, Local Taxation

Bureau of Guangdong Province*,
Guangdong Branch of the General
Administration of Customs*)

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

2016

EREELEAIRERE N
(RERE AN EFRALEREE )
Guangdong Postdoctoral
Innovation Practice Base*
(Department of Human Resources
and Social Security of Guangdong
Province*)

2018

LRSI S
(ERERBHEME - EREAMBK
B EXBBAREREDER )
High Technology
Enterprises*

(Department of Science and
Technology of Guangdong
Province*, Guangdong Province
Department of Finance*,
Guangdong Provincial Taxation
Bureau of the State Administration
of Taxation)

295 B 3

o~ ROy Bz

20165 EHHEFAAAR
i
% AL-QAHTANI PCK R 28 E
" ERHIARABRLT
| smmpsmmEEEAEE
bbbt
PRERERASLDE
i e
ot A 3
2017.1.22

2016

DEHESFHEEE R
(PEEDEAAAEEAMEE -
PRERAPECERS)
Saudi Arabia Excellent
Chinese Project Award*
(Chinese Embassy in Kingdom

of Saudi Arabia*, Saudi Arabia
Chinese Enterprises Association*)

2020

EEBTARKAINESEN
(FHEEBTE - BEBHAR
BT )

Lianyungang Science and
Technology Innovation
Outstanding Unit*
(Lianyungang Municipal C:

of the Communist Party of China*,
The People’s Government of
Lianyungang*)

KIRAMARRMEZRERAF
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QUALITY CERTIFICATIONS

EE B Xy =
|=g==R-7¥15)

TEENEERERAES

UTEREERE
F13 Year ¥ Certifications
1996 1SO9001
1996 API
1999 CE
2002 BV
1ISO9001 1SO14001
2004 OHSAS18001
2006 DNV
2009 Shell
2011 CNAS
2011 ASME
2012 CMS
2014 TUV
2017 Saudi Aramco
2019 TOTAL

The Group has been awarded the following international
quality certifications:

RE B Authority

%75 B R/ Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
% B A 1€ American Petroleum Institute

FEE 45 KM 4u 4t Lloyd’s Register of Shipping
KB 48 4= Bureau Veritas

&7 ML RE B Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency
FF '8 £ % F D China Quality Certification Centre
8 B M 4 4= Det Norske Veritas

S i

FT B 3% 2 Shell Global Solutions

FPEA KT EE KRR ZE B € China National Accreditation Service for

Conformity Assessment

E B T2 A0 1% € American Society of Mechanical Engineers

AR ERET &1 82 Z 32 0 China CMS (Issuing Authority)
HE{EEEEE TUV SUD China

) 4% B 2 /)8 A 7] Saudi Arabian Oil Company
EBIA M A R B EM TOTAL
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group mainly (i) manufactures and sells longitudinal welded
steel pipes, as well as providing manufacturing service for
processing raw materials into steel pipes; and (ii) engages in
property development and investment.

Our welded steel pipe products can be broadly categorised into
LSAW steel pipes, SSAW steel pipes and ERW steel pipes. We
are the largest LSAW steel pipe manufacturer and exporter in the
PRC, and are capable of producing LSAW steel pipes that meet
the X100 standard. We are also accredited with 13 international
quality certifications such as Det Norske Veritas (“DNV”) and
American Petroleum Institute (“API”). In addition, we are the first
and the only PRC manufacturer that has successfully produced
and developed deep sea welded pipes for use at 3,500m under
water. Our products are widely applicable to major oil and gas
pipeline projects (both onshore and offshore) and infrastructure
projects domestically and internationally.

Our Group is capable of manufacturing subsea pipes and drilling
platforms for offshore projects, and is being classified as a member
of the Offshore Engineering Equipment Industry* (/& ¥ T 2%
3% 2 ) . We have benefited from and been supported by the
PRC’s strategic policies and received supports from policy banks
and insurance institutions in the PRC. We have maintained good
relationships with and have obtained medium-term loans from the
Export-Import Bank of China.

Panyu Land Development

In 2013, the Group has converted a piece of land in Panyu into
commercial use. The total land area of such piece of land is
125,000m? which accounted for 25% of the total area of the parcels
of land owned by the Group in Panyu (the “Panyu Land”). The total
construction area of the Panyu Land is 550,000 m2. The Panyu
Land was divided into three phases for development.
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"H
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£
]:_1
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EHOoE

AEBITENRELRBEERERME ARREHRE
EMAMIAMENRERY: RINKEDFERR
BE-

AEBNEEMEERART S RELEINEE &
RIBIREREREE - RARTEKAELIZINR
EREMEHOR AJEERAX1001F 20 B 42125
1RE MBS ISR AL ([DNV ) REBE A H
BeE (TAPIDE+=HEREERE - I HMR
B A M ME — BE AR T A K BT B HI3,5000K R AR
ENRER -BMANEREBRAIMUEZERAR KR
AlRRAAREERE (FLEMEL) RERIAR -

MRASETREE ETREEANERE g L#H
Fa HUASERIABFIRRBRERLOEY
T RERBERBEBEUEBRREXSF RMATS2H
BERMEBITERRBEBBORI R EPBEEL D
RITTRFRIFAIERE LERZEHBRESTH

£
HiAe

ERITHERE
AEER—_Z-=FHEE - RBLIHLELSEEMRML-
A% Y A E R /3125,000°F 5K - i RSB R & B
AW ([FR L) BEENOIZ — BB LM
B 48 2 S5 T 75 /3550,000F 75K - EE LI B =HIE
B
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

Project name:
Golden Dragon City Fortune Plaza* (“GDC”)

Address: Qinghe Road, Shiji Town, Panyu District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong, PRC

Usage: large scale of integrated commercial complex of offices,
shops, service apartments and villas

Total permitted construction area (including underground
construction area)

Phase | 135,000 m?
Phase Il 191,000 m?
Phase Il 224,000 m?

Most of the units under Phase | of GDC have been sold. The
Group had pre-sold the units under Phase Il of GDC and the total
contracted sales were approximately RMB1,048 million as at 31
December 2020. Shops of Phase | are rented for rental income.
Phase Il of GDC was sold to Guangzhou City Panyu District Land
Development Centre* ([E/N T & B & L FE L) in 2019.

The steel pipe business will remain as the Group’s core business.

Proposed change of land use in Panyu from “industrial” to
“residential and commercial”

On 12 February 2018, the Group has entered into an agreement
(“Agreement”) with Guangdong Yuecai Trust Co Limited* (&
HEB{ERBMRLF) (“Guangdong Yuecai”) and Guangzhou
Asset Management Company Limited* (E/MEEEE AR AT)
(“Guangzhou Asset Management”) (collectively the “Investors”) in
relation to the cooperation to facilitate the change of use of land
(the “Land”) held by Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co. Ltd (F &%
T E B BR AR (‘PCKSP”) from “industrial” to “residential and
commercial” and the disposal of (actual and deemed) an aggregate
of 59% of the equity interest in PCKSP to the Investors. Chu Kong
Steel Pipe Group Co. Ltd (“CKSPG”) and PCKSP shall complete
an asset reorganisation, after which, the only asset held by PCKSP
shall be the Land. Pursuant to the Agreement, Guangdong Yuecai
shall, by stages, (i) inject capital into PCKSP and acquire 19% of
the equity interest in the PCKSP for RMB240 million; (ii) implement
the asset reorganisation; (iii) apply for the change of use of the
Land; and (iv) acquire 40% of the equity interest in PCKSP from
CKSPG for a consideration equivalent to 40% of the fair value of
the Land (after the change of use of the Land).

*

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purpose
only
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HEEM:
SEBMERS ([EEHA])

it PEERE BN E SR A EEE R

Az BFE B REXQAEM

AENARESEHEIERR

AFREAEE (BRI TRERRE)

% —Hf 135,000F J5 £
F_H 191,000 75 >k
F=H 224,000 J7 K

CERAF - PENEABAIEE - AEEACHEESDE
WE_HEN RZZTTEF+-_A=+—H 8&
HSEE A A AR 1,048,000,00070° F — I EE
EHAARBRASKRA - 2ERE=ZHER=ZT—IF
PETFEMNTEBE LHAZEF -

HMEEBBEBRRNEENZLER-

RESEELHNORAEA [ IXIEER[EEREE]

RZE—NF-A+-B AEEEREREHZEE
RAB([EREFDERENEEERERAA ([E
MEEETR]) (GBIEREFDITLHE (&%
F]) AR EBRAEEERKIMEERAR ([EFB
HIME DL (Rt ) 2RBdE [TE]IR
BIFEEREE] URAREFLE (BERREIE)F
BIRIHMESF59% RE K IHEEBAR LA ([
IHEERDEEERIMESEREESMHE X
B EBEERIMERAENE—BEARZ T -REZ
Wik BB DB ER (i) A R #240,000,0007T 4]
EBHIMETET B EBRHKTME19% IRE : (i)
ETEESMHE: (IVRFEEZTHAE R(v)REK
TMEEEBEEERHKTMEI% BRE REHER
BEZITHMARBZ IR TFERNI0% -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

The disposal of 59% equity interest of PCKSP was approved
by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 19 April 2018.

The capital injection under the Agreement has been completed on
12 October 2018. Guangdong Yuecai has made capital injection
into PCKSP in the amount of RMB240 million and acquired 19% of
the registered capital of PCKSP (on enlarged basis). Following the
completion of the capital injection, PCKSP was legally held as to
20% by Guangdong Yuecai and 80% by CKSPG.

On 27 February 2019, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
(the “Disposal Agreement”) with Guangzhou Xingchen Consultation
Company Limited (EME R#H B AER 2 ) (“Xingchen”),
Guangdong Yuecai and Guangzhou Asset Management in relation
to (i) the nomination of Xingchen by the Guangzhou Asset
Management under the terms of the Agreement as its nominee to
acquire 40% equity interest of PCKSP; and (ii) the disposal of the
remaining 40% equity interest of PCKSP to Xingchen, for a total
consideration of RMB2,448 million with a possible payment of the
premium of RMB272 million.

Details were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
27 February 2019 and circular dated 26 March 2019.

The transactions contemplated under the Disposal Agreement were
approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
held on 16 April 2019.

On 15 June 2020, the Group entered into supplemental
agreements (the Supplemental Agreements”) to provide a
framework for the unwinding of the Agreement dated 12 February
2018 and the Disposal Agreement dated 27 February 2019.

On 15 September 2020, the Group entered into the land
resumption compensation agreement (the “Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement”) with Guangzhou City Land
Development Centre* (“Guangzhou LDC”), pursuant to which
Guangzhou LDC would resume, and the Group would sell the
Land at the compensation of RMB3,453.4 million (subject to
an early completion bonus payment of RMB690.7 million). The
land resumption contemplated under the Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement was approved by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 23 October 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

Order Status

In 2020, the Group received new orders of approximately 654,000
tonnes of welded steel pipes and most orders were received from
domestic customers. The Group has received some sizeable
orders like orders from Nigeria Natural Gas Pipe Project. The
Group delivered approximately 341,000 tonnes of welded steel
pipes during 2020.

Our joint venture company Al-Qahtani Pck Pipe Company (“AHQ”)
(the “JV Company”) in Saudi Arabia has also been awarded new
order of steel pipes from Saudi Arabian Oil Company (“Saudi
Aramco”) and Saipem S.p.A. for supplying approximately 33,000
tonnes of steel pipes. The JV Company enabled the Group to
expand its market share in Saudi Arabia and neighboring countries.

LSAW Steel Pipes

The Group is one of the largest LSAW steel pipe manufacturers
and exporters in the PRC. LSAW steel pipe was the largest
source of revenue of the Group and accounted for approximately
71.7% of our total steel pipe revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020. For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue
from the sales and manufacturing service of LSAW steel pipes
amounted to approximately RMB655.1 million and RMB152.3
million, respectively, representing a decrease of approximately
21.6% and 9.3%, respectively, as compared to that for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease in sales of LSAW steel
pipes was mainly due to the impact of COVID-19 that affected the
production and delivery of steel pipes during the year.

SSAW Steel Pipes

Our SSAW steel pipes produced in our plant in Lianyungang use
the pre-welding and precision welding SSAW technique, which
is the most advanced standard among all SSAW technologies.
Revenue from the sales and manufacturing service of SSAW steel
pipes amounted to approximately RMB121.4 million and RMB132.0
million respectively. The total revenue from SSAW steel pipes
accounted for approximately 22.5% of the total steel pipe revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing an increase
of approximately 209.0% as compared to that for the year ended
31 December 2019. The increase in sales of SSAW steel pipes
was mainly due to the increase in construction projects during the

year.
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MNZTZTF RNEBEEENTNEHEL A654,000
WEIREME KRBT EREBBANTF -ASEE#E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

ERW Steel Pipes

Competition in the market of ERW steel pipes has been very
keen due to its relatively low technical and standardised entry
requirements. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recorded nil revenue from the sales and manufacturing service
of ERW steel pipes. The nil in sales of ERW steel pipes was
mainly due to the relocation of ERW production line from Panyu
production site to Zhuhai production site during the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit

Revenue of the Group mainly comprises (i) sales of steel pipe, and
(ii) sales of property.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, our revenue was
approximately RMB1,141.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB52.2 million or 4.4% as compared with that of
2019. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in
property sales as compared with that of 2019.

The following table sets forth the revenue, gross profit and sales
volume by business segments for each of the periods indicated:

ERREE
ERRERMBEMBERBZEELOAPFIRE A
BmSHFLRAN - BE T _SF+_A=+—
HIFFE AEEHEEREENHE RYERBK
ARZE - BEHRENTHENIZHNRFASHEEMR
EERRERLEEANMBBEINEEESM -

Bt %5 B R
WARER
AEBRATEBE()HEHER()DEHE -

REBEE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HLFE xEHK
AR AR™1,141,800,00070  R—F — LFR DK
AR #52,200,0007T 54.4% ° WA 2 £ B BN F i
EHER_FT-NFRIAK-

TREIIFAREREEF D RNRA - EFNMBEEE:

2020 2019
—E-EF —Z-NF
RMB’000 % to total RMB’000 % to total
1A A KA
AREFT BAlE  AREFT AL
Revenue A
Steel pipes WE 1,125,851 98.6 1,141,665 95.6
Property development and investment MEBRREREE 15,956 1.4 52,296 4.4
1,141,807 100.0 1,193,961 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWED

Steel pipes i E
2020 2019
i g 3:3 —T-NEF
Sales Sales
Revenue volume Revenue volume
PN HEE WA HEE
RMB’000 % to total tonnes RMB000 % to total tonnes
AR A 15 AW A
ARMTFT AR B AREFT Bk i
Sales of steel pipes HERE
LSAW steel pipes BB EE 655,108 58.2 132,794 835,348 73.2 156,080
SSAW steel pipes ZHEEINEE 121,354 10.8 24,310 29,645 2.6 5,683
ERW steel pipes BREE - - - 7,803 0.7 1,243
Subtotal et 776,462 69.0 157,104 872,796 76.5 163,006
Manufacturing services BUE IR
LSAW steel pipes BHBEE 152,322 13.5 74,843 167,859 14.7 104,861
SSAW steel pipes IR EE 131,981 1.7 108,911 52,335 4.6 58,361
ERW steel pipes EHEE - - - 62 = 412
Subtotal Nt 284,303 25.2 183,754 220,256 19.3 163,634
Others HA N/A N/A
65,086 5.8 TiERA 48,613 4.2 TEA
Grand total B 1,125,851 100.0 340,858 1,141,665 100.0 326,640
Steel pipes =
2020 2019
—EB-EF —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR Fr
Sales HE 1,125,851 1,141,665
Cost of sales SHE R A (921,216) (940,229)
Gross profit Sl 204,635 201,436
The revenue generated from the sales of steel pipes accounted RZZEZZTFE - REHEHEOHWRALRA S B EH
for approximately 69.0% of our total steel pipe revenue in 2020 EUWAB9.0% MM —ZT— NFRIH1576.5% - R _-F
as compared with approximately 76.5% in 2019. Steel pipe ZTEF HERERB LG A EE LN E K A25.2% -
manufacturing services accounted for approximately 25.2% of our MR- —AFENNE19.3% - DEATHM] ZWA
total steel pipe revenue in 2020 as compared with approximately FERBEHEHR HEMHEGFREEEMNOKRA -4
19.3% in 2019. The revenue classified as “Others” mainly EAEE _Z_TFHRMEWAS8% MR_E—N1
represented the trading of steel plates, sales of steel fittings FAIA154.2% °

and sales of scrap materials which accounted for approximately
5.8% of our total steel pipe revenue in 2020 as compared with
approximately 4.2% in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

Gross profit of steel pipe sales for 2020 was approximately
RMB204.6 million as compared with approximately RMB201.4
million in 2019, representing an increase of approximately 1.6% or
RMB3.2 million. Gross profit margin for 2020 was approximately
18.2% which was similar to that of 17.6% in 2019.

Our domestic sales accounted for approximately 88.7% of our total
steel pipe revenue in 2020, as compared with approximately 88.2%

in 2019.

Sales by Geographical Areas — Steel Pipes

BINHE
BAHE

Overseas sales
Domestic sales

Total steel pipes and HE R R B

manufacturing services

Property development and investment

Revenue A
Cost of sales SHE KA

Gross profit EH

Revenue under property development and investment in 2020 was
mainly sales of property of GDC and rental income from shops in
Phase | of GDC whereas it was mainly sales of property of GDC
in 2019. Revenue under property development and investment
was approximately RMB16.0 million in 2020 as compared with
approximately RMB52.3 million in 2019, representing a decrease of
approximately 69.5% or RMB36.3 million. Most of the units under
Phase | of GDC had been sold in 2018 and 2019.
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—ETEMMHEHEENL R/ ARKK204,600,000

T BRZZE—NFEH ARE201,400,00070 18 1N41.6%
HARH3,200,000 - T FHNEFNEXH A
18.2% B =T — L FM17.6% %5 °

RZZEZZEF - AEENBEANEEFGLMEHE WAL
88.7% MM =ZF — NF A %1588.2% °
RHEESTNWEE-RE
2020 2019
—ECEF ZE-NEF
Revenue Revenue
PN LON
RMB’000 % to total RMB’000 % to total
1A A hAEHA
ARETFT BAlt AREFT B
127,699 11.3 134,377 11.8
998,152 88.7 1,007,288 88.2
1,125,851 100.0 1,141,665 100.0
2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR FTT ARB T
15,956 52,296
(13,904) (41,540)
2,052 10,756
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T-NFXERSENNYEHERA S -FF
%%%’f@&&ﬁuﬁmiﬁﬁjxﬁﬁ%m0000007cv£E173A
—E-NFMHARKS52,300,0007C 8 L B E AR
1 #69.5% 3% A R #36,300,0007T > A & 2 & BEW 5
—HENERZE-NER-ZE-NFHE-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

Cost of sales primarily represents the costs we incurred directly
for the Group’s property development activities. The principal
component of cost of sales is cost of properties sold, which
includes the direct costs of construction and the costs of obtaining
land use rights. Cost of sales was approximately RMB13.9 million
in 2020 as compared with approximately RMB41.5 million in 2019,
representing a decrease of 66.5% or RMB27.6 million.

Gross profit of property sales was approximately RMB2.1 million
in 2020 as compared with approximately RMB10.8 million in 2019,
representing a decrease of 80.9% or RMB8.7 million.

All revenue under property development and investment were

domestic in nature.

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUES OF INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group has adopted the accounting policy of measuring
investment properties by using fair values. Accordingly, gains or
losses arising from the changes in the fair values of investment
properties are reflected as profit or loss for the reporting period.
The investment properties as at 31 December 2020 were the
shops of Phase | of GDC. The Group has engaged RHL Appraisal
Limited, an independent valuer, to value the investment properties
as at 31 December 2020. According to the valuation report as at
31 December 2020 issued by RHL Appraisal Limited, the market
value of the investment properties as at 31 December 2020 was
RMB387 million. Loss on fair values of the investment properties
in 2020 was approximately RMB20 million (2019: gain RMB78
million).

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains in 2020 mainly represented gain on
resumption of land use rights, bank interest income and subsidy
income from government. Other income and gains increased by
approximately 332.7% or RMB1,469.5 million from approximately
RMB441.7 million in 2019 to approximately RMB1,911.3 million in
2020. Increase in other income and gains was mainly due to net
gain on resumption of land-use-rights from local authority in 2020
pursuant to the land resumption agreement dated 15 September
2020, details of which were disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 8 October 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
37.6% or RMB21.0 million from approximately RMB55.8 million in
2019 to approximately RMB34.8 million in 2020. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease of freight charges.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 14.4% or
RMB48.4 million from approximately RMB336.0 million in 2019
to approximately RMB287.6 million in 2020. The decrease in
administrative expenses was mainly due to the closure of the
manufacturing operation of PCKSP and closure of certain non-core
operations.

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs for 2020 was approximately RMB475.4 million
as compared with that of 2019 of approximately RMB450.1 million,
representing an increase of RMB25.3 million or 5.6%. The effective
interest rate in 2020 was approximately 10.2% (2019: 8.9%).
Increase in finance costs was due to increase in average interest
rate throughout the year.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses increased by approximately 333.4 % or
RMB231.3 million from approximately RMB69.4 million in 2019 to
approximately RMB300.7 million in 2020. The increase was mainly
due to a provision of claim arising from litigation and compensation
paid or payable to Guangdong YueCai Trust during the year.

EXCHANGE (LOSS)/GAIN, NET

The Group recorded exchange loss of approximately RMB120.1
million in 2020 as compared with exchange gain of approximately
RMB23.5 million in 2019. The exchange loss was mainly due to
depreciation of HKD against RMB. Payables to inter-companies
denominated in HKD held by the Group’s Hong Kong subsidiaries
that led to unrealised exchange losses of approximately RMB120.4
million (2019: unrealised exchange gain RMB28.9 million).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

The Group recorded income tax expense of RMB253.8 million in
2020 as compared with income tax credit of RMB13.1 million in
2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

Income tax expense was the combined effect of (i) income tax
expenses were recorded in 2020 mainly because the Group sold
the land of Panyu during the year and there was tax provision on
the gain on resumption of land use right; and (ii) land appreciation
tax in 2020 as the Group sold properties.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, the Group recorded
a profit of approximately RMB622.9 million in 2020 (2019: loss
RMB142.1 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The following table sets out certain information regarding the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2020:

FERERAER()R B REREHERERNE
TR AR BRI B L R s R I
BREBERE R()EAEEHEYEMN =
STEME I BER A VERR

FRER
BREXHARE AEER S _EFH£BHEF
#H AR ¥622,900,000c (ZT—NF - HEARK
142,100,0007T ) °

RBESRUBER
TRINEBAEEBE T —NLFR-ZZT_ZF
T-A=ZT - HLEEENGEARERERNETEM:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLEFE

2020 2019

—E-%F —E-hE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AE#Fr

Net cash flows from operating activities KETEEFFRe REFRE 71,365 527,753
Net cash flows from investing activities KREETBMEREREFE 1,661,998 1,211,064
Net cash flows used in financing activites Bt E/EEFTABR S REFHE (1,785,138) (1,760,978)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR&RREZEYR D FHE (51,775) (22,161)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
The Group’s net cash inflows from operating activities decreased
from approximately RMB527.8 million in 2019 to approximately
RMB71.4 million in 2020. The decreased net cash inflows from
operating activities were primarily due to the combined effect of (i)
profit before taxation; (ii) increase in inventories, trade receivables,
trade payables and other payables and accruals, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and contract liabilities and (iii)
decrease in pledged bank deposit.

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
The Group’s net cash flows from investing activities increased
from approximately RMB1,211.1 million in 2019 to approximately
RMB1,662.0 million in 2020. The increase in net cash flows were
mainly due to the receipt of compensation for land resumption of
land of Panyu in 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The Group’s net cash flows used in financing activities increased
from approximately RMB1,761.0 million in 2019 to approximately
RMB1,785.1 million in 2020. The increase was mainly resulted
from the combined effect of (i) the issue of new bonds, and the
borrowing of new interest-bearing loans and other borrowings
of approximately RMB947.0 million and (ii) the repayment of
bank loans, other borrowings, amounts due to a director and
principal portion of payment of lease and payment of interest of
approximately RMB2,732.1 million.

EXCHANGE RISK EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and most of its operating
transactions are settled in Renminbi except for export sales and
overseas borrowings which are mostly denominated in US dollar
and HK dollar. Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi. Although the Group may be exposed to
foreign currency exchange risks, the Board does not expect that
future currency fluctuations would materially impact the Group’s
operations. The Group did not adopt formal hedging policies nor
instruments of foreign currency for managing the exchange risk
exposure during the year ended 31 December 2020.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group invested
approximately RMB61.3 million for the upgrading of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. These capital expenditures
were fully financed by internal resources.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group guaranteed RMB99.5 million
(2019: RMB94.3 million) to certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties for mortgage facilities.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group guaranteed RMB512.5
million (2019: RMB548.1 million) to a joint venture company for
banking facilities in Saudi Arabia of which RMB317.1 million (2019:
RMB511.5 million) was utilised by the joint venture company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged certain property, plant and equipment,
leasehold lands, deposits, certain properties under development,
completed properties held for sale, trade receivables and
prepayments, other receivables with an aggregate net book
value of approximately RMB1,198.0 million (2019: RMB1,201.1
million), RMB816.2 million (2019: RMB792.5 million), RMB18.6
million (2019: RMB2,000), RMB1,264.7 million (2019: RMB1,267.3
million), RMB102.6 million (2019: RMB109.4 million), RMB2.6
million (2019: nil), and RMB115.7 million (2019: nil) respectively as
at 31 December 2020 to secure bank loans granted to the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated based on the sum of bank
loans, other borrowings and fixed rate bonds and notes divided
by total assets. The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 were approximately 43.3% and 59.5%, respectively.
Decrease in gearing ratio in 2020 as compared with that of 2019
was due to the Group’s repayment of borrowings during the year.

On 27 April 2020, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with an investment
fund, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue, and
the investment fund agreed to subscribe for HK$140,000,000
12% bonds due in April 2022 (the “Bonds”). Mr. Chen Chang
(“Mr. Chen”), an executive director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company, undertakes and covenants that for so long as any
of the Bonds remain outstanding, he shall remain as (i) the single
largest direct or indirect shareholder of the Company; and (ii) the
chairman of the board of directors and executive director of the
Company (the “Specific Performance Obligations”). Any breach
of the Specific Performance Obligations may constitute an event
of default under the Bonds, pursuant to which the bondholder is
entitled to redeem the Bonds immediately upon the occurrence
of the breach in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Bonds.

26 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

EEER
RZEZZEF+A=+—H AXEENREEF
B2 54 A5 AR %1,198,000,0000T (= ZF— hF: A
R %1,201,100,0007T) * A K #816,200,0007T (=&
— I AR¥792,500,0007T) * A R#18,600,0007T
(ZZ—hF: AR¥2,0000T) + AR #¥1,264,700,000
T (=T —hF: AR%1,267,300,000) - AR
102,600,000t (= — L& : A R%109,400,000
L) ARM2,600,000 (ZZE—NF - E)URAR
#115,700,000L (ZZE— AW F: E)NETHUE BE
HEHAELH TR BETEERRDE BEREFE
ME - BHRRFBEBRBEMNRE  EMbERFIEES
NEBERNIRTERNIER -

BEXRB RBDESRUMBER

AEENEEABLRDRRITER EMEERE
EEFREBENBMEUNEEREFHE AEER =
ETFR-ZT-NAFTZA=T—HNEEARL
EDRIK R43.3% [59.5% N -_E_ZEFHNEEE
BUHERR_F-NFHEMTR DTARETKEEFAC

EERER-

RZEZEFMAZ+EH ARAHEEEES L
REHE ([RBEH=ED B ARARE#ET R
REHE S FERE140,000,0008 TR T - —F N
REIEN12% &5 ([EFHF]) - RARAIMITEFHRIER
REBEFLE (TBREE]NREBWAFE - EEFEA-
WHER()ARAANE-—FREFEXBEERE: &)
ARBIEZGEIRHRATEZ((REROEBE]) - &
REEBEANZBAIRENESNENEH Bt &£
BABOR BHEEABEREES O IEZON K
YANERES -

Annual Report 2020



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB3,700.0 million, of which approximately 40%
(2019: 75%) were long term borrowings and approximately 60%
(2019: 25%) were short term borrowings. The total borrowings
included, (i) a loan of RMB818 million from Guangdong YueCai
and Xingchen (as disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 12 February 2018, 27 February 2019 and 15 September
2020); (ii) a loan of RMB1.2 billion in relation to the Group’s
property development business; (iii) net borrowings under steel
pipe business of around RMB1,682 million. The Group had to
finance its working capital of steel pipe business by short term
borrowings as around 90% of the cost of sales was incurred on
the procurement of steel plates and steel coils. Once the Group
received sales proceeds from its customers, it would then repay
the short term borrowings. Taking into account the Group’s cash in
hand and the outstanding compensation of resumption of land use
rights in Panyu in 2021, the Group has sufficient liquidity and is in
a strong financial position to repay its short term borrowings.

As at 31 December 2020, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately RMB950.2 million.
Phase Il of GDC has been pre-sold which could increase the
cashflow of the Group. The Group has sufficient cashflow to meet
its short term obligations.

As at 31 December 2020, approximately 56% (2019: 51%) of the
total borrowings were denominated in Renminbi, which carried
interest rates linked to the benchmark lending rate published by
the People’s Bank of China; approximately 37% (2019: 43%) of
the total borrowings were denominated in Renminbi which carried
fixed interest rate; and approximately 7% (2019: 6%) of the total
borrowings were denominated in US dollar and HK dollar which
carried fixed interest rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 15 September 2020, the Group has entered into the land
resumption compensation agreement (the “ Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement”) with Guangzhou City Land
Development Centre*(“Guangzhou LDC”) (&N 5 £ b 5 2 &
), pursuant to which has agreed to resume, and PCKSP has
agreed to offer to be resumed, the Land for a compensation of
RMB3,453.4 million (subject to an early completion bonus payment
of RMB690.7 million). Details of the above were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement and circular dated 15 September 2020.

The land resumption contemplated under the Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement was approved by the Shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on
23 October 2020.

Except for the above, the Group had no other material acquisitions
or disposals during the year.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has an outstanding lawsuit in
which Jiangsu Binxin Iron and Steel Group Company Limited (JT
maEEEERAFR2AA) (“Jaingsu Binxin”) alleged Nanjing
Rongyu Group Company Limited ( R £ B B[R A7)
Rongyu”) breached a contract to purchase goods for a claim of

) (“Nanjing

RMB34.3 million. The purchase contract was executed prior to
the Group’s acquisition of Nanjing Rongyu in May 2013. The
Group was not informed of such purchase contract at the time of
acquisition. According to the second instance judgement made by
the Jiangsu Province Lianyungang Intermediate People’s Court,
Nanjing Rongyu has to pay compensatory amount of RMB34.3
million and related interest to Jiangsu Binxin. As of the date of this
annual report, the Group has made provision on the claim.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2020, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration in the form of salaries and other benefits)
were approximately RMB122.6 million (2019: RMB119.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practice. The emoluments of the
Directors are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and
are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
Competitive remuneration package is offered to retain elite
employees. Our package includes salaries, medical insurance,
discretionary bonuses, on-job training, other benefits as well as
mandatory provident funds schemes for employees in Hong Kong
and state-managed retirement benefit schemes for employees in
the PRC. Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme and
share award scheme, options to subscribe respectively for shares
in the Company or share awards of the Company may be granted
to eligible employees. No share option or share award was granted
under the share option scheme or share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 821 full time
employees (2019: 1,162 employees). The following sets forth the
total number of our staff by functions:

AEERBEEIMNKRR EREBVETREHNEER
THHFM-E=nMEe NETHEESRIERERZZ
MEEFSERASENEERE BFARRLAE
EBENmERABBEREE - AEEREHABRF NN
YEES UBEEFEI -BHMNBeESRES
T BREARR WIBREA EREI EHBEANANRE
BEEEIWRGIMEAERFENEHETHEETNE
BIRRENGE - RIBARF 2 AR & R 88
Bt REARR RN 2BERERA QR 2D
BrAslRTREREE - RBEE_Z_TF+_A
ST HLEFE SEREBBRE SN RE G
BV B A S A 22

RIZBZZFE+-_HA=+—H AEEHF21E2H
BE(ZE2—AF:1,1628EE) - TXHIIRBALE
DEBTHRE:

2020 2019

—EB-EF —E-NEF

Management &8 74 108
Production and logistics FEERYR 336 509
Sales and marketing HERMIGHERE 67 53
Finance B % 41 32
Quality control B2 64 75
R&D IS 80 73
Procurement g 17 22
General administration and others —MRATIE S H Aty 142 290
Total = 821 1,162
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWED

PROSPECT

2021 is the opening year of the “14th Five-Year Plan” development.
According to the Medium and Long-Term Oil and Gas Pipeline
Network Planning ( (P REHI MR EREE) ), the scale of
domestic oil and gas pipeline network is expected to increase to
240,000 kilometers by 2025, of which the mileages of natural gas,
crude oil and refined oil pipeline are expected to reach 163,000
kilometers, 37,000 kilometers and 40,000 kilometers, respectively.
During the 14th Five-Year Plan period, China’s oil and gas
pipeline mileage is expected to increase by 71,000 km, the capital
expenditure on pipeline investment in China is expected to exceed
RMB1 trillion during the 14th Five-Year Plan period.

The Qingdao-Nanjing Pipeline, the new Guangdong-Zhejiang
Pipeline or the West Fourth Line, the extension section of Sichuan-
East Gas Transmission Pipeline, the External Transmission
Pipeline of Beijing LNG Receiving Station, the central section and
southern section of the China-Russia Eastern Pipeline, the China-
Russia Far East Pipeline, and the China-Russia Central Pipeline
are expected to be constructed during the 14th Five-Year Plan
period. Regional pipeline network will realize interconnection and
interoperability. Particularly, the Yangtze River Delta will launch
the phase Il of the Zhejiang-Shanghai natural gas connecting line,
the construction of cross-provincial long-distance pipeline will
commence in the Bohai Rim region, and the construction of Fujian-
Guangdong branch of the Western Third Line along the southern
coast, the new Guangdong-Zhejiang natural gas pipeline and the
western Guangdong branch of North Sea LNG will commence. In
addition to Tibet, more than 400 provincial-level cities in China
have not yet been connected to natural gas, and the construction
of provincial, city and county-level branch pipeline is expected to

increase.

China Oil & Gas Pipeline Network Corporation (“PipeChina”)
and the Guangdong Provincial Government signed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement on the Reform of the Natural Gas Pipeline
System in Guangdong Province ( (FARERE R AR EMEF L E
By RE & {EW &%) ), indicating the first provincial natural gas pipeline
network to be integrated into PipeChina in a market-oriented
manner, the construction of the natural gas pipeline network in
the province will be accelerated and the “county-to-county” natural
gas trunk pipeline in Guangdong will be realized. PipeChina
will accelerate the construction of natural gas pipeline network
in Guangdong Province, a total of 751 kilometers of six trunk
pipelines are expected to be completed by the end of 2020, initially
realize the “city to city” of natural gas in Guangdong Province, and
expect to achieve the basic “county to county” by the end of 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

According to the Guidance on Energy Work in 2020 ( {20207 #&
JRI{EIEEEZ R) ) issued by the National Energy Administration,
a series of expected goals, pipeline and gas storage facilities,
smart grid, charging facilities and other construction will also
be accelerated. In addition to increasing oil and gas exploration
and development efforts, the construction of natural gas pipeline
facilities will also be accelerated to strengthen the shortcomings
of natural gas interconnection and transmission capacity in key
areas, and the formation of “national network” will be accelerated.
In terms of non-fossil energy, it will promote the construction of
wind power and offshore wind power, accelerate the development
of decentralized wind power, actively and steadily develop
hydropower, and steadily push forward the construction of projects.

In addition, PipeChina, established on December 9, 2019, will take
over the relevant oil and gas pipeline infrastructure assets of three
large oil companies in China and officially put them into operation,
introduce capital into the construction of oil and gas infrastructure,
accelerate the process of marketization, vigorously promote the
pipeline construction plan, enhance the speed of construction of
pipeline networks, achieve interconnection and interoperability of
pipeline networks, establish the “national network” covering the
west-east gas transmission, north-south gas transmission, coastal
delivery to inland, east-west synergy, north-south interoperability
in accordance with the national plan, enhance oil and gas
transportation capacity, and ensure a safe and stable supply of oil
and gas energy.

The Group believes that the above-mentioned projects and policies
are major opportunities for the steel pipe manufacturing industry,
and the Company will seize the opportunities to boost its sales. In
view of our long-term strategic target to become a global leading
steel pipe manufacturer, the Group will seize possible opportunities
of oil and gas development projects to expand our customer base
and market share through engaging in more global oil and gas
projects and will also continue to leverage its strengths in the steel
pipe industry to obtain more orders.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chen Chang (R &)

Mr CHEN Chang (PR &), aged 75, is the chief executive officer
and the chairman of the Board and also a member of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr Chen is the father of Mr Chen Guo Xiong, Ms Chen
Zhao Nian (both being executive Directors) and Ms. Chen Zhao
Hua (resigned as an executive Director on 1 October 2020). Being
the founder of the Group, Mr Chen is primarily responsible for the
overall management, strategic planning and business development
of the Group. Mr Chen has over 52 years of experience in areas
related to woodwork, machine tool equipment and lift/escalator
equipment and has accumulated abundant experience and
knowledge in the mechanical and electrical industry. Mr Chen
graduated from the graduate school of Sun Yat-Sen University*
(fF LK) in Guangdong Province in October 1995 majoring in
decision management.

Mr Chen has been appointed by several steel pipe related
associations and organisations for various positions, including:

. Member of the Fourth Session of Welded Steel Pipe Academic
Committee of the Steel Rolling Branch Association of the
Chinese Society for Metals* (Bl & & 2 2 8 il /& 5 /15 1§
RMESMEEE®8) (2001)

. Vice president of the China Township Enterprises Association®
(FEECE R ERIER) (2004, 2008)

. Vice chairman of the 4th and 5th sessions of the board of
directors of the China Steel Construction Society and the
Steel Pipe Branch Association* (R B &EHEME DS EH
MEZEFELFAEESEEIESFR) (2004, 2008)

. Vice chairman of the 4th, 5th and 6th consecutive council
of the Cold-formed Steel Sub-committee of the China Steel
Structure Association* (R EIfi&E e 2 ER Mo FE M-
hANEEFEEEESR) (2004, 2005 and 2010)

. Vice president of the Metallurgical Chamber of Commerce of
the All-China Federation of Industry & Commerce* ( Ff % %
IE¥BeereneagR) (2006)

*

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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EENSREEERE

Mr Chen has received various awards, honours qualifications,
including:

. Honoured by the Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Energy
of the Republic of Korea for his contributions to Korean
economic development through trade revitalisation (2004)

. Excellent Entrepreneur in Chinese Private Technology
Enterprises awarded by the All-China Federation of Industry &
Commerce* (FE2B THEBESTRTEAESREREA
%K) (2004)

. Awarded the First Prize of Science and Technology Awards by
the Guangzhou Municipality People’s Government* (& /I T A
EBAFAMEZME-FRSE) (2007)

. Awarded as authority expert of welded pipe industry by the
Chinese International Authority Expert's Association* (
BREEZBEFREETERRER) (2007)

. The invention of “ three-roller forming technology and
equipment” was awarded the gold prize in the Sixth Session
of International Exhibition of Inventions and outstanding
award by the Guangdong Provincial Bureau of Personnel and
the Guangdong Province Intellectual Property Department®
(% PA=BENATERRBEUEE NERNREHARESY R
CREVEBRAANFERERENBER BT REFE) (2008)

. Outstanding Individual in Earthquake Relief in Guangzhou*

(BMminER L L EEA) (2008)

0 The Fourth Invention and Entrepreneur Award by the China
Steel Association* ( 7 B #ff i8] 17 & 55 /U 2« 2% B3 B 2 5%7)(2009)

«  Guangzhou Model Labour* (E /I 14 8112 &) (2009)

. First Prize of Science and Technology Award in Guangdong
Province ([ ER & B 2 & If € —F ) for the research and
development of LSAW manufacturing process and technology
and its series of products (2010)

+  Guangzhou Outstanding Entrepreneur* (BN HEF D EXR)
(2011)

+  Nationwide Outstanding Entrepreneur* (2B EF P EXK)
(2012)
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. Guangzhou Outstanding Contribution Award for Science and .
Technology* ([ E/MN T RIE Hirze b B BLHE) (2012)

. Outstanding Industrial Province of Science and Technology in .
the PRC’s iron and steel industry* (B8 T E@HRE T
¥%)(2012)

+  Guangzhou Figure of Focus* (F3 Y% A %) (2012) .
. The Outstanding Entrepreneur for the Competition of the Top .

10 Guangzhou Construction Project in 2012* (20124 £ E &
ATEIRYYHEEEECER) (2013)

. Outstanding Contribution Award for Innovation in Guangzhou* .

(EMN B A 37H: B2 28 B BA4%) (2013)

. Top 10 Guangdong Economic Influential Individuals in 2013* .

(2013F ER T+ RREREAY)

«  Nationwide “May 1st” Labour Award* (2B A — &8 #E=E) .
(2014)
. Gold Prize of the 8th International Invention Exhibition* (2 J\ .

[E BB 2R ¢ 42) (2014)

. 5th China Overseas Chinese Community (Innovative .
Achievement) Contribution Award* (55 /g /B & R (&I 3TA
R)AREE) (2014)

«  14th World Outstanding Chinese Award* ( & + VU J& tt 5 ¢ .
# A #5) (2015)

+  National Model Worker* ( 2B 8) £ £5) (2015) .
. Guangzhou Entrepreneurial Entrepreneur for 30 years* (&M .

BIZE30F I B 5 5K ) (2016)

. Gold Prize of the 19th International Invention Exhibition* ( & .
N E BB 38R 5 58) (2016)

+  Yu Shan Outstanding Contribution Award* (& |1 & i &5 B} 42) .
(2016)

« 2016 Guangzhou Industry Leader* (20164 /& E /M T E X% E .
AT (2017)

*
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. The Most Socially Responsible Entrepreneur in Guangzhou*
(EMm AT EEERTER) (2017)

+  Top Ten Economic Persons in Guangzhou* (&M + K48 % &

EAY) (2018)

. The Central Committee of the Communist Party of China,
the State Council and the Central Military Commission
jointly issued a commemorative medal to celebrate the 70th
anniversary of the founding of the People’s Republic of China*
(pttpd BB FRBEZHARFERNPEARLMEK
Y70AF L RE) (2019)

As at the date of this annual report, Mr Chen is the sole director
and sole shareholder of Bournam Profits Limited, which is
interested in 701,911,000 shares of the Company. Together with
Mr Chen’s personal interest of 4,350,000 shares of the Company,
Mr Chen has a total interest of 706,261,000 shares of the
Company.

Mr Chen Guo Xiong ( B B % )

Mr CHEN Guo Xiong (FREI%E ) , aged 47, is an executive Director
and vice chairman of the Board. He is the son of Mr Chen
Chang (being chairman of the Board and an executive Director)
and also the brother of Ms Chen Zhao Nian (being executive
Director). Mr Chen is responsible for overseeing overall business
development plan and strategic management of the Group. Mr.
Chen joined the Group as deputy general manager in February
2019. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen had extensive
experience in the manufacturing industry including management
and administration.

Ms Chen Zhao Nian (BRJK &)

Ms CHEN Zhao Nian (R JK %), aged 44, is an executive
Director. She is the daughter of Mr Chen Chang (being chairman
of the Board and an executive Director) and also the sister of
Mr Chen Guo Xiong (being vice chairman of the Board and
executive Director). Ms Chen is primarily responsible for the
daily management and operations of the Group. Ms Chen joined
the Group in October 2002 as vice general manager after her
graduation. Ms Chen obtained her bachelor's degree in arts from
the University of Central Lancashire in the United Kingdom in
June 2000 and her master's degree in accounting from Leeds
Metropolitan University in the United Kingdom in October 2002.
Ms. Chen has taken up the following public duties and has
received the following awards:

*
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Public duties: N

«  Member of the Standing Committee of 16th Session of NPC in s BMNTEBEFTAABEAREFZ (ZE——%F)
Panyu, Guangzhou* (BN M &HBEE FXEAKREZE) (2011)

«  Executive member of the Guangzhou Glory Society* ( &/l o BEBMNMALZERESERSE(ZT—-F)
REEEREGIEE) (2012)

«  Vice chairwoman of the Federation of Industry & Commerce - BENmEBEREIREMEgRIER(ZT—ZF)
in Panyu District of Guangzhou* (EMNTMHREE THEHRLE S
BlE®) (2012)

«  President of the Youth Association of Panyu Merchants and - EHERERNAXEEmegeR(ZZE—ZF)
Entrepreneurs in Panyu District* (ZE2 R EHAIX5FTHE
£) (2012)

«  Member of the 12th Executive Committee for Guangzhou e EMNmBERE+ZERNTEZEEZE(ZE—Z=
Women* (EMMiEZE+_EHITEEEEE) (2012) F)

«  Chairlady of the Guangzhou Association of Women s BENmAiERRBEgR(ZT—=%)
Entrepreneurs* (EMNTXZEERBEEK) (2013)

+  Representative of Guangzhou in the 11th All-China Women - HEZEBIZBEAEETEREMNREX(Z
Federation Conference* (FE2Hiz 4 e e E+ —EEEE T—=%)

M) (2013)

«  Committee member of the Guangzhou Committee of the 12th - HFEARKEGHESHRET—_EENTZESZX
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference* (#1 B A B(ZZ—mF)
RBoathigzsE T EBMMEESEEE) (2014)

«  Guangzhou Deputy Director of the Federation of Young s BMNTINESFOERZEERBKAETE(ZE
Entrepreneurs Committee* (BM M IH M SEFLEREZE R —mE)

S EIE{E) (2014)

. Committee member of the 12th Guangdong Provincial . =
Women’s Federation, the Executive Committee* ( [& 5 4 i Bt F
FET_ERZGEHBELZE) (2014)

+  Vice President of Guangdong Province Private Enterprises - BEREREBEGCEREFERERESAER(ZE
Investment Development Association* ( ER & K& ¥ 18 & 5 —AhEF)

RiEEeaIgR) (2015)

*
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*

Vice President of Guangdong Province Association of Women
Entrepreneurs* (ER&E XX RIHEEIEK) (2015)

Executive Vice President of Guangdong Province Association

of Public Affairs* (EREA M EARIRESERKIAEE) (2015)

Vice President of Guangzhou Taxpayers Association* ( &/l ™
M AMEEIER) (2015)

Representative of the 15th People’s Congress of Guangzhou

City* (EMMmET+EBARRETARKEREK) (2016)

President of Guangdong Women and Children’s Fund* (&%
ERZAREESEEER) (2017)

Member of the 12th Executive Committee for National
Women’s Federation* (2BRHE T+ —ERTEELTELE)
(2018)

Member of the 13th Executive Committee for Guangzhou
Women'’s Federation* (BN MFEHE T =—EHNTEZE®ZLE)
(2019)

Honorary President of the Youth Association of Panyu
Merchants and Entrepreneurs in Panyu District* ( E /I T & &
EEMAXETEHEELEEFR) (2019)

Committee member of the 13th Guangdong Provincial
Women’s Federation, the Executive Committee* (& 8 & tR B

FTZERZGEHLE) (2019)

Vice President and member of the 14th Executive Committee
for Guangzhou Women’s Federation* (BEM T &S RiFE 5
THOERITEEEREFEF) (2020)

Instructor of Women’s Innovation and Entrepreneurship
Mentor Group in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay
Area ( BB R K& (R im 2 837 81 X E R0 B F AT ) (2020)

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only

—PEEEHE

EREZEERHEEER (ZF—0%F)

EREBBARREGEHRER (ZF—01F)

BEMNTHARAGEAER (ZF—1F)

BEMNTETRAEARKRRERAR (ZFT—RHF)

ERARLREELREER (ZF—+%5)

2ERBET _EATEZEELZR (ZT—/\F)

BEMTRBET=ZERNTEZEEGEZR (=X

F)

EMNTERRERAXTFHeRBeR (2%
—NF)

ERABHETZENZEEBKZRE (TN
F)

ENTEEERBE T NEATEARRIER
—=-z)

—_—= =

BEERRNERBLAMAEESMESN (—T =
2F)

BIAMARAREAEZRBRATF

37



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENGREEERE

Awards: #EIE -

The 8th Civilised Family with Five Distinctive Merits by the
All-China Women'’s Federation* (F 22 B2 a2 FE/\[E
FEFXBAREE) (2012)

Female Pace Setter with Great Contribution (National Level)*
(ZBMEZENE L) (2013)

Most Charismatic Woman in 60 years of Guangzhou Loving
Hearts* ( X8 E M 604F fx A ik h 22 1% ) (2013)

Bl
ol
S
>

Guangzhou Outstanding Entrepreneur Honors* (/& /I
X%K) (2013)

Guangdong Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Honours* ( &

REBETLEFR")(2013)

“March 8th Flag Bearer” of Guangzhou* ( EM™ “= \4I5EF")
(2010-2013)

Outstanding Women Entrepreneur* (£ 81 % 2015 ) (2014)

Guangdong Province Top Ten Outstanding Scholarly Home*

(ERE“TAREFEEFTZR")(2014)

Ten Outstanding Young Entrepreneur* (+{EEHFSELEXK)
(2015)

Guangdong Top Ten “Charity Contribution Award”* ( &8 +{£“
&L REE)(2015)

Top 10 Guangdong Business New Individuals in 2015* (2015
ERE R+ R#FEAY) (2016)

Diamond Award of Charity Figures* (201656 &= AWE A
4%) (2016)

Guangzhou New Generation Outstanding Entrepreneur* ( /!
MERBFLER) (2016)

FEX>RARLABACE ) \BEAFXARE (=T
——%F)

2EMEARNEE(ZT—=F)

BRBEMOFRAB N LML (ZF—=%)

ERAEBALEER] (ZF—=%)

BMNWI=N\AEF] (ZF-FFE_F—=
)

-

BHAIEZE (ZF—mF)

ERETAREFERTZFK] (ZF—0%F)

TEEFEFEER(ZFT—1F)

ERTERZHFRE] (ZF—01F)

2015BRAERA T AMBAY (ZF—KF)

2016 FEREAMBAR(ZT—RF)

BEMHFERBEERR (ZF—RF)

*
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EENSR

*

EIRERERF

Outstanding CEO (20164 [Z 4t it} CEO)(2016)
The 1st National Civilized Family* (£ — @2 B XA K E)
(2016)

Award of 2nd Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur* (£ —JE £ &
REFKE) (2017)

2017 District “Industry Talent Urgently Needed Shortage”
20175 ER [EXESFTERAT I HER) (2017)

Panyu District Integrity Family Award* (% & [& B2 K E#)
(2018)

Top 10 Guangzhou Most Beautiful Philanthropist Families*
(2018F EEMM T RAHREERZKE) (2018)

Charity Love Award by Guangdong Province Association of
Women Entrepreneurs* (ER A XM EZRpE-—&KEE L %)
(2019)

Charity Award by Guangdong Province Association of Women
Entrepreneurs, Guangdong Province Women and Children’s
Fund* (BERELCEZHE BERERLEZEESE- BEA
1) (2019)

Advanced Individuals in Social Service Work by Zhi Gong
Party Guangdong Provincial Committee (IR EEHRELZE&-
BAEM GRS IIEREREA) (2020)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chen Ping (R ¥)

Mr CHEN Ping (£ ) , aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 January 2010. Mr Chen is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr Chen graduated from the Jinan University, the PRC in 1984
majoring in finance and later obtained a doctoral degree in finance
in Nankai University, the PRC in December 1990. Mr Chen has
lectured at the Lingnan College, Sun Yat-Sen University for
more than 28 years in Guangdong Province, the PRC, teaching
international finance. He is currently the head of Marine Economic
Research Centre of Sun Yat-Sen University (/8% &8 5 4 35 &
£x) . Mr Chen also assumed various posts in societies and clubs
concerning economics and finance, such as a council member
at International Finance Society of China* (FEIEE S RES) ,
International Finance Society* (EIfR ¢ @22 g ) and China Society
of World Economics* (Ff Bttt RALEEE ). Mr Chen is also
engaged in academic researches with focuses on finance theories
and policies, global economics and so forth, and has published a
number of essays and publications. As an experienced professor,
Mr Chen has won various awards for the lecture materials used
and also for the essays published. In 1997, Mr Chen’s teaching
materials entitled International finance* ( (Bl & &) ) was
awarded National Educational Achievement Award — Second
Class* (BR#ZBKE —%43) by the Committee of Education of the
PRC. In May 2002, Mr Chen’s paper entitled Study on the effect of
merger and acquisition of listed companies on wealth*( { ET2A
AT UCEE A B B UEATFT) ) was selected for the Best Paper
Award of the 9th Global Finance Association Annual Conference
by the 9th GFA Annual Conference Program Committee. In
2005, Mr Chen’s teaching and research achievements entitled
Exploration and practice of educational internationalisation*( {#
BEEENEREEFRE) ) was awarded Guangdong Province
Educational Achievement Award — First Class* (ERA#HEK R
—%4%) . In 2006, Mr Chen was selected as talented person for
Ministry of Education New Century Outstanding Person Support
Scheme* (M B B AL EF AA XFK5TE]) . In 2007, Mr Chen
received Bao Steel Outstanding Teacher Award* (& i - {£HE
FZAE2E) . Mr Chen was an independent director of Guangzhou
Zhujiang Brewery Group Co., Ltd.* (BEMEHTEBR D ER A A]) ,
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, with effect
from 10 October 2016. Mr Chen was also an independent director
of Shenzhen Universe (Group) Co. Ltd ORI K (£ E) & D
BMRAF), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000023), with effect from 15 July 2019.

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purpose
only
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Mr Tian Xiao Ren (HE )

Mr TIAN Xiao Ren (FHE:#]), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 August 2014. Mr Tian
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr Tian graduated from Zhejiang Radio and
Television University in the PRC in 1985 and studied the Master
of Business Administration Degree at Hangzhou University in the
PRC from 1995 to 1998. He was appointed as vice chairman of
Bank of China Group Investment Company Limited from 2006 to
2013. Prior to 2006, Mr Tian was the president of Bank of China
of Guangdong Province and Jiangxi Province, the PRC and the
vice-president of Bank of China of Zhejiang Province, the PRC for
26 years. He has over 32 years of experience in the banking and
financial field. Mr Tian is now a senior economist in the PRC and is
entitled to the special subsidy awarded by the state council of the
People’s Republic of China in recognition of his contribution to the

economy of China.

Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah (B 5 E %)

Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah ([Eif% &%) , aged 56, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 1 October 2019.
Mr Au Yeung is also the chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Au Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce
from the Bond University in Australia in September 1996, a
master’s degree in accountancy from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 2000, a postgraduate diploma
in corporate administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in December 2005 and an EMBA degree from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2008. Mr. Au Yeung
is a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience
in auditing and financial control through his prior employments with
accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Au Yeung
was an independent non-executive director of Modern Media
Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 72), until his resignation with
effect 30 September 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms Liu Yonghe ( Bl5k )

Ms LIU Yonghe (#I3k#i) , aged 52, joined PCKSP in June 1994
and had worked as accounting staff and financial manager. Ms Liu
has acquired profound experience in financial management,
accounting and auditing during her employment with the Group
for over 25 years. Ms Liu is now responsible for cash flow
and working capital control of the Group. She completed her
professional accounting education at Lanzhou University of
Finance and Economics, the PRC in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree
in economics and obtained professional qualification as assistant
accountant in 1991. Ms Liu has over 28 years of experience in the
accounting and finance industry. She was awarded the “March 8th
Flag Bearer” in 1999 and 2002, and the post she held was awarded
as the Women’s Exemplary Post by the Guangzhou Women'’s
Union in March 2005. In October 2009, Ms Liu obtained a master’s
degree in the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
programme at the Asia International Open University (Macau).

Ms Wong Pui Shan ( Z 3 )

Ms WONG Pui Shan ( T ¥iHft) , aged 44, joined the Group in April
2011 as the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company. She is responsible for corporate finance management
and company secretarial work of the Group. Ms Wong received her
Master of Science in Finance from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong and Bachelor of Arts Degree (Hons) in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Prior to joining the
Company, she had served international audit firms for four years
and listed companies as financial controller and company secretary
for more than 18 years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Wong Pui Shan ( 5 )

Ms WONG is the company secretary of the Company. Ms Wong
is working for the Company on a full time basis. Details of her
biography are set out above in this section.

Ms Wong has complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company include
manufacture and sales of welded steel pipes. The Group is also
engaged in the property development and investment.

Details of the company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2020 are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the
state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 87 to 242.

The Directors did not recommend payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion
and analysis of the Group’ s performance during the year
under review can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“‘Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 6 to 8
and pages 15 to 31 respectively.

The Group will continue to focus on its steel pipe business by
diversifying its product usage and market segment. For property
development, the Group will continue to sell units of Phase Il GDC
and receive rental income from shops of Phase | GDC.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material non-compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment
and the environment. The Group has implemented environmental
protection measures to reduce energy consumption, treat sewage
before recycling and discharge, and sell wasted steel products to
recycling companies. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” set out on pages 77 to 86.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that might have a significant impact on the businesses
of the Group.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees: The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry practice.
Our package includes salaries, medical insurance, discretionary
bonuses, on-job training, other benefits as well as mandatory
provident funds schemes for employees in Hong Kong and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes for employees in the PRC.
Our current relationship with our employees and the labour unions
are good and are based on mutual support and respect.

Customers: We have built strong, long-standing relationships with
our major customers, and established a strong customer base.
We have obtained numerous patents, awards and recognitions,
international certificates and long standing international and
nationwide track record to establish our stable customer base.
We are an industry pioneer and are the first and only steel pipe
manufacturer in the PRC to manufacture and successfully develop
deep sea welded steel pipes for the use at a water depth of 3,500m
and a qualified supplier of Petrobras and Petronas. We believe
that this can enable us to establish and maintain market leadership
in the steel pipe industry.

Suppliers: We choose our suppliers of raw materials mainly based
on the prices and quality of raw materials offered by different
suppliers. We issue purchase orders to our suppliers that set out
the quantities, prices and specifications of the products to be
purchased, delivery arrangement, and credit terms at arms’ length
negotiations between the parties based on normal commercial
terms. We believe the relationship between us and our major
suppliers is good and stable. Most of our procurements were paid
in RMB.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on pages 243 to 244. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition and results of operations would
be affected by a number of factors. The principal risks and
uncertainties relating to the Group are set out below:

. The Group’s revenue of steel pipe business is dependent on
securing sales orders for new projects through biddings from
customers. Most of our revenue is generated from pipeline or
other infrastructure projects that are mainly project-originated
and non-recurring in nature. Our revenue will be affected if we
cannot successfully obtain biddings from customers.

. The Group does not have any long term contracts with its
customers of steel pipe business. If the Group’s customers
choose not to engage the Group in the future, the Group’s
steel pipe business operations, financial results and
profitability will be affected.

. The Group’s revenue of property business is dependent on
the policy of PRC government. Any change of PRC policy will
affect the property business operations, financial results and
profitability.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves, including the
share premium account and contributed surplus and accumulated
losses, available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law”), amounted
to approximately RMB168.7 million. The Board do not recommend
the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2020. Details of the reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2020 are set out in note 44 to the financial statements.
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The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on
the dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For
dividend purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC can legally distribute by way of dividend is determined
by reference to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC
statutory financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC. These
distributable profits differ from those that are reflected in the
Group’s financial statements prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, sales to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for 28% of the total revenue of
the Group, and sales to the largest customer amounted to 9%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
41% of the total cost of sales of the Group, and purchases from
the largest supplier amounted to 15%. None of the Directors or
any of their associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of
the Company’s issued shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers and five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are
as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Chang (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Guo Xiong (appointed on 1 October 2020)
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian

Ms. Chen Zhao Hua (resigned on 1 October 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Ping

Mr. Tian Xiao Ren

Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah

Ms. Chen Zhao Hua resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 1 October 2020 due to her personal reasons. Mr. Chen Guo
Xiong was appointed as an executive Director and vice chairman
of the Board with effect from 1 October 2020. The Company has
received annual confirmations of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules from Mr. Chen Ping, Mr. Tian Xiao Ren
and Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah, and as at the date of this report,
the Company considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 32 to 42 of this annual report.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian and Mr. Chen Ping will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

According to code provision A.4.3 of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, if an
independent non-executive Director serves more than nine years,
any further appointment of such independent non-executive
Director should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by the shareholders.

Mr. Chen Ping has served as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years. The Company has received from
Mr. Chen Ping a confirmation of independence according to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chen Ping has not engaged in any
executive management of the Group. Taking into consideration
of his independent scope of work in the past years, the Board
considers Mr. Chen Ping to be independent under the Listing Rules
despite the fact that he has served the Company for more than
nine years. The Board believes that his continued tenure brings
considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Mr. Chen Ping who has over time
given valuable insight into the Group.

Pursuant to article 109 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen Guo
Xiong, being appointed by the Board as executive Director and
vice chairman of the Board with effect from 1 October 2020, shall
hold office only until the forthcoming AGM and is eligible to offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

A separate resolution will be proposed for the re-election of each
of Mr. Chen Guo Xiong, Ms. Chen Zhao Nian and Mr. Chen Ping at
the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has the letter of appointment or
re-appointment with the Company for a term of three years and
is subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice. Our independent non-executive Directors
has the letter of appointment or re-appointment with the Company
for a term of two years and is subject to termination by either party
giving not less than one month’s written notice. The Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee have reviewed
the terms of service contracts and letters of appointment or
reappointment of all Directors.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 9 to
the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or, as the case may be, the percentage in the
equity interest and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571) (the”SFQ”)), which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they have taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors (the
“Model Code”) of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as

follows:
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Shares of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEnE &4
Chen Chang Interest of controlled corporation (note 1)
BRE —fAIREHI AR 2 #am (MEE1)
Personal interest
(EPN £
Note:

1. These shares are held by Bournam Profits Limited, the entire issued
share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Chang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Chang is deemed to be
interested in the 701,911,000 shares held by Bournam Profits Limited.

Shares of Associated Corporation

Mr. Chen Chang beneficially owns the entire issued share capital
of Bournam Profits Limited, which is the beneficial owner of about
69.42% of the issued shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement or material contracts, to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director is or was materially interested, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates,
has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with
the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme” or the
“Scheme”) was approved by the Shareholders of the Company
in the annual general meeting held on 18 June 2020. The details
of the Scheme are disclosed below pursuant to the requirements
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme: the purpose of the
Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the growth of the Group and to provide the Group with a more
flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or
provide benefits to eligible participants.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
equity entity (“Invested Entity”) in which the Group holds
an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any subsidiary or
any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity; and

(f) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme: the total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option scheme of the Group (if any) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption
of the Share Option Scheme (i.e. not exceeding 101,114,200
shares). Up to the date of this annual report, no options have
been granted under the Share Option Scheme and thus the
total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme remained 101,114,200 shares, representing
about 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of the annual report.

Grant of options to connected persons: grant of options
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company or any of their respective associates must
be approved by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the
proposed grantee of the option).

Grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or any of
their respective associates, would result in the shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant: (i) representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate
value, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million; such further grant
of options must be approved by the shareholders in general
meeting.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme: for any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.
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6. Period within which the securities must be taken up under
an option: an option may be accepted by a participant within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof.

7. The minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised: unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a
grantee, there is no such minimum period.

8. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option: a nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

9. Basis for determining the exercise price: such price will be a
price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

10. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme: the Scheme
has a life of 10 years commencing on 18 June 2020, being
the date on which the Share Option Scheme was adopted.
The scheme will expire on 18 June 2030.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to
31 December 2020, no share option has been granted or agreed to
be granted to any person under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME
On 22 March 2012, the Board approved the adoption of the share
award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”).

B 12 R B 5t &l
RoE—-—F=—A-+-—R EESH ELARMDE
BhErE ([ 2B ErEI]) -

|
A

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme: the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme is to recognise the contributions by and
to give incentives to certain eligible persons in order to retain
them for the continuing operation, growth and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

Operation of the Share Award Scheme: the Share Award
Scheme shall be administered by the Board in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme. The trustee
shall hold the shares and the income derived therefrom in
accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

The Board may select any grantee for participation in the
Share Award Scheme as a selected grantee (the “Selected
Grantee”) and determine the number of awarded shares and
inform the trustee and the Selected Grantee(s) accordingly.

The Board shall either before or after identification of the
Selected Grantee(s) (i) cause the Company to directly instruct
a licensed securities dealer to purchase the awarded shares
and settle payment for the awarded shares and deliver the
awarded shares to the trustee subsequently; or (ii) cause
to be paid to the trustee (either by way of contribution or
loan from the Company’s funds) (a) the sum of purchasing
the shares and the related purchase expenses or (b) the
nominal or such other amount required for the subscription
of the awarded shares by the trustee as soon as practicable
to purchase the awarded shares required (the “Reference
Amount”).

Within 30 business days on which the trading of the shares
has not been suspended (or such longer period as the Trustee
and the Board may agree from time to time) after receiving
the reference amount, the Board shall instruct the trustee
to apply the same towards the subscription of shares at the
benchmarked price as stipulated in the Listing Rules from
time to time or the purchase of the awarded shares from the
market during a specific period and at a specific price range
as instructed by the Company.
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Awarded shares and related income held by the trustee
upon the trust and which are referable to a Selected Grantee
shall vest to that Selected Grantee on the vesting date.
The Board may also, in its absolute discretion, determine
the performance, operating and financial targets and other
criteria, if any, to be satisfied by the Selected Grantee before
the awarded shares can vest.

The trustee shall not be obliged to exercise any voting rights
and powers in respect of any shares held under the trust
(including but not limited to the awarded shares, the returned
shares, any bonus shares and scrip shares) until such shares
have been transferred to the relevant Selected Grantee.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme: any employee
or director (including, without limitation, any executive,
non-executive or independent non-executive directors) of any
member of the Group (the “Eligible Persons”).

Share Award Scheme limit: the Board shall not make any
further award of awarded shares which will result in the
number of shares awarded by the Board under the Share
Award Scheme representing more than ten per cent. of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the first date
of each financial year during the term of the Share Award
Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Award Scheme: the maximum number of shares which may
be awarded to an award or awards to a Selected Grantee who
is an independent non-executive Director of the Company
at any one time shall not in aggregate exceed 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the first date of
the relevant financial year of the Company and the aggregate
value of which shall not exceed HK$5,000,000 (based on the
closing price of the shares on the business day immediately
preceding the vesting date) as at the vesting date.

The maximum number of shares which may be subject to an
award or awards to any Selected Grantee at any one time
shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the first date of the relevant financial
year of the Company.
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6. The duration of the Share Award Scheme: subject to any
early termination of the Share Award Scheme as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on
22 March 2012.

From the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme and up to
31 December 2020, no share has been awarded or granted to any
person under the Share Award Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements which would enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons or corporations (not being a Director or a chief
executive of the Company) have an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have
otherwise been notified to the Company:

Shares of the Company

Name Capacity
wE/ LB g4

Bournam Profits Limited Beneficial owner (note)
(“Bournam”)
BEmBEAA ()

Bournam Profits Limited
(Bournam ])

Note:
The entire share capital of Bournam is solely and beneficially owned by

Mr. Chen Chang. Mr. Chen is deemed under the SFO to be interested in the
701,911,000 shares held by Bournam.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 58 to 76.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Following a specific
enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 30 December 2016, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Guangzhou City Pearl River Machine Tool Works
Co., Ltd.* (BN ZR/ TR B R A A]) (“GZMT”) for the purchase
of spare parts and production line (“Purchase Transaction”) from
the latter for the maintenance of machines, installation of rolling
line electrical drive system equipment and transformation of steel
transportation system of bimetal composite plate processing plant
in Lianyungang, the PRC. The consideration for the Purchase
Transaction is approximately RMB173.6 million. The purchase of
the spare parts and production line is mainly for the construction
of the bimetal composite plate processing plant in Lianyungang,
the PRC as per the Company’s announcement dated 27 April 2017
and the circular dated 2 June 2017. GZMT is a limited liability
company incorporated in the PRC and is principally engaged in
the manufacture and sales of machine tools. GZMT is ultimately,
wholly and beneficially, owned by Mr. Chen Chang, the controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Company, and is therefore an
associate of Mr. Chen Chang and a connected person of the
Company. The Purchase Transaction constituted a connected and
discloseable transaction of the Company was duly passed by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting on 19 June 2017. As at 31 December 2020, the
amount due from a related party of approximately RMB84.5 million
was the advance payment to GZMT for the Purchase Transaction.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group had no significant event after the reporting period
required to be disclosed.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. A resolution will
be proposed for approval by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM
to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chen Chang
Chairman
Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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The Board is committed to maintaining a good standard of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm
belief that they are essential for maintaining and promoting
investors’ confidence and maximising shareholders’ returns.

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. The Board
considers that up to the date of this annual report, in the opinion
of the Board, saved as disclosed in section “Chairman and Chief
Executive” below, the Company has complied with the CG Code.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business
and to review its corporate governance practices from time to time
to ensure they comply with the evolving regulatory requirements
and to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and other
stakeholders.

The following summarises the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(A) Board of Directors
Responsibilities and Delegation
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company, overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions, internal control, risk management systems,
monitoring the performance of senior management and
determining the policy for corporate governance. The
management is responsible for daily operations of the Group
under the leadership of the Chairman. The Directors have
the responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the
Company.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Further details
of these Committees are set out below in section B of this
corporate governance report.

The Company had arranged Directors and Officers Liability
Insurance for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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Board Composition
The Board members during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Chang Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer, Member of
the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee
Mr. Chen Guo Xiong (appointed on 1 October 2020)
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua (resigned on 1 October 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Ping Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Member of
the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee
Mr. Au Yeung Chairman of the Audit Committee
Kwong Wah

Mr. Tian Xiao Ren Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, Member of
the Audit Committee and

Nomination Committee

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors from different
business and professional fields. Mr. Chen Chang, Mr. Chen
Guo Xiong and Ms. Chen Zhao Nian are members of the
same family. Mr. Chen Chang is the father of both Mr. Chen
Guo Xiong and Ms. Chen Zhao Nian.

Save as disclosed, there is no other relationship among
members of the Board. The profiles of each Director and the
relationships among the Directors are set out in the “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual
report.

The Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective delivery of the Board functions. The
number of independent non-executive Directors constitutes
more than one-third of the Board. A list containing the names
of the Directors and their roles and functions is published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company at
www.pck.com.cn and pck.todayir.com.
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The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

Upon reviewing the directorships and major commitments
of each Director, and the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2020.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as
well as financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board
meeting is sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a
regular Board meeting. Reasonable notice will be given
to the Directors for ad-hoc Board meetings. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of
communication.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information will be provided to all the
Directors at least 3 days before meetings. All the Directors
will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors
will have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
is responsible for keeping the minutes of Board meetings
and meetings of Board committees. All minutes are open for
inspection by any Director at reasonable time on reasonable
notice.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, six Board
meetings were held.
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The Company’s Articles of Association contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest. According to current Board practices, any
material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests for
a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Company is aware of the requirement under paragraph
A.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company does not separately
have any officer with the title of “chief executive”. Mr. Chen
Chang, the Chairman and founder of the Group, is also
responsible for the leadership and effective running of the
Board, ensuring that all material issues are decided by the
Board in a conducive manner. The Board will meet regularly
to consider major matters affecting the operations of the
Group. The Board considers that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company. The roles of the respective
executive Directors and senior management, who are in
charge of different functions complement the role of the
chairman and chief executive. The Board is of the view that
this structure provides the Group with strong and consistent
leadership, facilitates effective and efficient planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies, and
ensures the generation of shareholders’ benefits.

The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from time
to time to ensure appropriate move is being taken should

suitable circumstance arise.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

The Board is responsible for selection and approval of
candidates for appointment as Directors. The Company has
established a Nomination Committee on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition including the board diversity policy, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and
making recommendations on the appointment of Directors.
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Each of the executive Directors has renewed or appointed
his/her service contract with the Company for a period of
three years. All of their appointments are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed or re-appointed for a term of two years, and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the re-
appointments/appointment of both executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors and recommended to
the Board of Directors for decision.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and any new Director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms Chen Zhao
Nian, and Mr. Chen Ping will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, if an
independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. As
such, although Mr. Chen Ping has served as an independent
non-executive Director for more than nine years, the Board
consider that Mr. Chen Ping is a person of integrity and
independent in judgement and character. He is independent
of management and free from any business or other
relationships or circumstances which could materially interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. The
Board considers that Mr. Chen Ping meets the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of
the view that their independence is not affected by his tenure
with the Company. The Board believes that his valuable
experience in the Group’s business and his professional
knowledge will continue to generate significant contribution to
the Board, the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Pursuant to article 109 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Chen
Guo Xiong, being appointed by the Board as Director with
effect from 1 October 2020, shall hold office only until the
forthcoming AGM and is eligible to offer himself for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code and in
accordance to the Company’s Articles of Association, a
separate resolution will be proposed for the re-election of
each of Mr. Chen Guo Xiong, Ms. Chen Zhao Nian and
Mr. Chen Ping and at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Training Induction and Continuing Development of
Directors

The Directors have endeavoured to keep abreast of the
changes in their responsibilities as a Director and of the
business activities and development of the Company.

Each newly appointed Director receives formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. The
Directors have provided to the Company their records of
continuous professional development during the year ended
31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, all Directors
attended seminars and training courses in relation to
corporate governance, Listing Rules update or financial
markets update arranged by professional firms/institutions.
Records of continuing professional development have been
maintained by the company secretary. Besides, the company
secretary also conducted briefings on corporate governance,
directors’ duties and responsibilities and provided materials
for Listing Rules amendments to all Directors for their

reference.
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry, all the
Directors has confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

When the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify
its Directors in advance.

Non-Competition Undertakings

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the confirmations given by Mr Chen Chang and Bournam,
being controlling shareholders of the Company, in respect
of each of their compliance with the non-competition
undertakings as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 28 January 2010. The independent non-executive
Directors are satisfied that the controlling shareholders
have fully complied with the terms of the non-competition
undertakings and no new competing business was reported
by the controlling shareholders throughout the year ended
31 December 2020.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

(B)
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr Chen Ping, Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah and Mr Tian
Xiao Ren. Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah is the Chairman of the
Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and the internal control and risk management procedures and
systems of our Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 and the condensed unaudited
consolidated interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2020, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company and the Group.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

. To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
internal auditor or external auditors before submission to
the Board;

C To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors; and

. To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2020, of which two meetings with
external auditors’ presence, and all members of the Audit
Committee attended all meetings. At the meetings, it reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report
of the internal auditor on the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems and processes, and the re-
appointment of the external auditors. No major issue on the
internal control system of the Group has been identified.
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There was no disagreement between the Audit Committee
and the Directors in respect of matters about selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of an external auditor.

The Company had established a whistleblowing policy
and system for employees to raise concerns of possible
improprieties where all concerns are addressed to the Audit
Committee.

The Company’ s annual results for the year ended
31 December 2020 and interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company recognises the benefits of a board that
compose of a balance of skills, experience, expertise
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the business
development of the Company. The Board has adopted a
board diversity policy in 2013. The Board has reviewed
its composition and considered a number of aspects,
including gender, age, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service in
accordance with its board diversity policy. The Board
considers that the existing board composition is well
diversified and appropriate to the business development of
the Company.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012 in compliance with Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr Chen Ping, Mr Tian Xiao Ren and Mr Chen Chang.
Mr Chen Ping is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are
to review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, and review the board
diversity policy and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the board diversity policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives.
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During the year and up to the date of the annual report, the
Nomination Committee has reviewed the composition of the
Board and made recommendations to the Board for the re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for the
chairman, assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and reviewed the board diversity policy
determined the policy for nomination of directors, nomination
procedure process and criteria to select and recommend
candidates.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and all members of the Nomination
Committee attended the meetings.

According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the Company,
appointments of Board members will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria. The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability
of a candidate include:

. the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and
knowledge which are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy);

. the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;

. the candidate’s character and integrity;

. the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote
adequate time in discharge of a director’s duties;

. whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a
diversity of perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, race, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

. (where the candidate is proposed to be appointed
as an independent non-executive Director) whether
the candidate is in compliance with the criteria of
independence under the Listing Rules; and

. any other factors as may be determined by the Board
from time to time.
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In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member
may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a
Director to be considered by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee will then evaluate the personal
profile of the candidate based on the selection criteria set out
above, undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate
and make recommendation for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For nomination of independent non-executive
Director, the Nomination Committee will also assess the
candidate’s independence in accordance with the CG Code
and the Listing Rules. For re-appointment of retiring Directors,
the Nomination Committee will review the candidate’s overall
contribution and performance (including the candidate’s
attendance at Board committee meetings, Board meetings
and general meetings, his/her level of participation and
performance on the Board), and make recommendations
to the Board and shareholders for re-election at general
meetings.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr Chen Ping, Mr Tian Xiao Ren and Mr Chen Chang.
Mr Tian Xiao Ren is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The majority of them are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of our Directors and senior management and determine
on behalf of the Board specific remuneration packages
and conditions of employment for our Directors and senior
management. Remuneration will be determined by reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities as well as market
practice and conditions. None of the Directors themselves
approve their own remuneration.

During the year and up to the date of the annual report,
the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the Group’s
remuneration policy, assessed the performance of executive
Directors and reviewed the remuneration package of
the executive Directors and senior management and
recommended to the Board on the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, two meetings of
the Remuneration Committee were held and all members
attended the meetings.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties of the Company. Terms of reference
adopted by the Board include the duties of the Board on
corporate governance functions to develop and review the
Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance, to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management
and to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

The attendance of individual members of the Board and other
Board Committees meetings for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 is set out in the table below:

AGM
RRAFAE
Executive Directors HIEE
Mr Chen Chang GELE (EESZRE)
(Chairman of the Board) 11
Mr Chen Guo Xiong REELE (EZELFLE)
(Vice Chairman of the Board) ~ (R=F=F%F
(appointed on 1 October 2020) 14— HEZ ) N/A i A
Ms Chen Zhao Nian BEkFERL 11
Ms Chen Zhao Hua BXERL (R=ZF=F
(resigned on 1 October 2020)  +/4—HE ) 0/1
Independent Non-executive BUNATES
Directors
Mr Chen Ping BRELE 1N
Mr Tian Xiao Ren AEg %% 11
Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah BHEELE N/A T A

Chairman of the Board had a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Executive Directors (save as the chairman himself) during the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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Meeting attended/held

HE/BTEE

Audit Nomination  Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee
=g EREES REEEE FMEES
6/6 N/A 1 F 212 2/2
1/6 N/A i A N/A 13 N/A 13
6/6 N/A 1 F N/A 1 F N/A 1 F
0/6 N/A 1 F N/A 1 F N/A 1 F
6/6 4/4 212 212
516 4/4 2/2 2/2
6/6 4/4 N/A i A N/A i A
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(C) Accountability and Audit (C) BEREKE

Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the
finance department of the Group, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
the Group. In the preparation of financial statements, IFRSs
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies
and statutory requirements have been consistently complied
with. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced
assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and
interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate

disclosure and announcements in a timely manner.

Directors’ Responsibility on the Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that period. The Company’s
accounts are prepared in accordance with all relevant
statutory requirements and suitable accounting standards.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable;
and the financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 87 to 94
of this annual report.

Management had provided monthly updates to Directors for
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties.
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Independent Auditors

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the remuneration
paid or payable to the independent auditors, Ernst & Young,
for services rendered is broken down below:

Audit services
Others

BB
RBEE_ZE-_TF+_A=+—HILFE 3R
RURBENHENB L RZBE L KETMER
P& R AT

2020
Sy
HKD’000
FHT

2,500
948

Total AFF

3,448

Internal Controls

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group. The
Company has an internal audit department to ensure effective
internal control system of the Group. The Group’s system
of internal control includes a defined management structure
with limits of authority, and is designed to help the Group
achieve its business objectives, safeguard its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publication, and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems and in the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives.

The Board has reviewed the internal audit report on
quarterly basis and assessed the effectiveness (according
to its magnitude and significance) of the Group’s internal
control system which covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls as well as risk
management functions during the year ended 31 December
2020. No major issue was raised which may affect
shareholders.

The Company has internal procedures on reporting
and disseminating inside information and maintaining

confidentiality.
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(E) Company Secretary

(F)

The Board appoints its Company Secretary in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association and in compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Biographical
details of the current Company Secretary is set out in the
section headed “Directors and senior management” on page
32 to 42 of this annual report. The Company Secretary has
complied with the professional training requirement as set out
in the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2020.

Shareholders’ Rights

The Board welcomes shareholders to present their views
and shareholders may at any time submit their questions
and concerns about the Group. Enquiries may be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary through our
shareholders’ email at ir@zhujiang.com.hk. Shareholder(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of Company’s paid-up capital
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the
related requisition deposited at the Company’s registered
office and addressing to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. The
extraordinary general meeting will be held within 2 months
after the deposition of such requisition.

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person
for election as a Director

Subject to the applicable laws and the provisions of the
Company’s Articles of Association, the Company may from
time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an additional Director. A shareholder may propose a person
for election as a Director by lodging the following documents
to the Board or Company Secretary at our Hong Kong office
at Room 1, 15/F., Tower 3, China Hong Kong City, 33 Canton
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong: 1) a notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person (with full name
and biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules) for election as a Director; and 2) a notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected as a
Director. Such notices shall be lodged at least 7 clear days
before the date of the general meeting and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and shall be at least 7 clear days
in length.

(E)

(F)
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A

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantial separate issue
at shareholder meetings, including the election of individual
Directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange after each shareholder meeting.

Investor Relations and Communication With
Shareholders

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at http://www.pck.com.cn or http://pck.todayir.com,
where up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are
posted. A shareholder communication policy is in place to
ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to information of the Company. The policy is
available on the Company’s website.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with its shareholders and in particular, through AGMs or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders.
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf. The chairman of the Board as well as
the chairman of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee will make themselves available
at the AGM to meet with the shareholders.
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The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on Friday,
18 June 2021. The notice of AGM will be sent to shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the AGM.

The Company attended conferences, roadshows and media
interviews to keep the Shareholders and potential investors
informed of the latest development of the Group. The head
of investor relation will be the primary contact point for

communications with investors and analysts.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant information on the Group’s business in a timely

manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements.

Memorandum and Articles of Association

There was no change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year. The latest version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the Company’s website.

2020 Annual General Meeting

The Board is committed to the constructive use of the AGM
as a forum to meet shareholders. The chairman of the Board
and the chairmans of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee and the external
auditors attended the 2020 AGM.
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At the 2020 AGM,
resolutions on the issues considered. Resolutions passed
at the 2020 AGM were as follows:
consolidated financial statements for the year ended

the Company proposed separate

(i) received the audited

31 December 2019 together with the reports of the Directors
and auditors of the Company; (ii) re-elected Ms Chen Zhao
Mr Tian Xiao Ren, Mr Chen
Ping and Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah as independent non-

Hua as executive Director,

executive Directors and authorised the Board to fix the
Directors’ remuneration; (iii) reappointed Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Company and authorised the Directors to fix
its remuneration; (iv) approved a general mandate for the
Directors to allot and issue of new shares of an amount not
exceeding 20 per cent of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the 2020 AGM; (v) approved a
general mandate for the Directors to repurchase shares of an
amount not exceeding 10 per cent of the aggregate nominal
amount of the Company’s issued share capital as at the date
of the 2020 AGM; (vi) extended the general mandate granted
to the Directors of the Company to allot, issue, and deal with
additional shares in the share capital of the Company by an
amount not exceeding the amount of the shares repurchased
by the Company; (vii) approved and adopt the new share
option scheme. All resolutions were passed by way of a poll
conducted by the Company’s registrar. The poll results of the
2020 AGM were available on the Company’s website.

The 2021 annual general meeting (“2021 AGM”) of the
Company will be held at Portion 2, 12/F., The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong on Friday, 18 June 2021
at 10:30 a.m.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 2021 AGM and
exercise their rights to vote. Shareholders are invited to ask
questions relating to the business of the meeting. Details of
the resolutions to be considered in the 2021 AGM will be set
out in a circular to be sent out to the Shareholders together
with the 2020 annual report.

Others

Share Interests of Senior Management

As confirmed with the senior management of the Company,
they did not hold shares of the Company as at 31 December
2020.
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Sufficiency of Public Float
The Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2020.

Dividend Policy
In order to enhance transparency of the Company and
facilitate the shareholders of the Company and investors to
make informed investment decisions relating to the Company,
the Board adopted a dividend policy on 28 March 2019
(“Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether
to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of
dividend to be declared, the Company shall consider a

number of factors, including but not limited to:

. the Group’s actual and expected financial results;

. the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;

. the Company’s business operation strategy, including
expected working capital requirements, capital

expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

. the Company’s liquidity position;

. retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the
Company;

. the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
imposed by the Company’s lenders and other institutions;
and

. any other factors that the Board considers to be
applicable from time to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the
Board’s discretion. The Board will review the Dividend Policy
on a regular basis.

U
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The Group cares about the community and adheres to an ingrained
culture of fulfilling its social responsibilities by giving a much-
needed boost to the environment in Guangdong Province, China
and other regions in which it operates.

This session is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”) of the Listing Rules. The Board is pleased to present our
performance and progress on the environmental and social aspects
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

This ESG session would separate into two subject areas-(A)
environmental and (B) social and each subject area included
relevant aspects as follow:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A.1 Emissions
Carbon Dioxide Emissions
The Group has been focusing on minimizing emission of
pollutants and waste such as carbon dioxide and packaging
materials in order to efficiently consume resources and to
comply with relevant laws.

For the energy indirect emissions, the Greenhouse gases
(GHG) emissions associated with the electricity purchase in
PRC are provided by the relevant provider of electricity.

Emission factor

HHETF

Industry’s region
TEME

Electricity supplied by China
HEHEENE

0.63 kg/unit (kWh)
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Quantity of

purchased CO, equivalent

electricity emissions

BEES —EtmEEHR

2020 2020

—EEF —E-EEF

34.8 million kWh
34,800,000F F i

21.9 million kg/kWh
21,900,000 F %,
FHE
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The Group would consume electricity for lighting the AEEFEHERENANEEERBEARREMN
manufacturing bases powering the equipment and BWEE Al EAEEERE NN SEEE
machineries. Therefore, carbon dioxide or green gas would be EZEMBRERE - NEEE BB TR
indirectly produced when the Group consumes electricity. The SRR A BUR

Group has implemented the policies to reduce the emission of
the carbon dioxide as follow:

1)  The design of new factory in Lianyungang and Zhuhai 1) EEBRKENIHMEAZINBEAFE LR
BRMEZ  EDEFEENNEN:

is allowing more natural light and ventilation in order to

reduce use of electricity;

2) The light and equipment would be turned off during 2) HEFENRERMEBAFMBARAREZE-

luncheon rest time.

Waste management BREYEE

The Group remains focused on environmental protection AEBERRRLET (FEARAMBEIREZR
and complied with local legislation and standards for EE) (PFEARXMBAR SR AE) &
environmental protection, e.g. Environmental Protection of MIBREMBREE - EEEZMARE =i
the People’s Republic of China Prevention (/1 B A R £ 1 EKEIERE BEKETREERERREAR
IRIE{R#&)%) , Control of Atmospheric Pollution {f#E A R £ BERR

MBI KG@5 28 87%) . Our production bases are featured
with high-end sewage treatment equipment. Sewage will be
treated before recycling and discharge.

A.2 Use of Resources A2 EREH
The major resources used by the Group relates to electricity, AEBERMNEREEAE N KR AR -AE
water and petrol. The Group aims at and has been reducing ER O —ERERSSTBERERE TXREAT
consumption of various resources. Resources consumption by FANREBENERERE:

the Group during the year is listed in the table below:

Resources Consumption Unit Amount
EIRE#E B HE
2020 2020
—EB-EF —E-EfF
Electricity consumption kWh 34.8 million
EE T B 34,800,000
Water consumption Tons 364,000
FEoK TiA 364,000
Petrol Litre 270,000
YU vai 270,000
Natural gas M3 433,000
RKAR 37K 433,000
The Company will assess its staff to reduce the environment BTRLVEEBRERBENTE KAAFFHHE
impact from the major resources. BTHTHZ
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A.3 The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group endeavors to calculate the amount of materials
needed for our production based on the principle of minimizing
surplus materials. In addition, the Group puts in place a scrap
metal recycling mechanism to sell the wasted steel produced
in our process of production to recycling companies.

SOCIAL

Employment

The Group has committed in cultivating a good workplace
practice free from discrimination and providing equal
opportunities for all regardless of age, gender, race, colour,
sexual orientation, disability or marital status to increase
employee satisfaction.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 821 (2019:1,162)
employees.
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The Group has also adopted principles in hiring new
employees regardless of colour, religion, gender, nationality,
race for selection, hiring, training, compensation and
promotion.

The Group has complied with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (3 A R EFEI& &)%) , Labour Contract
Law of People’s Republic of China (fF#E AR K FE L AR
%) and other relevant laws.

Our employment contract specified the terms including
compensation and dismissal, working hours, rest periods and
other benefits and welfare of our staff. The Group’s employee
handbook distributed to employees also includes information
of policies on compensation and dismissal, employment
benefits, rights on termination, business conduct and leave

benefits.

Health and Safety

The Group has complied with the laws and regulations
and adopted the Health Safety and Environmental (“HSE”)
management policy, in an effort to prevent pollution, to ensure
people’s health and safety, and to promote sustainable
development. Our target is to achieve zero accidents, zero
injuries and zero losses in order to meet the international HSE
management standard.

The Group’s employees reside in the neighbourhood areas.
Within our plant zone, there are gardening landscape, fish
ponds and recreational facilities, which offer a comfortable
environment and a sports ground for our employees.

Occupational Safety

We have adopted the HSE risk identification, risk assessment
and control procedures to manage our occupational safety
risk. The Group’s management is responsible for organising
periodic risk identification and evaluation exercises, and
is responsible for sorting, aggregation and distribution of
relevant information, which includes the identification of risk
factors for occupational safety and health, risk assessment on
operating conditions, possibility of accidents, the formulation
of operational control procedures, contingency plans, safety
level standards, as well as training and education issues.

B.2
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B.3

A

The Group has kept records and documents relating to risk
management, including the “Control procedures of the new,
rebuilding and extension projects”, “Risk sources identification
and risk evaluation form” and “List of major risks” for staff

reference.

The Group always finds great importance in occupational
safety and regularly provides training for staff. In 2020,
the Group hosted trainings and rehearsals in productions
bases for fire alert, so as to enhance safety awareness
and emergency response, and held hazards identification
programs and assemblies of risk management activities.

Development and Training

Staff Development and Training

Through meetings, trainings and notifications on notice
board, the Group promotes its safety philosophy and amiable
working environment among various departments and teams.
We offer our employees access to learning and understanding
about the Group, so that each employee and contractors
of the Group or visitors can recognize their responsibilities
and obligations in the aspect of improving the environment
and enhancing occupational health and safety performance.
We make great efforts on improving the environment and
occupational safety.

Our adherence to the HSE management policy is a testimony
of the greatest commitment of the Group towards environment
and occupational health and safety. This policy is available
for review by employees at any time. In the year, the Group
further improved site management standards, achieved the
goal of dedicated management, and further promoted the 6S
management model in the Company. Project meetings were
kicked off in the production sites of Zhuhai and Lianyungang.

The Group endeavours to enhance the skills of each
employee in various aspects by providing staff trainings,
which include the “Weekly Star” and “Weekly Talk”. A wide
array of training courses is provided for employees to
strengthen their work-related knowledge and skills. Also, the
Group hosted an “advanced employee’s election”, whereby
each of the employees obtaining a certificate of honorary was
offered an outdoor training opportunity. To enable excellent
employees to take up management positions and to bolster
our team’s management capabilities, the Company also
organised the “team leader for production and management
training” courses during the year.
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The Group has set up a labour union to further promote
spiritual positive energy with various social activities.

To reinforce the employees’ sense of belonging to the Group,
a wide range of sport events are provided by the Group for its
employees every year, including basketball and table tennis
contests and a game of tug-of-war, etc. In addition, we have
provided activities that are of educational significance and
served to enhance the work performance of our employees,

» o«

including the “Business Oral English”, “Training and Assembly
for Fire”, “Sales Training”, “Joint Training and Team Building
Program for Financial Department”, and “Annual Sales
Meeting”, etc. The Zhuhai Company of the Group also
held the third quarter award ceremony of “Set an example
around you and consolidate the strength of the Company”.
The Company honored the advanced teams and individuals
emerging from various functions with great ceremony, and
called on all employees to learn from such advanced teams
and individuals. The Zhuhai Company also organized a warm
spring trip for the 8th March Women’s Day.

We encourage our employees to take an active part in local
community activities, including the “Green Enterprise Cup”
Table Tennis and Badminton Tournament of Panyu District
Youth Entrepreneur Association and the private enterprises
working concern group activities. Various events were held,
including the second “We Are Family-PCK” friendly wall
donation, the hike of female employees for the 8th March
International Women’s Day, the Lantern Festival Fair jointly
held by the Lianyungang base of Chu Kong Steel Pipe and
the Community Workstation of the Neighborhood Center of
Xuwei New Area, and the employee-oriented “1st May Caring
Show” organized by the Artistic Association of Zhuhai Trade

Union.

Labour Standards

The Group has complied with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (3 A R HEFEIL &)%) |, Labour Contract
Law of People’s Republic of China (FF#EARKLFELEHE
[f’%) and other relevant laws. The Group has not employed
any staff aged under 16.

B.4
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B.6

A

Staff Code

The staff code of the Group is prepared based on the PRC
labour law and is in line with the national standards of
the PRC. The Group has also been providing its staff with
guidance in accordance with the national legislation.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has maintained proven track records of high
production efficiency and timely delivery. We have established
deep and cordial relationships with our suppliers. The
Group keeps a list of qualified suppliers, whose appraisal is
based on their track record of compliance with international
standards and the Group’s past cooperation relationship
with them. To improve logistics efficiency, the Company has
established a self-operated wharf in the Zhuhai production
base and formed a joint venture company to construct and
operate a port in Lianyungang production base for the delivery
of steel products and the receipt of raw materials.

Product Responsibility

Product quality

With its state-of-art technology, equipment, management and
well-established reputation, the Group is dedicated to the
provision of high-quality products and services that satisfy
customers’ needs. Our product quality has met a number
of international standards. We are also the only domestic
welded steel pipe manufacturer being granted five national
honors, namely the “Superior Quality Award for Actual

» oo«

Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “Gold Cup Prize for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “High and New Technology
Enterprise”, “National Recognized Enterprise Technology
Center”, and National Key New Products and hosts a
“Academician Workstation”. We are the main drafter of the
national standard for longitudinal welded steel pipes in China.
Meanwhile, with the setting up of the “Post-doctoral Research
Station” and “Academician Workstation”, the Company
strives to further enhance its product quality and extend the

application of its products.
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The Group strictly upholds the 1ISO9001 quality management
system. With the use of advanced testing equipment, and the
conduct of on-line and off-line testing as well as mechanical
and chemical properties testing, we inspect the products at
each production process stage in accordance with the best
product quality requirements through a myriad of tests, such
as steel ultrasonic testing, ultrasonic welding detection, weld
X-ray inspection system, hydrostatic testing and flattening
test. Upon obtaining post-test data, we will make a rigorous
analysis on product quality, so as to ensure that each product
meets customer requirements. We have built a testing
center in compliance with the national standards, and the
center has been recognised by China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS). The Group’s
testing center is equipped with a wide variety of laboratory
equipment, including universal materials testing machine, low
temperature impact material testing machine, drop weight
tear test (DWTT) machine, hydrogen induced cracking (HIC)
testing, sulfide stress corrosion cracking (SSC), crack tip
opening displacement (CTOD) test, computer-controlled
chemical composition vacuum direct reading spectrometer
and microscope. Achieving six standards, our measuring
chamber has passed through the ISO10012: 2003 AAA
measurement management system certification. This proves
that our measuring instruments are of high qualification
and effectiveness. The Group’s testing centre has passed
the “National safety quality standardisation” and obtained
the “TUV SUD Metal Materials Laboratory Accreditation
Certificate”. Our products, an unfailing symbol of quality,
are blessed with unparalleled reputation in the international
market under the “PCK” brand.

Anti-corruption

The operation of various departments of the Group is in
compliance with legal regulations and legislations. We
have established a whistle blowing policy, which enables
our employees to express their views to the management
anonymously.
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B.8 Community Investment B8 HtERE
Contribution to the Community [E]g& B

The Group has been playing an active role in charitable
activities in Panyu, Guangdong Province, China and other
regions in which we operate. During the year, with the
organisation of a couple of educational, sports, cultural
and charitable activities, we promoted the exuberance
of Guangzhou City, thus enhancing foreign interest in
Guangzhou and fostering urban development. These activities
included:

. Sponsoring Panyu District “PCK Cup” 1st, 2nd and 3rd
Table Tennis Contest

. Sponsoring Zhujiang “PCK Cup” 1st and 2nd World Go
Team Championships

. Sponsoring “Golden Dragon City Cup” 1st and 2nd
Dragon Boats Championships

. Sponsoring the 9th Table Tennis Competition of “Mayor’s
Cup” of Guangzhou

. Exclusively supporting the 2nd National Calligraphy
Poster Exhibition and Invited Exhibition, to promote the
art of calligraphy and inherit national cultures.

In addition, the Group also participated in the assessment by
the government and other organisations. During the year, we
participated in:

. Supporting the events related to Chinese Bonsai Art
organized by the Flower Bonsai Society of China

. Supporting the events organized by Baiyue Art
Association of Panyu District

. “Panyu District Mayor Quality Award Assessment
Management Approach” granted with the Quality Award

by the provincial government

. “Guangdong Enterprise with integrity”

\
A
4y
"H
¥t
£
]:_1

AEE-ERB2EPBEEREERREMER
& N H & /E@j AEEEHE - F R - DERBAD
RHHE CNEBEREELTY SEEMNTH
e ”&%WI\ HEMEZ TH RERTHE-
EEEIE

- EBEDEBRIRIANIE— - ZEEKIR
&

- EBBIHKERIE - —EEREHERR

=E

- EBEYeRMN]E— —EEAE

FNEIMEN FERBEHR

s BRIFEEE_RBEABRMERELE
R SABEREM  BARKXL -

RN REE T2 E2BF R EMEBRFNFE
EFEARATRSHE:

. XFHEEARSHEFARTEZSEMA

WEE

- XREERAMENHEERD

- (EERRREERFREERZE) BEK

- (ERETERERFERLE) KEBER

BIAMARAREAEZRBRATF

85



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HEREGHRE

The Group has also encouraged its employees to actively
participate in community activities in Guangdong Province,
including:

. Participating the seventh “Guangzhou’s Mayor Cup” for
table tennis tournament sponsored by Chu Kong Steel
Pipe Group

. Joining the photographic contest arranged by the district

. Participating the “Charity Hiking” activity arranged by the
City of Guangzhou

. Arranging a “Paternity Day” on the Nation’s Day

. Arranging the “Mid-Autumn Celebration” activity

. Joining the “International Dragon Boat” competition
arranged by the City of Guangzhou

. Participating in the Charity Projects of Guangzhou
Association of Women Entrepreneurs

. Participating in the poverty alleviation activities organized
by Guangzhou Federation of Industry and Commerce,
Guangzhou Women’s Federation, Guangzhou
Association Of Women Entrepreneurs and District
Federation of Industry and Commerce

C Participating in the poverty alleviation projects organized
by Guangdong Women And Children’s Foundation,
Guangzhou Women’s Federation and Guangzhou
Association Of Women Entrepreneurs

Charity Fund

In April 2013, the Group established a charitable fund, named
as the “Chu Kong Steel Pipe Group Co., Ltd. — Blessing
Charity Fund”, aiming to improve the living environment of
single mothers and orphans and assisting single mothers for
seeking job. The Group donates certain amount of money to
the fund every year.
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e
EY::

To the shareholders of Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas
Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chu
Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
95 to 242, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded net
current liabilities of RMB950,203,000. As stated in note 2.1, these
events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. In addition
to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

BREREHR

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

WE B RRE R

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded property, plant
and equipment with a net book value of RMB2,530,037,000,
among which RMB2,526,935,000 represented property, plant
and equipment of the steel pipes segment. During the year,
the steel pipes segment recorded a profit of RMB987,220,000
which was mainly due to the gain on land resumption of
RMB1,864,709,000. The steel pipes segment recorded a loss of
RMB877,489,000 when excluding the gain on land resumption,
which indicated possible impairment of the non-current assets
included in the steel pipes segment.
RZB_ZE+_A=+—H E5EEEDE BERRXER
HFE A ARM2530,037,0007T - H+ AR #2,526,935,0007T
RMESBZWE BELRB-FR MESHHEEEMNAR
#987,220,0007T * & 2 Jy R F T UM fF Uz A R #51,864,709,000
7T HE 9 B 15 B 1B A R#5877,489,0007T (6 15 1 3t U U
®m) BTIMENDBIERBEETRLERAE-

Management estimated the recoverable amounts of these
property, plant and equipment using the value-in-use model.
The estimated value in use was dependent on management’s
determination on the Group’s future events and its measures
to improve its efficiency of cash flow management,
macroeconomic assumptions about future demands of steel
pipe products, the discount rate and exchange rates as well
as the production levels and operating costs. These estimates
were particularly significant due to the uncertain economic
outlook, product price volatility, forecasted future production
and market demand. The outcome of impairment assessment
can vary significantly when different assumptions are applied.
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Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 “Summary of
significant accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting
judgements and estimates” and note 13 “Property, plant and
equipment” to the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMTEERRERSR

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:
EEEHITUTEF AR ERE:

. Reviewed management’s impairment assessment by
comparing the carrying values of the property, plant
and equipment and their value in use, evaluating the
assumptions and methodologies (long-term growth
rate, budgeted prices based on the market trend
and budgeted sales quantity based on the existing
production capacity) adopted by management;

s BRUBYE BELAREBZEEAELHEEREE #|
BEREZRMERNG FHFEEEBRAZRERAE (K
HERE ENMEBRE T BEERAERRAE
BEEECTEEE)

. Involved our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the discount rate and the methodology used
in the calculation of the value in use;

s BEEEZERBHESFERRINRAEEREEZS
P

0 Evaluated the data used in management’s forecast by
reference to any committed future events and business
development plan which may impact the projected
cash flows;

. S2EMRFEREARSRENERABRREMSRED
ERETE BRI PARAZ BUE

C Evaluated the projected cash flows with reference to
the sales orders on hand, industry trend, market index,
and latest operating costs incurred;

- Z2ERBHETE TEBY THEENFELENR
MEERA FERFARERE

. Performed sensitivity analysis to assess whether any
change in the significant input would give a significant
impact on the estimates; and

o ETERUED N U EEMERE ABIENE
HEFELEEAZE R

=
=B

. Assessed the adequacy of the relevant disclosures in
the Group’s financial statements.
s HEEEEMBHRREEBRERESRED -
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Key audit matter

BREREHR

Impairment of trade receivables

B ENIFRZZ B E

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade receivables of
RMB506,570,000, of which impairment of RMB6,333,000 was
provided.

RIZBZZE+_A=+—RH BEXEEREFIREERARE
506,570,0007T + H# A R #6,333,0007T B 1 L3 B # -

The calculation of the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for
trade receivables, including the assessment of the historical
observed default rates and forecast economic conditions
involves significant management judgements and estimates.
HAEESRUWERRCEREEFR ([RPEEBE]) (BT
EREERINENETRFAUNKLERR) FRERNEREH
i M ffi 5t o

Specific factors which management would consider include
the ageing of the balances, past collection history and
other available information related to the forecast economic
conditions. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
EEEEENABARBEAKKR BEERCHEARERFD
HtERBEASERGENEN -BHEEREZ 2 BHREE(L
Ko FERAS B R AT BUR B

Relevant disclosures are included in note 2.4 “Summary of
significant accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting
judgements and estimates” and note 22 “Trade and bills
receivables” to the financial statements.

EREERHNUBRRMT242 [F2SFBERBE] 7332
[BEgt A REE] k227 [E S RURRREKREE] -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBERNMEERARERSER

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:
EEEHITUTEF AR ILMERE:

. Assessed the Group’s internal controls over the credit
control of trade receivables and recalculated the
provision matrix of ECLs;

- A ESEHESEUBEREEES cARES 1S
M EEBEEEE  BEERN

. Reviewed the credit terms and historical payment
patterns of different categories of the customers to
assess the groupings of customer segments with
similar loss patterns;

. Bl PRBENEFPHNEEGRREBEMNERN  LAEFE
HERUEBEREXZTR 8 zH4E:

. Examined the underlying data used in the provision
matrix by checking to the corresponding ageing and
historical repayment records on a sampling basis;

o BREMERESHENREIBEENRE SERERS
FeB T £R PR B0 48 B B 0%

. Checked bank receipts for the settlements of trade
receivables made subsequent to the year end; and
- BEFHEBANUZRESERERFEENRITRE: &

. Assessed the forward-looking adjustments by
analysing the use of macroeconomic information and
the judgement of adjustments.

o BBEOWMEBKBEERRER RFEEHE - &7 ATE
M EE o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Q2 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

rt|/_\ = N7
g‘v‘.l'\m B

Year ended 31 December 2020 &= —ZT T+ - =+—HIL¥§E

2020 2019
—EB-EF —E-NEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®ET T ARBFT

REVENUE A 5 1,141,807 1,193,961
Cost of sales SHE AR (935,120) (981,769)
Gross profit EF 206,687 212,192
Other income and gains H A A R = 5 1,911,272 441,747
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (34,808) (55,821)
Administrative expenses THEA (287,638) (336,042)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net EX (BH) e F8 (120,098) 23,528
Finance costs Bl & pR AR 8 (475,384) (450,058)
Fair value (loss)/gain on wEWEZATFE(EBE) kS

investment properties 7 (20,000) 78,008
Fair value gain on a derivative PEEBMIAZ AFEKE

financial instrument 7 - 19,260
Other expenses EmEH (300,702) (69,388)
Share of loss of a joint venture iR —HaE A R EER 19 (2,668) (18,655)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BBLATER (EE) 7 876,661 (155,229)
Income tax (expense)/credit Friasi (BR) /& 11 (253,750) 13,140
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR KEERF(FHE) 622,911 (142,089)
Attributable to: AT ALEAG:

Owners of the parent B RREA A 622,911 (138,888)

Non-controlling interests FERE IR A = (3,201)

622,911 (142,089)

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREBERLSERSA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEESRER, (FHE)

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

RMB RMB
AR AR

Basic and diluted EARREE 12 0.627T (0.14) 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEERHEWAXR

Year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ—Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

2020 2019
—EB-EF —NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R ARBFT

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FEEBF (FE) 622,911 (142,089)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Htr2mEmWs (FE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REBHEEEN > EEERN

may be reclassified to profit or loss Hiv2HE k= (HE)

in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEINEEBEENEN Z5

foreign operations 189,906 (26,494)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that REERRTEEN S BEERN

may be reclassified to profit or loss Hib 2wz (E18)FE

in subsequent periods 189,906 (26,494)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not be REEHBETEHHEEEFN

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: E /2 (E1E) Uz
Exchange differences on translation of ARG HRERBEZINEEEED

the Company’s financial statements into [ENZ%

the presentation currency (11,091) 5,171
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that REERRBTENSBEEEEN

will not be reclassified to profit or loss Hi2mE (BE) s F58E

in subsequent periods (11,091) 5,171
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FERMBRBERLMEEmkE (FR)

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 178,815 (21,323)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FRZEKE(BER)BE

FOR THE YEAR 801,726 (163,412)
Attributable to: LR AL L

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZFS PN 801,726 (160,211)

Non-controlling interests FEIE IR HE R - (3,201)

801,726 (163,412)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7 ARET T AREEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M WEREE 13 2,530,037 2,604,239
Investment properties "LEME 16 387,000 407,000
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 1,031,276 1,114,551
Long term prepayments and deposits REBNFRBRES 17 75,679 85,975
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERRZT’E 19 10,510 13,177
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE E 20 - 210,943
Total non-current assets EnBEELE 4,034,502 4,435,885
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties under development ERPYE 14 2,064,560 1,822,964
Completed properties held for sale BREEYE 15 365,422 383,977
Inventories FE 21 415,709 219,102
Trade and bills receivables EFRERRBERKLEREE 22 511,538 403,775
Prepayments, other receivables and TR FRIB - HoAth fE W R IE | B A
other assets 23 1,003,330 916,170
Due from a related party JiE U BE Bt 5 SR8 39 84,522 84,522
Pledged and restricted bank balances B &R IR 1T 4 % 24 22,712 164,826
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEED 24 19,466 58,585
4,487,259 4,053,921
Assets classified as held for sale DEABELENEE 33 19,767 =
Total current assets REBEEHLE 4,507,026 4,053,921
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Trade and bills payables B O RENERRENER 25 614,511 379,935
Other payables and accruals HEtENRIEREFTER 28 782,666 628,847
Contract liabilities aHEE 27 1,286,986 1,159,070
Derivative financial instrument TESRIT A 32 - 3,724
Fixed rate bonds and notes EBEHFLERE 30 33,903 170,404
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st BR{T R EMEE 26 2,178,336 1,116,889
Due to a director ERESHIE 39 80,768 88,857
Tax payable JEAS RS IR 417,928 365,567
Provision B 29 54,579 =
5,449,677 3,913,293
Liabilities directly associated with the assets BN AFIEHENEE
classified as held for sale BEEREBENEE 33 7,552 =
Total current liabilities nBBERRE 5,457,229 3,913,293
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS #E(AE) EEFE (950,203) 140,628
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBES
LIABILITIES 3,084,299 4,576,513
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BB &

31 December 2020 —Z-—ZF+-A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 3E AR¥ET T ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Due to a director JE < & F5IE 39 50,000 50,000
Fixed rate bonds and notes FEBEHFIMEE 30 114,608 7,631
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =t BiR{T R EMEE 26 1,373,109 3,753,975
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFIBEEE 20 353,876 368,023
Government grants KA 43 B 31 336,011 341,915
Total non-current liabilities FErRBBEEESE 2,227,604 4,521,544
Net assets BEFE 856,695 54,969
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of the parent & A#H AEGEER
Issued capital BEITIR AR 34 88,856 88,856
Reserves T 35 767,839 (33,887)
Total equity W AREE 856,695 54,969

CHEN CHANG
BR &
Director

EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBREHR

Year ended 31 December 2020

BEZZ-ZEF+-A=+—AHLFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
BRAREAER
Asset Exchange Non-
Issued Share  revaluation  Contributed Capital Statutory Accumulated  fluctuation controlling
capital premium* reserve’* surplus* reserve* reserve fund* losses* reserve* Total interests Total
BRARA  RDER* EREGRT  REER  AXBE AEARE  ZAER RBRE @it FnREs @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETL ARETL ARETL ARETL ARETR
(Note 34) (note (a))
(Hiia4) (W3t (@)
At 1 January 2019 RZF-h&-F-H 88,856 767,097 1,073,940 224,589 57,607 165276 (1,982,814) (175,698) 218,853 11,420 230,273
Loss for the year TERER - = S S 5 - (138,888) - (138,888) (3201)  (142,089)
Other comprehensive loss for the year REREMZERE
Exchange differences on translation of RENEEREENERZR
foreign operations - - - - - - - (26,494) (26,494) (26,494)
Exchange differences related to the translation A2 ABf R E 27
of the Company's financial statements EHEENERZE
into the presentation currency - - - - - - - 5171 5171 5171
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEEREARAR - - - - - - (138888)  (21,323)  (160,211) (3.201)  (163,412)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WEEERES - = = = (3,673) = = = (3,673) (8,219) (11,892)
Transfer of asset revaluation reserve upon EREENELER BRAE
the sale of relevant properties BB - - (457,200) - - = 457,200 = = =
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1+-A 88,856 767,097 616,740 224,589 53,934 165276 (1,664,502) (197,021) 54,969 - 54,969
Attributable to owners of the parent
NAGERAER
Asset Exchange
Issued Share  revaluation  Contributed Capital Statutory  Accumulated  fluctuation
capital premium* reserve® surplus* reserve® reserve fund* losses* reserve” Total
AE EX
BEARA  ROEE EfEE" EURS BAERE ARRES ZHER RIRA @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARBTT AREBTT ARETT AREFT ARETR ARETR
(Note 34) (note (a))
(t3t34) (M3t (a))
At 1 January 2020 WZE-Z5-5-H 88,856 767,097 616,740 224,589 53,934 165,276 (1,664,502) (197,021) 54,969
Profit for the year REEEF - - - - - - 622,911 = 622,911
Other comprehensive income for the year 71 & £t 2 iz
Exchange differences on translation of FENEEBEANERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 189,906 189,906
Exchange differences related to the AR BRRAEZT]
translation of the Company's financial ERELNEREE
statements into the presentation currency - - - - - - - (11,091) (11,091)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2ENHLE - - - = = = 622,911 178,815 801,726
Transfer of retained earings BRRAET - - - - - 110,247 (110,247) = =
Transfer of asset revaluation reserve upon EARENEHER SREE
the sale of relevant properties BB - - (4,079) - - - 4,079 - -
At 31 December 2020 RZZ-FFE+-F=1-R 88,856 767,097 612,661 224,589 53,934 275523 (1,147,759) (18,206) 856,695

L The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an
owner-occupied property to an investment property carried at fair
value.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB767,839,000 (2019: RMB(33,887,000)) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GORERDE

Note: B 5

(a) In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of (a) BEFREARLMBE ([RBE])QAEE RARRE
China (the “PRC”), the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC Eﬂﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁ%’“ CERBRBEFEEEFREN (KEB
are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profit after FFEENTAEBERZ) MNI0%BEALZEAEL - EAKE
tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory reserve @E’J & iRz —(E E‘%ﬁufﬂﬂﬁl"ﬁﬁ%% BAEERTHE
fund. When the balance of an entity’s reserve fund reaches 50% of its BRERANEZEABRE AF BEUAREBEHBEFE Eﬁ
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory T,E o1 ﬂﬂiﬂﬂﬁ$ R HEAERAE AR L
reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase BEMTRGHE ZEREBARFEIMELRR25% ©

the registered capital. However, such balance of the statutory reserve
fund must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such usage.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

SERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 &&= —-%

TET-ASt-BLEE

FLOWS

2020 2019
—E-%F — i
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3E AR®BT ARBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHFBRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Profit)/loss before tax BRBIAT CEF) 8 876,661 (155,229)
Adjustments for: BT ERE:
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMREB AR ZEE 6 - 20,107
Finance costs B & A A 8 475,384 450,058
Share of loss of a joint venture Eh—REAEAREE 19 2,668 18,655
Bank interest income |ITH BUA 5 (715) (23,794)
Government grant income BT 4 Bl A 5 (14,092) (34,764)
Gain on resumption of land use rights At REREa LA
to the local authorities g B U A s 5 (1,864,709) (368,305)
Gain on cancellation of a derivative BUBESTA € B T AR
financial instrument 32 (3,724) -
Depreciation of property, mE- -BELRREBNE
plant and equipment 13 98,748 98,973
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEENE 18 29,577 33,263
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment KREMEZ A TE
properties 18, (gzs) 16 20,000 (78,008)
Fair value gain on a derivative TESBIAZAFEKRS
financial instrument 32 - (19,260)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of ZH5RUIER CRERR)
trade receivables A 22 (12,884) 3,845
Impairment of other receivables H iy E I FRIB R A 23 27,222 37,615
(365,864) (16,844)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEgm R (198,255) 3,955
Increase in properties BERAPYEEM
under development (241,596) (57,801)
Decrease in completed SRR E W E R D
properties held for sale 18,555 36,900
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B REWERERREREE
bills receivables (#m) R (316,961) 132,605
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, other TR FRIE - H b FE K ERIE K
receivables and other assets Hi&EE (Egm IR (270,467) 92,750
Decrease in pledged and EHEA R 2R EIRITAE R
restricted bank balances 142,114 454,234
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B BREMERREMNZE
bills payables #an CRd) 234,669 (311,529)
Increase in contract liabilities, EHBEE - HaEANFIER
other payables and accruals FESTE RN 1,017,112 176,519
Increase in provision B 12 00 54,579 =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER
Year ended 31 December 2020 #iZ—Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE
2020 2019
—B-FF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 3E AR®BT AR®EFT
Cash generated from operations KEEERS 73,886 510,789
Interest received 2 W F B 5 715 23,794
Interest paid BEAFLE 18 (654) (794)
Corporate income tax paid BEEEMER (17) (4,628)
Land appreciation tax paid AT T I E R (2,565) (1,408)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHELEBHESRETE 71,365 527,753
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHFEBRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipt from financial assets measured WER A AT ABRFTEH
at fair value through profit or loss CMEE - 200
Purchase of financial assets measured BERATFEFABRITEN
at fair value through profit or loss TREE - (200)
Purchases of items of property, BEME WELRHEEE
plant and equipment (28,613) (49,389)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEVME WERZEEBEBAMSE
property, plant and equipment IR 12,680 458
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—REHEB AT 4,743 4,061
Decrease in an amount JE LSz R B 05 SR IEDRL
due from a related party - 154
Receipt of government grants W BRI 4 B 31 8,188 25,780
Receipt of compensation for land resumption YR EX £ b U & 2 1 E 3 1,665,000 1,230,000
Net cash flows from investing RETEHFBREREFHE
activities 1,661,998 1,211,064
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2020 &= —ZT T+ - =+—HIL¥§E

2020 2019
—ECEF —F-hF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

k=3 ARBTR ARBTT

CASH FLOWS FROM METBHAERERE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans and other borrowings IRITERNEMEER 947,026 1,117,525
Repayment of bank loans and BRRITERREMER

other borrowings (2,388,165) (2,269,572)
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITEFMISHRIE - 6,158
Repayment of bonds BEES (28,912) =
Dividends paid BRI E - (1,482)
Interest paid 2RFE (304,528) (527,801)
Decrease in an amount due to EREERER D

a director (8,089) (83,587)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRZAEH D (2,470) (2,219)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEZEBFFARSHREZHE (1,785,138) (1,760,978)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBESEEYRLDFE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (51,775) (22,161)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net JMNEF| R &8 7 &2 FE 12,656 13,839
Cash and cash equivalents FNHReMREEED

at beginning of year 58,585 66,907
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREERBREEEY

AT END OF YEAR 19,466 58,585
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERASEBUERTN

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances e MIRITHE % 24 19,466 58,585
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 9 January 2008 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The Company’s registered office address is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
involved in the following principal activities:

. manufacture and sale of welded steel pipes and the
provision of related manufacturing services

. property development and investment

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Bournam Profits
Limited (“Bournam”), which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

1. RAREEER
KIAMAKARMEZERER LA ([RAF])
RZZZENFE-ANBREBEREHEEN 22
BERAVE(—NAR—FEBIRED  KiEa kg
FERESHESHMKIABERENARAA -
XA A FE B S R 2 # 4k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARAREMBAR (GHEIAKRE])TERSE

AT EREE:

- HERHERRRREERREHBBARE
AR5

- MEZRERE
EERAR ARANERAFAREHERIAR

Bournam Profits Limited ([Bournam J) ' &% A &

RRBRE LB S ML -

ERHMBLARZER
ARBEEMBRBZHABET

follows:
Place and date
of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment issued ordinary Percentage of
and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
AR B R BRAZER EAR
NRER AU RER I HEMRAEE REBDHE TEXH
Direct Indirect
BE &
% %
Lessonstart Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$300 100 — Investment holding
Limited KBRIRS 300% T REER
NMNEEEBERLQA
Lucknow Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands Us$10 - 100 Investment holding
KEEREE 103E 7T REEK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBIEENMBARZFBEWT: (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of

issued ordinary

Percentage of

and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRTEER EARE
NCIEE B R &8 S RAEE REBD L TEXHK
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
% %
Crown Central Holdings Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Trading of steel
Limited BA 1,000 T pipes
KPEBERAT HEES
Chu Kong Steel Pipe Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Investment holding
Group Co., Ltd. BE 100,000/ 7T and trading of
KIMESEEBRAA steel pipes
REERREEE
Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ HK$1,937,500,000 - 80 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP”) (Note 1) Mainland China 1,937,500,0007% 7T sale of welded
EBRIMEARAR FE A steel pipes
(IERWIME]) (MFE1) HERHEE
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$5,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
Petrol-Fittings Co., Ltd. Mainland China 5,000,000/ 7T sale of petrol
BMEZ A ALE & B E fittings
BERAQA HERHEALEHS
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$21,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
OCTG Co., Ltd. Mainland China 21,000,000/ 7T sale of oil country
BNZHAGHBEE FE A tubular goods
BERDA HERHEE
AEEM
ToTEEERE WIAmAARBEZRERAT 105



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U E

31 December 2020 —Z=-ZF+-_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Company name

NREH

Guangzhou Pearl River
Petroleum Steel Pipe
Coating Co., Ltd.

BB AMmMRED S
BRAR

Guangzhou Pearl River
Petroleum Steel Pipe

Co., Ltd.
BN E 5O A il E
ERRAF

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe
(Lianyungang) Co., Ltd.
(‘PCKSP (Lianyungang)”)

EEHIME (BEB)ERAT

(IBERWIME (EEH)])

Guangzhou Panyu Chu
Kong Hualong Petroleum
Steel Pipe Anti-Corrosion
Co., Ltd. (“Hualong
Anti-Corrosion”)
BNTESHRIERAMAE
WRER AR ([ERNE])

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of
operations

H Lt R
B R &8

The PRC/
Mainland China
T B A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FEREAM

Nominal value of
issued ordinary
Iregistered
share capital
BRATEER
=R A EE

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000/ 7T

HK$50,000,000
50,000,0007% 7T

RMB1,110,000,000
AR#1,110,000,0007T

RMB20,600,000
AR #20,600,0007T
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Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
EARE
REBDHE
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
% %

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

AATNEEMBARZABMT  (H)

Principal activities

TEEH

Steel pipe casing
and lining services

el ER
NEEZ B IR

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel pipes

BERHEE
BREERE

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel pipes

SENIHE
BREEMRE

Steel pipe casing
and lining services

e ERANE
ZERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

A

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

PE+=A=+—8

follows: (Continued)

Company name

NREH

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe

(Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.

(“PCKSP (Zhuhai)")

EBWIME (BE
(IEBHINE

JERRA]
(k8 1)

Lianyungang Kaidi Heavy
Equipment Technology

Co., Ltd. (“Kaidi")

EERITEINRERAA

(T8l7%])

Lianyungang Pearl River

Petrol-Fittings Co

., Ltd.

EERDWARLLEN

BRRA

Guangdong Pearl Steel
Investment Management
Co., Ltd. (“Pearl Steel

Investment”)

BERAMREERBRAA

([HR#MIE])

A
4y
"H
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Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of
operations

H Lt R
B R &8

The PRC/
Mainland China
T B A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FEREAM

1. RAREEER (8

ERWE AR ZER (8)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary
Iregistered
share capital
BRATEER
=R A EE

HK$1,088,402,072
1,088,402,072/% 7T

RMB470,000,000
A K #470,000,0007T

HK$303,000,000
303,000,0007% 7T

RMB50,000,000
AR #50,000,0007T

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
EARE
REBDHE
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
% %

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100
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AATNEEMBARZABMT  (H)

Principal activities

TEEH

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel pipes

BERHE
BREEMNE

Manufacture
and sale of steel
pipe equipment
and metallurgy
equipment
BERHEHE R
Rae &k

Manufacture and
sale of tubular
piles

BERHEEEH

Property
development and
investment

NERERKRE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U E

31 December 2020 —Z=-ZF+-_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Company name

NREH

Nanjing Rongyu Group Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing Rongyu Group”)
MRBMEEBR AR
((ExRRnEE])

Nanjing City Qixia Hill Roll
Steeling Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing City Qixia Hill")

MRmEZLEHMERAAE

(TRRmEEL])

Chu Kong Steel Pipe
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.
KIME (BR)BRAAF

Ningbo Sanhe Steel Pipe
Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Sanhe”)
BR=AHEERAT

(k=81

Guangzhou Zhu Gang Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“Zhu
Gang Property Management”)

BN EERBRDA

([RMWYEER])

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of
operations

H Lt R
B R &8

The PRC/
Mainland China
T B A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

The PRC/
Mainland China
FEREAM

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE A

Nominal value of
issued ordinary
Iregistered
share capital
BRATEER
=R A EE

RMB75,000,000
AR #75,000,0007T

RMB20,316,500
AR #20,316,5007T

HK$30,000,000
30,000,0007% 7T

RMB20,000,000
AR #20,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
AR #5,000,0007T
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Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
EARE
REBDHE

Direct
B
%

Indirect
M &
%

100

100

100

100

100

AATNEEMBARZABMT  (H)

Principal activities

TEEH

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel products

BERHE
BRIEENMED

Manufacture and
sale of
screw-thread
steels

2038 RSHE R AU

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel products

SENIHE
BRIFERMED

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel products

BERHERRER
HMEm

Property management

MEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARAIREBEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBIEENMBARZFBEWT: (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date

of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment issued ordinary Percentage of
and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRTEER EARE
NCIEE B R &8 S RAEE REBD L TEXHK
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
% %
Zhuhai Zhugang Wharf The PRC/ RMB3,000,000 - 100 Port services
Co., Ltd. (“Zhugang Wharf") Mainland China A K #3,000,0007T BORS
KERMBRYRER AR B 3
([ZREMASEE )
Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Sale of welded steel
(Yunfu) Co., Ltd. Mainland China A K #1,000,000,0007T pipes
HIHE (BF)ERAH F O E A HERBEEZENRE
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, FREINESRATIEFEFAEAEIENAEASE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results BEFENFEHD 2ARGNBERARRZE-
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets EERB JEEMHBARFERBERIIRA
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in RITKe
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
Note ™ AT
Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co., Ltd. ZRIKTHEBR AT (‘PCKSP”) EBRWIMEARAR ([ERWIME])
PCKSP has been accounted for as a 100%-owned subsidiary of the BERWIHNECAREARREZ2EWBAR (=%
Group (2019: 100%). It is engaged in the manufacture and sale of “NEF2E) BRARRFEREEMERERHE

Wit B A 35 — a3 -

welded steel pipes and holds a piece of land in Mainland China.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note 1: (Continued)

On 12 February 2018, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
with a third party, Guangdong Yuecai Trust Co., Limited (“Yuecai
Trust”) for the disposal of a 20% equity interest for a consideration
of HK$240 million, contingent to certain future events which are set
out in the responding agreement. Details have been disclosed in the
Company’s circular issued on 27 March 2018. The related transactions
constituted very substantial disposal transactions under the relevant
Listing Rules and have been approved by the shareholders on 19 April
2018 (the “2018 Disposal Transactions”).

In 2018, Yuecai Trust transferred an aggregate amount of RMB240
million to PCKSP and PCKSP has filed statutory business registration
to allot its 20% shareholding to Yuecai Trust. Thereafter, Yuecai Trust
became a 20% legal shareholder of PCKSP. However, according
to the agreement, Yuecai Trust is entitled to the right of putting the
20% equity interest in PCKSP to the Group until the 2018 Disposal
Transactions are completed. The 2018 Disposal Transactions were
not completed as at 31 December 2020. Accordingly, notwithstanding
the fact that Yuecai Trust is the 20% legal shareholder of PCKSP in
2020, the Group continued to consolidate 100% assets and liabilities
of PCKSP for the year ended 31 December 2020.

On 27 February 2019, the Group entered into another disposal
agreement with Yuecai Trust and certain other related companies of
Yuecai Trust for the disposal of the remaining 80% equity interest
in PCKSP for a total consideration of RMB2,448 million. Details
have been disclosed in the Company’s circular issued on 25 March
2019. The related transactions constituted very substantial disposal
transactions under the relevant Listing Rules and have been
approved by the shareholders on 16 April 2019 (the “2019 Disposal
Transactions”).

On 15 June 2020, the Group entered into two supplemental
agreements (the “PCKSP Disposal Supplemental Agreements”) with
Yuecai Trust and certain of its other related companies to provide
a framework for the unwinding of the 2018 and 2019 Disposal
Transactions to pave the way for the negotiation and implementation
of the direct land resumption by the local authorities of Guangzhou.

110 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

ARIREBEFR (#)
ARMEARZER (&)

MisEt : (48)

RZZE-—NF-_A+-A AEEEF=HFERE (=
RERAR (B ERDITL—BEERZ URE
240,000,000 7T 1 %520% I 4 - 18 TAEHE M Z TS 2
ETAREHME FBULHEARRARZTE—NF=

AZttBTENBR-REEBELTRE BEXS

BREFERNEERS YER-_Z-N\FOATA
RESRRILE(TZE-NFHEXRS]) -
RIZE-N\F BHEAMERKRIMEEZLTAA

K #240,000,0007T &) X 1E - i & 8B RO 5 B 12 3%
EREET  EHE20% M RED B4 BRI 1 1% -
B {EREKNATBRH/INEN20% EERE A 1R
BihE BEMERARESERKINE MN20% RER S
AEE BHEZZT— )\ FLHEXFREH -RZT=_TF
+TZA=1+—H8 ZZE-N\FHEXIHRTHK - F -
RZZ_TF BEEUERREBHRIMEN20%E
ERE EAREERNEE—_E-_EF+_A=+—HB1t
FREEEAHEBESHIMENI0%EERBE-

R-Z—NF-_A-++tA AEEEREHFEEREEH
EENETEMBABR AR Y —BEEHE  LER
B AR #2,448,000,0007T ) & & B ZROL il E £ T80%
K- FBEEREBRARAR_E—NAF=ZA=THA
BHOBR -BERAELETHRA BHISEKIETE
KHHER G WER-_ZE—AENA+BESKRE
BmitE (I ZT—NAFEHEXS]) -

RZZB-ZEFXA+IER AEEHEEPERERETH
MEEARTUMBARAGE ([(ERKIHELER
ZH#E])  RER-_ZF-N\EFR-_ZE-NFHEXHR
H—EER UREMETERRANERERNEL
85 B o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

2.1

A

PE+=A=+—8

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note 1: (Continued)

On 15 September 2020, PCKSP entered into a land resumption
compensation agreement (the “Land Resumption Compensation
Agreement”) with, among others, the Guangzhou City Land
Development Centre (“Guangzhou LDC”), pursuant to which the
Guangzhou LDC has agreed to resume, and PCKSP has agreed to
offer to be resumed, the land for compensation of RMB3,453 million
and an early completion bonus payment subject to certain conditions
of RMB691 million.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, International Accounting
Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
Interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee that remain in effect, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and a derivative financial
instrument which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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2.1

RAREEESR (8

BRMERTRZEN (4)
GEARNE D)

RZZE_TFAATER BFRHIMEE (P HE)
BN AR O (TEMNM AP L) T+
R E A E R ([T EaERE]) Bk BNH
THAEFRLERERFE L MEBKIMECAE
BRI - bR E R AR 3,453,000,0007T
Kz E TR AT 2K 226 308 A R #691,000,0007T °

mEBERE

ZEPBHRRDIREABR S ENREESRM
MERSEREERN BERESFENEESHE
VTHBERZBEREHEAREHREZES
BEMEBRRAFAKRIZHERERE L TIUE
SRAEGRBE EREVERTESHB T RIZ
NP EFFERI ZFMHREAARE (TAR
B2 BREEIREN FERECEZEE
REMETIT

REEE

HEMBRARBRASBEHE_FT _FTF+_H
St BLEFEZMBEBER -MBARELRRQF
ERGEAEESNCER (BEREBLER) -EX
EEREBHE2EAERZEREHRAE DR
ZEBAEN WREH IR EH REREE N
EmBeR (NREEMNAEANEBENERE
BREVRZMAEEY) AIRXRAEEERR
BHR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 REEE (®)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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REEE (#)
EARPEEABMERAINREHRAZ K
SRABEUENE RFGAEEHZREHR

BHEARNR AEEEEMERBEENRE
B

(a) BZREHRIHEMBREREEAZAN
Lk

(b) HMAKNTHELZEN:

(c) AEBZREERBERERE

MEBARPBRRNBS AEBAARRER I
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.1

|
A

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Going concern basis

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded net current
liabilities of RMB950,203,000 (2019: net current assets of
RMB140,628,000). In view of this circumstance, the directors
of the Company have considered the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern.

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and cash flows to
sustain the Group as a going concern, the Group implemented
or is in the process of implementing the following measures:

(1) Active working on the land restoration under
the Land Resumption Compensation Agreement
The Group is actively working on the land restoration,
including but not limited to soil remediation under
the Land Resumption Compensation Agreement,
and expects to receive the remaining compensation
amounting to RMB1,381 million and the early completion
bonus payments amounting to RMB691 million in 2021.
In March 2021, an independent reputable financial
institution in Mainland China agreed to provide a banking
facility of up to RMB890 million to the Group, the
proceeds of which can only used to finance the related
cash flows for the soil remediation under the Land
Resumption Compensation Agreement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BF RS R AR BT T

31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H

21 REEXE (@)

FEEEEE (M)
(2) BBBHAHANEREHUEIREMNERZE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
(2) Active negotiation to extend the repayment

terms of the loans from Yuecai Trust and
Guangzhou Xingchen Consultation Company
Limited (“Xingchen”)

As at 31 December 2020, included in the balance of
the Group’s short-term interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings were loans from Yuecai Trust and Xingchen
of RMB818 million which do not have fixed repayment
terms. The directors consider that such loans are not
required to be repaid until the Group has adequate
working capital.

(3) Active negotiation with banks to obtain

adequate bank borrowings to finance the
Group’s operations

Subsequent to 31 December 2020 and up to the date
of this report, the Group renewed the existing loans
of RMB110 million with related banks. The Group will
continue to actively negotiate with the banks for the
renewal of the Group’s borrowings when they fall due or
obtain additional sources of finance to meet the Group’s
working capital and financial requirements in the near
future. The directors of the Company have evaluated
all the relevant facts available to them and are of the
opinion that they have a good track record or relationship
with the banks which will enhance the Group’s ability to
renew the Group’s loans upon expiry.

(4) Active negotiations with debtors on

()

outstanding receivables

Management is actively following up with its debtors
on outstanding receivables with an aim of agreeing a
repayment schedule with each of them.

Improvement of the Group’s operating cash
flows

The Group is taking measures to tighten cost control
over various production costs and expenses with the aim
to attain profitable and positive cash flow operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.1

A

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow
forecast for the Group which covers a period of twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Taking into account
the fulfilment of land restoration, including but not limited to
soil remediation under the Land Resumption Compensation
Agreement which could provide additional funds for the
Group, coupled with positive cash flows from the Group’s
steel pipes business and the continued sale of the Group’s
existing real estate projects, the directors considered that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of
the Group have been prepared on a going concern basis.

However, the progress of fulfilment of the land restoration
under the Land Resumption Compensation Agreement
including the soil remediation influences the future cash flow
prospects and the fulfilment of the land restoration is subject
to the acceptance by the local authorities. Further, the current
market situation is uncertain and vulnerable, and it may also
further impact the Group’s future sales. The validity of the
going concern assumption based on which the consolidated
financial statements are prepared is dependent on favourable
outcomes of the events as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realised at amounts other than those
which are currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide
for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised IFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions (early adopted)
Definition of Material

and IAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the new and revised IFRSs are

described below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive
set of concepts for financial reporting and standard
setting, and provides guidance for preparers of financial
statements in developing consistent accounting policies
and assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting financial
performance, new guidance on the derecognition of
assets and liabilities, and updated definitions and
recognition criteria for assets and liabilities. It also
clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and
measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts
or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

PE+=A=+—8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

A

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The
amendments clarify that for an integrated set of activities
and assets to be considered a business, it must include,
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the
inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The
amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is
on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions
or other events that occurred on or after 1 January
2020. The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period
before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”).
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period
of uncertainty before the introduction of the alternative
RFR. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about their
hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties. The amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group
as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d)

Amendment to IFRS 16 provides a practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The practical
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the pandemic and only if
(i) the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in
lease payments affects only payments originally due on
or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive
change to other terms and conditions of the lease. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application permitted
and shall be applied retrospectively. The amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group as there are no changes to
the terms of the leases of the Group arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the

financial position and performance of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BHEMEERER BB ®REE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7,
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 27

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts?®

Insurance Contracts®®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®®

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates?®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract ?
Amendments to IFRS 1,
IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples

2018-2020 accompanying IFRS 16, and
IAS 412
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CEHEMEERER BT BHREE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

5 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in June
2020, IFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023.

Further information about the IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
March 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to IFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual
Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS
37 or IFRIC 21 if they were incurred separately rather than
assumed in a business combination, an entity applying IFRS 3
should refer to IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the
Group will not be affected by these amendments on the date

of transition.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.3

|
A

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments
which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The Phase
2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of
IFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform
on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied
retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the

comparative information.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CEHEMEERER BT BHREE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the
London Interbank Offered Rate (“‘LIBOR”) as at 31 December
2020. If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced
by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply this practical
expedient upon the modification of these borrowings when the
“economically equivalent” criterion is met and expects that no
significant modification gain or loss will arise as a result of
applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

A

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the
entity has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end
of the reporting period if it complies with those conditions
at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively
only to items of property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the entity first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 CEHEMEERER BT BHREE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under IAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well
as contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract
and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to
the counterparty under the contract. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of
the annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

124 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

al (&)

RETRERETRIETARS HBBEERS
AAENEIVRIEENRETBAEBAOME &
TEANKABRREESNERABMNKAR - EE
HERBEBNRABREITZAE NHIEERA (F)
WEEZSTEMH)REBTANERMABNA
R ADE (PIMABEERBITENMANE BE
ERBEANFTEAINLENEENEEK
) e —BETBRABSOYEERRE  BR
FREBEAVAERNEF HURER BRI TERE
ER-ZEBIN_F__F—A—BH KA
BHEEHEAEN TEAREEREERER
ZEBTNEFERSHRNHRBEITERAEERN
BR-AHRFEA -V ERBZFETOMEM
REPERERRERNERB BN ERNH
B MBABILKREN ZEFEITBRHTIEY
AEENMBEHRTENTAEARE -

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.3

A

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are substantially
different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between
the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s
behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

. IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying IFRS 16.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEEHHEBE

POLICIES

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in a joint venture is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of a joint venture is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in the joint
venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the joint venture is included as part of the
Group’s investment in a joint venture.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.4

A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and derivative
financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties, goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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2.4

A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEEHHEME (80
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties BRER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHBERT BRATBRAEANERNEES

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (a)

family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(ili) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or =4

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b)
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

A

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
useful lives and residual values used for this purpose are as

follows:

Buildings

BF

Plant and machinery

5 Kt 28

Office and other equipment
WMAERHMBAE

Motor vehicles

e

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction, which are stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property
for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Right-
of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up
to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories to
investment properties, any difference between the fair value
of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 T EEHHERE (@)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued) REWE (#)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for BIEHEN I RBEERHESEH
sale
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held WIERBEERHESENEEOENETEZEHBT
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally EXFMIEERFEGERMEE  BesEAERE
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing EHE WERERREEXHESEATNRIERR
use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must THRHE (HEEXHEZSEEXHEEEZ
be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject — R EBIK Aﬁﬁ%ﬁ PR RARAE AT eEEM % & -
only to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of PEALESENNBARIZIBEEERARS
such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly E?ﬁ”*ﬁz%ﬁ{’?ﬂjﬁ CARAEETCHERRD
probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as EEAEAFREIEERE R -

a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its
former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than DEABELENERDEEREESEE (T
investment properties and financial assets) classified as BREVMERSREE) VIRAEREENAEA ﬂ?
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying BEREEKAMERZBREETE - DEAFE
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and HENME BEAREUNBREETITHE
equipment and intangible assets classified as held for sale SRS o

are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

A

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,

a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use

of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease

liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets

representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

A

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:
Leasehold land 10 to 50 years
Buildings 2 to 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

24 FEETEHERBE (#)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBFERBFRHEA (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement HEaERHERGAHREEHEBRS

NOBESNRERR B2 eBEEENK (2

date of the lease at the present value of lease payments

to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced

RELEEMNR)BREMERESESR £
RE—FEBR RN EE S MR EF &
BERERFIBINNEE -HETEER
SEAEBEENRTENBEEREZENITE
ERZEAEMHE R (HEEHRRA
SETEKLEAERER) WIFERK—
BHALLENEHcEBENROEN
SHIEFBEEHMER R -

EHEHESMNRER AREENE S X

TBWEE AEBESEMEERMKG B ML
ERENMX-FAmAHR HERABENEE
ERRFMEMEHENERE XN EEE
HAR - pt o A EH AR HEEH -
TEA“@JJ(WUZZD'%-?E%(ﬁttf“sﬁbﬁﬁ

for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying BYARESEE) NBEERFEENRE
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a B GHEE AHSEaGENREAETUERN
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in FrEe

lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

AEEWHEERRGED
B8 -

FERAGTRRITREAM

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

138 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

A

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets that
are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are

earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development represent properties being
developed for sale and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the prepaid land lease
payments or cost of land together with any other direct costs
attributable to the development of the properties and other
related expenses capitalised during the development period.
Net realisable value is determined by the directors based on
the prevailing market prices on an individual property basis
less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. Once the development of these
properties is completed, these properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale.

Revenue is only recognised upon completion of the
development. Sales deposits/instalments received and
receivable from purchasers in respect of the pre-sale of
properties under development prior to the completion of the
development are included in current liabilities.

If a property under development is intended to be redeveloped
into an owner-managed property, it is transferred to
construction in progress at the carrying amount.
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2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all development
expenditure, applicable borrowing costs and other direct
costs attributable to such properties. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
determined by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices on an individual property basis less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

If an item of completed property held for sale becomes owner-
managed, it is transferred to property, plant and equipment at
the carrying amount.

For a transfer from an item of completed property held for
sale to investment property that will be carried at fair value
as its use has changed as evidenced by the commencement
of an operating lease, any difference between the fair value
of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount
shall be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

|
A

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 T EEHHERE (@)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued) REREMEHEE (&)
Subsequent measurement (Continued) HEGE (&)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) BERFEFABZBEE (&)
This category includes equity investments which the Group ZEANPEASEEIT AN HEMERY B AR
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through AFEEFAEMEARZZBRAIEE - BT
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments i B AR BAE A B R s R P B8 M AR SR B
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or BERESEHEIEIER DHEAKRATEA
loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of BRsemEENRAREZRETNEBEREXF
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, R R EMUA -

it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets RIEBAERMEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial SREE (K (WER) —HemEEN —HH K

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily —HREEREEN D) ETBETIERE

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated WRIEHER (AEAKE 26 M BARR KT H

statement of financial position) when: B

—  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have - WEBRZEEEMGRSAENENDILE
expired; or Bk

—  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows - AFAEECHZEEWDRZEBEEEMSRERE
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the B4 B - kAR 1R f%%EJ KT?F?%H%‘E‘/xﬁE_ﬁ
received cash flows in full without material delay to a BERNBERATME BEENFABRS
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁ&'ﬂ( )ZKEEL%E?IEQF
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the BB KB R B K B R - 3k (b )$%lﬂ£ﬁ
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has EE%EW%‘EQE%IE%E%@K*E % K [B] % -
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks BEREEZEEENEHE-

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4

A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLSs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4

A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, a derivative financial instrument, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.
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2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of:
(i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on the weighted

average basis

Work in progress and Cost of direct materials, direct
finished goods labour and an appropriate

proportion of overheads

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred income tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or
loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

(a) when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

(b) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

(a) when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

(b) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. Where the
grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to deferred
income account and deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.
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2.4

|
A

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchasers obtained the physical possession
or the legal title of the completed property and the Group
has a present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Manufacturing services

Revenue from the provision of manufacturing services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the manufacturing
services.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension schemes.

Other benefits

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined
contribution housing, medical and other benefit plans
organised by the PRC government. The PRC government
undertakes to assume the benefit obligations of all existing
and retired employees under these plans. Contributions to
these plans by the Group are expensed as incurred. The
Group has no further obligations for benefits for their qualified
employees under these plans.

156 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BREE
BHAERAREERABERIRBAAETF
WEIN R KRB (URFEERE)ER A
HMBERAKRBERETAHN (AREFPEEMERE
an 3 AR 5 A0 P2 I 4 ) B RERR R LA ©

EBEREF

RikE:E
AEBRBARFERTESA GO AAERSZM
ERETRBIERATEERRENTS ([RER
AEDMEERIBESFE -HATIRERER
EFHFNETASLEE YRERBERESTE
BOKAENEERET R -RESFENE
ENEAEENEESR A KBLEENE
SRB -AKEENETHANMBIES B MR
REZEREREME -

AEBERFEAELENHNBARNEENEAS
SR E M T BN R LA R SRR KB FIET B - %
MEAR AR REREMNEELIEEFEK
A& T L A 3R - RN R IR o RARIRAE A&
EmRAENKEBRERPMR-

At 57

AEEBARBHTERFEENERERES
B o A48 A T I 3R o T BT (R BB AR %
EFABTHERBRERBENRMNET KK
BHZEFENHRRRELR I AEEZ
FEHHESERERY BREMENTENRE-

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

|
A

POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

As part of its normal business, the Group transferred certain
bills receivable to banks in Mainland China (the “Discounted
Bills”) in order to obtain sufficient cash for operation. The
Group may be required to reimburse the bank for loss of
interest if any trade debtors have late payment up to 180
days. The Group is not exposed to default risks of the trade
debtors after the transfer. Subsequent to the transfer, the
Group did not retain any rights on the use of Discounted
Bills, including the sale, transfer or pledge of Discounted
Bills to any other third parties. The original carrying value of
Discounted Bills that have not been settled as at 31 December
2020 was RMB12,282,000 (2019: RMB14,939,000).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
subsidiaries in Mainland China according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing and amount
of the payment of the dividend. Withholding taxes are only
provided for the profits of the subsidiaries in Mainland China
which the Group considers probable to be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease,
the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale in the ordinary
course of business and properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is designated
as an investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention for holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development for sale included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale shortly after its completion,
whereas the properties are accounted for as investment
properties under construction included in investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of
the properties, the properties held for sale in the ordinary
course of business are transferred to completed properties
for sale and are stated at cost, while the properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to
completed investment properties. Investment properties, both
under construction and completed, are subject to revaluation
at the end of each reporting period.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in production, or from a
change in the market demand for the product or service output
of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and
legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of
the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year
end date based on changes in circumstances.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves significant management’s judgements regarding the
future performance of a particular legal entity or tax group in
which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in considering whether there
is convincing evidence that it is probable that some portions
or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised,
such as the existence of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying amounts of the deferred
tax assets and related financial models and budgets are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and to the extent
that there is insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available within the utilisation periods
to allow the utilisation of the carryforward of tax losses, and
that the asset balance will be reduced and charged to profit or
loss.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

A write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the write-down involves management’s
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome or
expectation in future is different from the original estimate,
such differences will have an impact on the carrying amount
of inventories and the write-down/write-back of inventories in
the period in which such estimate has been changed. Further
details are given in note 21 to the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type,
and coverage by credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

|
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ZHFE+-_A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs of
properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties
under development during the construction stage and will
be transferred to completed properties held for sale upon
completion. Apportionment of these costs will be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of the properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other costs relating
to the sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the
Group based on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
cost of such phase. Costs that are common to different
phases are allocated to individual phases based on the
estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related cost
allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase
or decrease in the development costs and other costs would
affect the profit or loss in future years.

PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in Mainland
China. The provision for land appreciation tax is based on
management’s best estimates according to its understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. The actual land appreciation tax liabilities
are subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
the completion of the property development projects. The
Group has not finalised its land appreciation tax calculations
and payments with the tax authorities for certain property
development projects.

The final outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and any differences will impact the
land appreciation tax expenses and the related provision in
the period in which the differences are realised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the steel pipes segment engages in the manufacture and
sale of welded steel pipes and the provision of related
manufacturing services; and

(b) the property development and investment segment
engages in development of properties for sale and
property investment for its rental income potential.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that
head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, EESTER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-_ZE-_EF+-A=+—-HLEE
Property
development
Steel pipes and investment Total
HE WERBERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Segment revenue: (note 5) DERUWA : (HEEES)
Sales to external customers MmN EPIHE 1,125,851 15,956 1,141,807
Segment results PEEE 987,220 (67,910) 919,310
Reconciliation: HE:
Corporate and other unallocated REAIREMAN AL

expenses (14,056)
Finance costs (other than interest MEXA (HERBENERIN)

on lease liabilities) (28,593)
Loss before tax BREAIEE 876,661
Segment assets PHEE 4,831,520 5,701,932 10,533,452
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment receivables ?fﬁﬁﬁ 7 #B U IR (2,553,323)
Corporate and other unallocated assets NAREMRAEEE 561,399
Total assets BEE 8,541,528
Segment liabilities FBEE 6,479,771 3,415,310 9,895,081
Reconciliation: k-
Elimination of intersegment payables 85 9 5P ] FE A 5k IB (2,553,323)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 27 &% £t K HE & & 343,075
Total liabilities BEE 7,684,833
Other segment information HthpHER
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE—HaERaEE (2,668) - (2,668)
Impairment losses recognised in REZRBERZREBETE

the statement of profit or loss, net (14,338) - (14,338)
Depreciation and amortisation FrERSHE (128,126) (199) (128,325)
Investment in a joint venture R—BEERRZIRE 10,510 = 10,510
Capital expenditure* EAREZ 61,328 20 61,348
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(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2019

H

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —Z-—ZTF+-H=+

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4,

EEDMER (&)

BE-_Z—-NF+ZA=+—HLFE

Property
development

Steel pipes  and investment Total
HE WERTERE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTTT ARETTT
Segment revenue: (note 5) DEWA - (FFEES)
Sales to external customers mANEDE 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Segment results DEELE (341,190) 278,308 (62,882)
Reconciliation: El
Corporate and other unallocated REAIREMANRAL
expenses (47,657)
Finance costs (other than interest BMEKAE (HERBEFNERIN)
on lease liabilities) (44,690)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (155,229)
Segment assets PHEE 4,351,083 5,651,968 10,003,051
Reconciliation: ESl
Elimination of intersegment receivables  #54> 25 & & Ye 7 78 (2,293,903)
Corporate and other unallocated assets A7 R EMADEEE 780,658
Total assets BEE 8,489,806
Segment liabilities FHEE 6,935,784 3,300,340 10,236,124
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment payables 55 53 0 FEl FE 5 500R (2,293,903)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities A& & E kD E & & 492,616
Total liabilities FCE=E 8,434,837
Other segment information HthpHER
Share of loss of a joint venture BE—HaE R aBE (18,655) - (18,655)
Impairment losses recognised in REZRBERZRESETE
the statement of profit or loss, net (41,460) - (41,460)
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH (132,021) (215) (132,236)
Investment in a joint venture R—BagnrazkE 13,177 - 13,177
Capital expenditure* v 62,523 45 62,568
s Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARAIBREANEVE BEREENUREAR

equipment and right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. EESTER (@)
(Continued)
Information about steel pipe products and services HEERRRKEER
The revenue from the major products and services is analysed FEEMERBOHWADHTEOT :
as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Manufacture and sale of steel pipes: B REEWNE
LSAW steel pipes HHEEBENEE 655,108 835,348
SSAW steel pipes BIEIRE 121,354 29,645
ERW steel pipes BEEEE - 7,803
Steel pipe manufacturing services: 5 B 58 AR A -
LSAW steel pipes HEEBIEE 152,322 167,859
SSAW steel pipes BIERE 131,981 52,335
ERW steel pipes BEEE - 62
Others* HAoh* 65,086 48,613
1,125,851 1,141,665
Sale of properties HEWME 15,956 52,296
1,141,807 1,193,961
* Others mainly include the manufacture and sale of steel fittings, * HMTZRRYEREEMEE M BN &
screw-thread steels and scrap materials, and the trading of EERE AR B B R EMEAR o

equipment and steel plates.

BIfmRAREESERER2T 169

\
A
4y
"H
¥t
£
]:_1

A



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) The revenue information based on the locations of the

customers is as follows:

EEDMER (&)

i B &R
(@) WAEHREFMESREDINT

2020 2019
—g-%8F -—T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Sales to external customers: RN R FHE -
Mainland China R A 3D 1,014,108 1,059,584
Middle East R 3,249 56,638
Other Asian countries HE i MBE R 124,450 77,739
1,141,807 1,193,961

(b) Over 90% of the Group’s assets and capital expenditure
are located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB105,246,000 (2019:
RMB270,000,000) was derived from sales by the steel pipe
segment to a single customer, including sales to a group of
entities which are known to be under common control with
that customer.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hfihw AR W=
Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold and WA EEFRNEEEMMATRERFENEZREE "
services rendered, net of value-added tax (“VAT”) and other MR ED (GER]) REMEEH W2 A
sales taxes, after allowances for returns and discounts during RERITNEE-
the year.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains REEBWA - B A R KRS T
is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EHF ZE-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR T ARBEF T

Revenue from contracts with customers RHEZEF&S#HZWA
Manufacture and sale of seam welded steel #liE & $5E B4 IEHHE &

pipes and the provision of RIEEARERE
related manufacturing services 1,125,851 1,141,665
Sale of properties HEYE 15,956 52,296
1,141,807 1,193,961
Other income and gains Ha W A & Wz
Bank interest income RITHE A 715 23,794
Subsidy income from the PRC government = Bl BT &9 4 BE U A (BT 7£31) *
(note 31)* 14,092 34,764
Gain on resumption of land use rights Bt AEREETER
to the local authorities** U BR A Ut i+ 1,864,709 368,305
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables ‘Z 5 & & Bf R E B @ 22 12,884 =
Others H At 18,872 14,884
1,911,272 441,747
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Conhnued)

** 1)

** 2)

*k 3)

The subsidy income represents subsidies granted by the local
finance bureaus to PCKSP and PCKSP (Zhuhai) as awards
for their products. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to such subsidies.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a piece of land held
by PCKSP located at Qinghe East Road, Shiji Town in Panyu
District of Guangzhou, the PRC, was resumed by the local
authority with a compensation amount of RMB16,923,000, and
a net gain amounting to RMB15,795,000 was recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a piece of land held
by Pearl Steel Investment was resumed by the local authority
with a compensation amount of RMB1,520 million and a net gain
amounting to RMB352,510,000 was recognised in other income
and gains during the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a piece of land held
by PCKSP located at Qinghe East road, Shiji Town in Panyu
District of Guangzhou, the PRC, was resumed by the local
authority with a compensation amount received or receivable
of RMB2,072 million and a net gain of RMB1,864 million was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2020. The
remaining compensation amount of RMB2,072 million in the
Land Resumption Compensation Agreement is subject to
uncertainty and not recognised as at 31 December 2020.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
Year ended 31 December 2020

WA~ H AR s (#)

REEFEHZWA
(i) ZEUAEH
BE-_Z_ZF+-_A=+—HLEE

Property

development
Steel pipes and investment Total
HE YERBRERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR¥T T ARBTR

Sale of goods/properties HEER/ ME 841,548 15,956 857,504
Rendering of services 1R PR 75 284,303 - 284,303
Total revenue from contracts RERFAEHZHBIA

with customers 1,125,851 15,956 1,141,807
Geographical markets it & 45
Mainland China A A 998,152 15,956 1,014,108
Middle East 2 3,249 - 3,249
Other Asian countries HAh MBEIR 124,450 - 124,450
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEH 2 BIA

customers 1,125,851 15,956 1,141,807
Timing of revenue recognition WATER RS
Goods/properties transferred Ee/MERE—ERER

at a point in time 841,548 15,956 857,504
Services transferred over time Be I B8 1% AR 7% 284,303 = 284,303
Total revenue from contracts with RKEREFAHzARA

customers 1,125,851 15,956 1,141,807
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %R R MR

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -HMWARWKE (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REEFEHZWA (#)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) BDEKRAEH (&)

Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z—hEF+-A=+—HLEFE

Property
development
Steel pipes  and investment Total
HE WMERTFERE BEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTT ARBT T
Sale of goods/properties HEEM/ ME 921,409 52,296 973,705
Rendering of services RERS 220,256 - 220,256
Total revenue from contracts REEFAHOZBRA
with customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Geographical markets it & T 3%
Mainland China A B A3 1,007,288 52,296 1,059,584
Middle East FE 56,638 - 56,638
Other Asian countries Hp B R 77,739 = 77,739
Total revenue from contracts with REBEFEHZBWA
customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Timing of revenue recognition WATEREE
Goods/properties transferred e MERE—BRRER
at a point in time 921,409 52,296 973,705
Services transferred over time B I 8 1% AR 7% 220,256 = 220,256
Total revenue from contracts with RERFAEHZHBKA
customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
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31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

WA~ H AR s (#)

REEFEHZBA (8)

(i) ZDEBRAEH (&)
TRITRAREHRCERBAPEFAR
BEMVEGVBEERIRNBEHREEEK
BHEEERZERE:

2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBFTT
Revenue recognised that was included FARBEHANENEREZ
in contract liabilities at the beginning of TREREWA :
the reporting period:
Sale of steel pipes i & 5 & 65,600 182,914
Rendering of manufacturing services 1B R 1S 21,896 26,398
Sale of properties YIS 15,745 41,745
103,241 251,057

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of steel pipes

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the goods and payment is generally due within one year
from the invoice date, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of properties
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the physical
possession or when the legal title of the completed
property is obtained by the purchasers.

Manufacturing services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 50 days from the date of delivery or customer
acceptance of the product processed.

WA~ H AR s (#)

REEFEFEHZWA (&)

(i) BRIEF (&)
EZ b
BHEEDHRESBEMEBETIYES
BEEDRIYE Y F T LR ER -

HERF

BEEREER BOEBHEAET AR
REBRBONR-—RAEXNHELBREE
EEmAHRAS0ANEIE-

6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. HEMH
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
N AR¥T AREEF T
Compensation* BEE™* 204,377 =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HERB AT ZEE - 20,107
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE WEREE

plant and equipment HEB ZEE 11,962 -
Provision of claims arising from litigation FAEENRERE 54,579 =
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W RO A 22 = 3,845
Impairment of other receivables H b & Y FRIE SR E 23 27,222 37,615
Others Hib 2,562 7,821
300,702 69,388

J Compensation represented a compensation fee paid or payable * FEREBREFERIMELE AR D IE

to Yuecai Trust pursuant to the PCKSP Disposal Supplemental
Agreements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after

BRBLATER (EE)
REBORBATRF] (B58) THEI% (GHA)

A

charging/(crediting):

THBREBES:

2020 2019
—EBC-EF —T-hF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBEFT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAE 921,216 940,229
Cost of properties sold EEMENAK 13,904 41,540
Depreciation of property, ME BELREETE
plant and equipment 13 98,748 98,973
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18 29,577 33,263
Lease payments not included in REFAHEBEFENHENRIEA
the measurement of lease liabilities - 322
Gain on resumption of land use rights E s AR E
to the local authorities** B B U ER &9 Ui as (1,864,709) (368,305)
Auditor’s remuneration 2% EX AT B & 2,227 2,524
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAFAS (BRREES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): N (FEE9) ) -
Wages and salaries TERFE® 114,704 108,920
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RURAE FIFT 81 4 5% 7,889 10,094
Reversal of impairment of trade E 5 FE W BR SRRk (B =]+
receivables** 22 (12,884) -
Impairment of trade receivables* Z 5 W R FURE* 22 - 3,845
Impairment of other receivables* H b e IR IE R (B 23 27,222 37,615
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment wEMEZRNTE
properties (B#B) s 16 (20,000) 78,008
Fair value gain on a derivative financial MESRI A AFERKE
instrument 32 - 19,260
Bank interest income** RITH B U A 5 (715) (23,794)
Research and development costs 7 3% AR A 44,050 32,890
& Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of * FFAGREBRERAHMER]

profit or loss

*k

statement of profit or loss
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

== >
B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —Z=-ZF+-_A=+—H
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERX
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKASTIT
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR T ARBET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings MITREAMEBEFE
(including bonds and notes, (BREEFRER
excluding lease liabilities) HE& BRI 543,808 523,468
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaGENEA 18 654 794
Interest on discounted bills BEREEFR B 1,388 4,368
Total interest expense on financial liabilities I 3% A FEE AIB 2
not at fair value through profit or loss cRBEMY LT ERZAE 545,850 528,630
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAREF B (70,466) (78,572)
475,384 450,058

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),(b),(c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of

9. EEHM

the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

FR - BEEFNZFBRELTRE-FEAA
15 5125383(1)(a) (b)* (c) R (g X NaE (HEE
FEFFER) RO F2MHEEMT

2020 2019

—E-EfF —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBEF T

Fees we 581 591
Other emoluments: HEMe :

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEREYEF 3,523 3,858

Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKAE FI 5T 850 37 67

3,560 3,925

4,141 4,516
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9.

== >3
B ERFR ML
31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 9. EEFM (@)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHMITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RERN ENBIFERTES2ESOT:
during the year were as follows:
2020 2019
—E-TH —NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AR®EF T
Mr. Chen Ping BRF o & 198 198
Mr. See Tak Wah* ME{EEE S A * — 146
Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah* B[S B 2 S A 185 49
Mr. Tian Xiao Ren HEgEkE 198 198
581 591
e Mr. See Tak Wah resigned on 1 October 2019, and Mr. Au * MEEAER_T—NAF+A—BHEHET @
Yeung Kwong Wah was appointed on the same day. BEEELERR AR
There were no other emoluments payable to the REN BEENTEBIERTESTNEM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (ZE—NEFE:-|)-
(2019: Nil).
(b) Executive directors (b) BITES
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
e RER RBRAERFE
e BMEA HM 3 B 48 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR®TR ARBTT ARBTT
Year ended 31 December 2020 HE-ZE-ZfF
tTZA=t+—-HLEE
Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Chen Chang BRESHE = 1,614 = 1,614
Mr. Chen Guo Xiong* BoR B 2 S A - 240 - 240
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian BIKF 2+ - 915 19 934
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua* BRIKE L+ - 754 18 772
- 3,523 37 3,560

A

A
4y
"H
¥t
£
o

BIRMARRMEZRERAT 179
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 9.
(b) Executive directors (Continued)

ESHM (m
(b) BITESE (4)

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits in scheme Total
Fees kind contributions remuneration
He EZUMk EBAREAEE
we EMEF R Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARET T ARET T
Year ended 31 December 2019 HE-ZT—h#F
tTZA=+—-HLHFE
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Chen Chang BRE &K 4E - 1,891 - 1,891
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian BRIKF et - 975 32 1,007
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua BRIkEL L+ - 992 35 1,027
- 3,858 67 3,925
& Ms. Chen Zhao Hua resigned on 1 October 2020, and * BkELZLTR T _TFE+A—BHEE M
Mr. Chen Guo Xiong was appointed on the same day. PREQME S ERN B AR T
There was no arrangement under which a director REANLEFMNEEREXRERETW
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the HFNm -
year.
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEBEFHES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
are analysed as follows:

AEERFANABRSHEEDOMANT

Number of employees

EE®AR
2020 2019
—B-EF —T-hF
Directors ) 3 3
Non-director highest paid employees IFEERSFEE 2
5 5
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

10.

A

TE+-A=+—8

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)
Details of the remuneration of the above directors are set
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the above
non-director highest paid employees during the year are as
follows:

10. A€ B EHES (&)

FREE HWEEBIIN EXM e o F i3
EFREHRANEROTIMFENT -

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETF T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMNEMEH 1,073 1,258
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRAE A FT I 5k 15 25
1,088 1,283

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration which fell within the
following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/%8 7T

THFHEENFEZRIFRNTERITRARR
SHEEABMT:

Number of employees

EEHA
2020 2019
—g-%8% -—T-hF
2 2

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the directors or any of the five highest paid employees
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

\
A
4y
"H
¥t
£
]:_1

RER AEEREAZSETLIEESFE
B ] — & S AHER B £ 1 RS I A A S B =X
AN 55 [ Y 52 B o Rl Beh v 1
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31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX 1. FiEH

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)
The Company, which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
is not subject to CIT.

Lessonstart Enterprises Limited (“Lessonstart”) and Lucknow
Consultants Limited (“Lucknow”), which were incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, are not subject to CIT.

Crown Central Holdings Limited (“Crown Central”), Chu
Kong Steel Pipe Group Co., Ltd. (“CKSPG”) and View Sharp
International Limited (“View Sharp”), which were incorporated
in Hong Kong, were subject to profits tax at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in
Hong Kong during the year.

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP”), as a
High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) qualified on
16 December 2008 and with the qualification renewed in 2011,
2014 and 2017, was entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% from
1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. For the year ended
31 December 2020, PCKSP was subject to CIT at a rate of
25%. Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP
(Zhuhai)”), as a HNTE qualified on 30 September 2015 and
with the qualification renewed in 2018, is entitled to a reduced
tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.
Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe (Lianyungang) Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP
(Lianyungang)”), as a HNTE qualified on 5 December 2019, is
entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2019 to
31 December 2021.
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

1.

A

PE+=A=+—8

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)

Zhuhai Zhugang Wharf Co. Ltd. (“Zhugang Wharf”) and
Zhuhai Zhonghai Xin Building Materials Industry and Trade
Co., Ltd. (“Zhonghai Xin”) meet the requirements of tax
privileges for small enterprises and were entitled to a reduced
tax rate of 10%.

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, except for certain preferential tax treatments
available to PCKSP (Zhuhai), PCKSP (Lianyungang), Zhugang
Wharf and Zhonghai Xin, the companies of the Group which
operate in Mainland China were subject to CIT at a rate of
25% on their respective taxable income for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been
calculated at the prevailing tax rates, based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights and
buildings in Mainland China (being the proceeds from the
sale of properties less deductible expenditures including
borrowing costs and property development expenditures) is
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
of the appreciation of land value with an exemption provided
for property sales of ordinary residential properties if their
appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.

The Group estimated and made provision for LAT according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the
property development projects and the LAT determined by the
tax authorities might be different from the basis on which the
provision for LAT is calculated.
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31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H
11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FTBH (&)
The major components of the income tax expense/(credit) for FAMBHER/ (Ke)MEZMAKTIWT
the year are as follows:
2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBEF T
Current — Mainland China BNER —rp B A 3
PRC CIT Charge for the year FARBEPEMSH I D 77,182 94,793
PRC CIT overprovision in prior years MEFERBECEMSHHBEERE (25,160) (11,794)
PRC LAT A I E R 2,088 7,579
Deferred (note 20) IRIE (FF7E20) 199,640 (103,718)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year FARBER, (Kk)BE 253,750 (13,140)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the countries in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax expense/(credit) at the Group’s effective tax rates,
and a reconciliation of the applicable rates to the effective tax
rates, are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020

BARTTERBANES, (BB HHER L (&
RABREKIHHBABMENBEREE R
) RASERERBRFEORERAR
(BR)NERERERANEEERHROHEN
T

BE-_Z-_ZF+-A=+—HLEE

Mainland China Hong Kong and others Total
HE R ERREMHEE FoHy
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Loss before tax BREAIER 1,059,895 (183,234) 876,661
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEREFENTE 264,973 25.0 (866) 05 264,107 30.1
Tax effect of: REYE:
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority B ARG ZBRERE (62) - - - (62) =
Expenses not deductible for tax TAMBERES 28,533 2.7 - - 28,533 3.3
Adjustments in respect of current tax of HRTHENEREZ AR
previous periods (25,160) (2.4) - - (25,160) (2.9)
Loss attributable to a joint venture Efi-EaERaER 667 0.1 - - 667 0.1
Effect of utilisation of tax loss not FAEEARRZEDA
recognised in prior years HWEEE 72 (61,394) (5.8) - - (61,394) (7.0)
Temporary difference EREZR (114) - - - (114) =
Provision for LAT TIEEREE 2,088 0.2 - - 2,088 0.2
Tax effect of LAT THEER RBTE (522) (0.1) - - (522) (0.1)
Tax loss not recognised in the current year ~ AFE ABRHBER 44,141 4.2 866 (0.5) 45,607 5.2
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate EASEERH L E 2 HAERH 253,750 239 - - 253,750 28.9
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31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. Fﬁ?%ﬁ(%é)
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZE —hWE+ZA=+—-BLEE
Mainland China Hong Kong and others Total
RE R EAREME st
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT
Loss before tax BRRAEE (42,294) (112,935) (155,229)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREENHIE (10,574) 25.0 (2,435) 2.2 (13,009) 8.4
Tax effect of: HBye:
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority BMEAERG  RERE (22) 0.1 - - (22) -
Expenses not deductible for tax TAMBRX 8,824 (20.9) = = 8,824 (5.7)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of YR ARMEHIE AR
previous periods (11,794) 27.9 - - (11,794) 76
Loss attributable to a joint venture EfE-HaEnaER 4,664 (11.0) - - 4,664 (3.0)
Temporary difference TRiEER (35,210) 83.3 - - (35,210) 227
Provision for LAT T EEREE 7,579 (17.9) = = 7,579 (4.9)
Tax effect of LAT THEER RBTE (1,895) 45 = = (1,895) 12
Tax loss not recognised in the current year ~ AFEABAREBA 25,288 (59.8) 2,435 (2.2) 27,723 (17.9)
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax rate ~ EASEERH LB HARE (13,140) 31.1 - - (13,140) 8.5
12. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 12. BAFAEEREAFEEABEERERN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY (B1R)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share is based BRERNEF, (BE)RES AR L BRA
on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary equity BEANELFERMN/ (BE)RFABETYE
holders of the parent and the weighted average number of A% AN HE 19 801,011,142,0000% ( =T — A&
ordinary shares of 1,011,142,000 (2019: 1,011,142,000) in 1,011,142,0000% ) 5+ & o

issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue AEBETEREE T _TEFR_T—NF+=
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. A=+—H iifﬁ‘ﬁ/a EEEL K-
—E o TEFEERE WIAHAARMEZRERLT 185



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ BERRE

Office
Plant and and other Motor Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BAER
BT HEERHEE Hi R AE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®TR AR¥TRT AR%Tn ARMTT AR%TR
31 December 2020 ZE-REYZAZT-H
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R=-ZE—-AF+-A=+—-HRK
—T-%%-A-H
Cost: BA: 713,487 2,638,755 24,271 40,882 352,563 3,769,958
Accumulated depreciation and impairment £ 1TE LR E (136,212) (982,215) (21,376) (25,916) - (1,165,719)
Net carrying amount FEFE 577,275 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
At 1 January 2020, net of accumulated “Z-Zf-f-8"
depreciation and impairment %u[%éi%aﬂﬁ%&m 577,215 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
Additions AE - 207 141 2,342 58,658 61,348
Disposals HE (22,193) (1,974) - - - (24,167)
Depreciation provided during the year FRHERE (29,858) (64,011) (1,400) (3,479) - (98,748)
Transfers from construction in progress BRaTRIR 1,816 45,086 1,644 = (48,546) =
Transfer to construction in progress EREREIR - (350,230) - = 350,230 =
Assets classified as held for sale PEABELENEE (7,336) (5,202) (25) (65) = (12,628)
Exchange realignment EHAE - - - U] - W)
At 31 December 2020, net of RZZZZE+ZA=1+—-R"
accumulated depreciation and impairment 1% 2 :H 7 & R (E 519,704 1,280,416 3,255 13,757 712,905 2,530,037
At 31 December 2020: RZBZZET-A=+-R:
Cost KA 660,837 2,165,564 25,559 41,170 712,905 3,606,035
Accumulated depreciation and impairment £z & K& (141,133) (885,148) (22,304) (27,413) - (1,075,998)
Net carrying amount EEFE 519,704 1,280,416 3,255 13,757 712,905 2,530,037
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31 December 2020 —Z -4+ -A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BERSEE (&)
(Continued)
Office
Plant and and other Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
BT HERES ik "E ERIR @it

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT AR%TR AR%TR AREBTR ARET:R

31 December 2019 “Z-RAF+ZA=1-H

At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZF—-A\F+ZA=+—-HAkK

“F-N¥-A-H
Cost: A 850,000 2,322,130 27,323 42,961 835993 4,078,407
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 25t 7E R E (153,978)  (1,071,862) (24,505) (22,252) - (1,272,597)
Net carrying amount ERFE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835993 2,805,810

At 1 January 2019, net of accumulated RZZ-NE—-A—-A"

depreciation and impairment k2T ERAE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835,993 2,805,810
Additions AE - 1,582 1,395 2,494 31,008 36,479
Disposals e (84743)  (20,096) (138) (2,835) (38)  (107,850)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBAT - (684) - (142)  (30470)  (31,296)
Depreciation provided during the year FARERRE (34,004) (58,522) (1,181) (5,266) - (98,973)
Transfers from construction in progress BRETRTE = 483,991 = = (483,991) =
Exchange realignment X A% - 1 1 6 61 69
At 31 December 2019, net of R-ZE-nE+-A=+—-8"

accumulated depreciation and impairment 1% 25t & L& 577,275 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
At 31 December 2019: RZE-NE+ZA=1+—R:

Cost RA 713,487 2,638,755 24,271 40,882 352,563 3,769,958
Accumulated depreciation and impairment £ 17TE LR E (136,212) (982,215) (21,376) (25,916) - (1,165,719)
Net carrying amount EmFEE 577,275 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
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31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ BERFRE (&)

(Continued)

Impairment tests for property, plant and equipment
When any indicators of impairment are identified, property,
plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on
each CGU. The CGU is an individual plant or entity. The
carrying values of these individual plants or entities were
compared to the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, which
were based predominantly on value in use. Value-in-use
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated
using the same cash flow projections of the fifth year. Other
key assumptions applied in the impairment tests include the
expected product price, demand for the products, product
cost, finance costs and other related expenses, with the
consideration of the possible significant decrease in finance
costs following the measures adopted by management.
Management determined that these key assumptions were
based on past performance and their expectations on market
development. Further, the Group adopts a pre-tax rate of 17%
(2019:16%) that reflects specific risks related to CGUs as the
discount rate. The assumptions above are used in analysing
the recoverable amounts of CGUs within the operating
segments.

As a result of the impairment assessment, no additional
impairment was recognised against the property, plant and
equipment in the steel pipes segment for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Included in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment was capitalised interest of RMB258,623,000 as at
31 December 2020 (2019: RMB258,623,000).

Details of the Group’s property, plant and machinery pledged
to secure the Group’s bank loans are set out in note 26.

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings of the
Group located in Zhuhai, Lianyungang and Ningbo with a total
net carrying amount of approximately RMB160,893,000 as
at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB168,679,000) have not yet
been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. As at the end of
the reporting period, the directors were still in the process of
obtaining these certificates.
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14.

B SRR M aE
31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 14. BEPYE
2020 2019
—E-EfF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥B T ARBFIT
Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BZEmEE 1,822,964 1,691,699
Additions NE 241,596 131,265
Transfer to completed properties held for sale HEEERGEYE - -
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+t-—A=+—HBZEk@EE 2,064,560 1,822,964

15.

A

At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,264,749,000 (2019: RMB1,267,321,000) were pledged
to secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group (note 26).

All properties under development are situated in Mainland
China and were held under long term leases as at
31 December 2020 and 2019.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The Group’s completed properties held for sale are located
in Mainland China. All completed properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount
of RMB102,638,000 (2019: RMB109,434,000) were pledged
to secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group (note 26).
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RZBEZEF+A=+—H A&EEETER
#EHBARM,264,749,000T (=T — L&
AR #1,267,321,00070) 2 BER AP ED AEE
H-UDRERTASEZETRITREMEE (K
5126) °

R_B_FEFR_F-hh&F+-_A=+—B'F
BERERBTYWEHURBEARNL W RERAED
KA

EREGEMR
AEBOERFSENEHTRF AR FTAE

RZEZEF+_A=+—HB A£EETEA
@B A ARK102,638,000 (T —NLF: AR
#109,434,00070) Z AR FEMED BIEHEE
LIRS EFAEE2E TRITREMEER (M
26) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

16. REW X
2020 2019
—g-%F -—T-A¥
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Commercial properties in Mainland China, PRC A/ B R~ & A%

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZEAEE 407,000 1,160,000
Resumption of land use rights to Tt AU B 5 E B U ER

the local authorities - (1,160,000)
Transfer from completed properties held for sale #E# B &K FE Y% - 328,992
Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments AFERAREZF (BB s (20,000) 78,008
Carrying amount as at 31 December RT+ZA=+—RAZEHEE 387,000 407,000

The Group’s investment properties consist of commercial
properties in Mainland China, which are held under medium
term leases. The directors of the Company have determined
that the investment properties are commercial assets, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of the properties.

Based on the valuation by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer, as at 31 December
2020, the fair value of investment properties which were
mainly shops of GDC Phase | shops was RMB387,000,000
(2019: RMB407,000,000). The Group’s property manager
and the chief financial officer decided, upon approval from
the audit committee, to appoint which external valuer to
be responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s
properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group’s property manager and the chief
financial officer have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial
reporting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REW ¥ (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TERTIAEEREMEZATEFEER:

hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2020 using

R-B-ZEF+-A=+-HBERAUTHAEFEZAFE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs input
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

AE BT 5 NG| EXFH

PR E % BHEGAE BHEGAE
(B—-%) (B=#) (B=8) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR ARBTR

Recurring fair value N
measurement for:
Commercial property ERAYE - - 387,000 387,000

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2019 using

RIE-NF+_A=t-REANTBABFEZLTE

Quoted Significant Significant

prices in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs input
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

PR BT 5 NG| Ep N

PR B BxaAE BxaAE
(B—&) (B=%) (B=%&) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Recurring fair value KEHAFETE:

measurement for:
Commercial property Eik/ES - - 407,000 407,000
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER F—REEF_FzATELXAFEHIEZ
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers HE TEEF=ZHAEBAREL(ZZE-NF:
into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil). ) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REW ¥ (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) REEER (&)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within AFEERE=FRAZAFEFELE:

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

2020 2019
—®-%F -—T-A¥
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BZEHE 407,000 1,160,000
Redemption of land use rights 3150 A R A - (1,160,000)
Transfer from completed properties held for sale & H AR FEME - 328,992
Net (loss)/gain from fair value adjustments ATFEARZF (BE) s (20,000) 78,008
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—RAZEEE 387,000 407,000
Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the HEEMEHEMSAERANGEERTREEZH
key input to the valuation of investment properties: ANERBZERTIAT
Valuation technique Significant unobservable input Range or weighted average
{8 i EXFABERAE & E R R F S
2020 2019
GDV GDV
Phase | Phase |
Shops Shops
g 32 —ZE-NF
GDV GDV
£—H £—H
JEE JE 4
Commercial Direct comparison method Market unit sale rate 23,207-24,004 22,733-27,462
properties (RMB/sqg.m.)
[EhRIE HEELEE miZBAEE
(AR® /GFHK)
The valuations of investment properties were arrived at REMENHAEDRAEERLEZT 2R EHiH
using the direct comparison method with reference to the BRI LLEBMEEERMER BEEREAEEME
comparable sale prices in the relevant locality, adjusted BEZRHERBHITE(BAHALREERS
for a premium or discount specific to the quality of the LEMBIEFHAE - REEZMEZR ST E
Group’s properties compared to recent sales of comparable BEHREZ A FEAEHE-

transactions. A higher discount for lower quality properties will
result in a lower fair value measurement.
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

17. LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 17. REFAGRERZS
2020 2019
—®-%% -T2 A%
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Prepayments for property, plant and equipment  #1% - BiE LR E 2 BN A 72,295 81,467

Deposits paid [RENE & 3,384 4,508
75,679 85,975

18. LEASES 18. 1 &

The Group as a lessee AEBEEREHEA

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in AEBEEMANRAGINEESN A5ETE

its operations. Lump sum payments were made upfront to EINBEEFREUMEZWERB A 0FNEE

acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods T HezStwAEBANE T HERSH

of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made under S IMAMPASANEERT AB3FNHEE

the terms of these land leases. Leases of a factory and office He—MMs AEBETSRAANEENITERER

premises generally have a lease term of 3 years. Generally, HEBEEE-

the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

18. LEASES (Continued) 18. 70 & (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREABA (F)
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) BAREE

FRAAKBEFEREEENKREERARE

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

and the movements during the year are as follows:

g

Leasehold
land Buildings Total
HE L gF et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFTT ARBEF T ARBEFTT
As at 1 January 2019 RN_ZE—NF—HA—H 1,112,993 5,635 1,118,628
Additions NE 26,089 6,289 32,378
Early termination IRATER I - (1,774) (1,774)
Land resumption b U (1,418) = (1,418)
Depreciation charge mERX (30,897) (2,366) (33,263)
As at 31 December 2019 RZF-—NF+ZA
and 1 January 2020 =F+—HBEZZEZEF
—A—H 1,106,767 7,784 1,114,551
Land resumption - Hb U (48,533) - (48,533)
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIELENEE - (2,966) (2,966)
Depreciation charge mERX (26,879) (2,698) (29,577)
Exchange realignment PE i & (2,252) 53 (2,199)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZE-TF+=A
=+—H 1,029,103 2,173 1,031,276
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

18. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the
movements during the year are as follows:

18. & (&)

FEBEEREBRA ()

(b) HERE
FRA-HAEAENKREE (GFAGRRITR
HMEEERT) RESHMT :

2020 2019
—E-EfF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF ARBEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREE 7,931 5,635
New leases HE - 6,289
Early termination RATARIE - (1,774)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year  F R#ER A EHFI S 654 794
Liabilities directly associated with HyRRBELERN
the assets classified as held for sale AEEEMHENER (3,153) =
Exchange realignment S 57 -
Payments N (3,124) (3,013)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—HAzKEE 2,365 7,931
Analysed into: BRIANT O A:
Current portion B EA SR 5 2,011 2,444
Non-current portion JERNEREL o 354 5,487

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 42 to the financial statements.
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B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —Z=-ZF+-_A=+—H
18. LEASES (Continued) 18. 70 & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREABA (F)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) RMHERBmBRZHBUT :
relation to leases are as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Interest on lease liabilities HEENE 654 794

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTRAEEEFERS 29,577 33,263
Expense relating to short-term leases and ER 55 HAFH & e #4278 B
other leases with remaining lease terms R-_ZE—NF+=-A
ended on or before 31 December 2019 Zt+—HEZAER

2 HMEERBEZHAX - 322

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRER 2858 30,231 34,379

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—BEELFZRE

2020 2019

—EC-EF —E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 10,510 13,177
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020

=

TE+-A=+—8

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows:

19. R—EEERAZRE (#)

AEBEEER

Percentage of

Bl ZFIEHIEMT

Particulars Place of BAL
of issued registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held  and business interest power sharing activities
g T R
£ R 43 5 15 EEME BEER RERE FEf5 &R TEXK
Al-Qahtani PCK Registered Kingdom of 50 50 50 Manufacture and sale of
Pipe Company capital of SR50 Saudi Arabia welded steel pipes
million each
Al-Qahtani PCK AMERE DE 50 50 50 BUERHE
Pipe Company 50,000,000 FA AT RERE
D BT
The above investment in a joint venture is indirectly held by TR —EEE AR ERA AR EERE -

the Company.

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company, which is considered a material

joint venture of the Group, acts as the Group’s producer and

distributor of steel pipes in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and

is accounted for using the equity method.
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31 December 2020 —Z-—ZF+-A=+—H

19. A—BEEERARAZRE (&)
N #& %7~ Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company 2 817§
EHBE ETPERSHBERARNEZEFEL AR
7 ER B 75 ¥ 2% BT 51 BR T {8 ¥ B

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the financial statements:

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREEF T
Other receivables H th I FR IR 15,264 15,062
Trade receivables H 5 MW IR K 92,329 125,024
Inventories FE 109,524 138,401
Cash and bank balances /e MIRITHEH 24,088 21,454
Total current assets MEBEERLE 241,205 299,941
Right-of-use assets EREEE 27,992 33,756
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 588,736 639,582
Total non-current assets FEMBEERE 616,728 673,338
Amount due to PCKSP B BT E KIE 11,316 12,102
Other payables H b S 3RIB 30,229 33,353
Trade payables 2 SRR 3,507 10,162
Short-term bank loans — unsecured EHAIRITE R — E KT 227,318 210,255
Current portion of long term loans REERREIH 157,458 133,351
Tax payable FET 1R 84 90
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,557 32,738
Total current liabilities mEBAELRE 432,469 432,051
Non-current financial liabilities, excluding InBERBE TREES
trade and other payables and provisions FERTBR B M B At B - SRIB R B 48 317,339 415,501
Total non-current liabilities BB EAETE 317,339 415,501
Net assets BEFE 108,125 125,727
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31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—RBEEARZRE (&)

A

2020 2019
—E-ZF —ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBEFT

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest HAEEREERAIZ

in the joint venture: R

The loss from contribution of non-monetary assets JE AJFE# & & 2 518 (87,105) (99,373)
Net assets after reconciliation HEEREEFE 21,020 26,354
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEE 2 A RELLH 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture =~ AEBEEAERAFTEEFE 10,510 13,177
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 10,510 13,177
REVENUE WA 268,560 167,073
Cost of sales $HE AR (243,376) (161,156)
Gross profit EF 25,184 5,917
Other income and gains H A R a= 27 1,826
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (2,124) (10,067)
Administrative expenses THEHR (6,810) (17,537)
Finance costs BB B AN (25,808) (21,554)
Loss before tax Br BRI B 1B (9,531) (41,415)
Income tax expense Frig Bl = (90)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEBEBREABELSE (9,531) (41,505)
Share of loss (50%) FE {15 65 48 (50%) (4,765) (20,753)
Realised profit from Down-stream transactions THEXSE 88 a7 2,097 2,098
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EegAaEE (2,668) (18,655)
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B RS ER T M T

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. EIEF 18
Deferred tax assets EEREBEEE

Losses available
for offsetting against
future taxable profits
] it K 8

RRERTGEN 2 BB
2020 2019
—EZEE —T-hF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®ETFT

At 1 January Kn—A—H 210,943 225,576
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FRRGZaERRNREEERIE

statement of profit or loss during the year (210,943) (14,633)
At 31 December W+=—RA=+—H - 210,943

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB390,466,000 (2019: RMB389,824,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB537,143,000 (2019: RMB1,672,846,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.
No deferred tax assets were recognised in respect of the tax
losses of the Group as at 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised deferred tax
assets of RMB210,943,000 which related to the available tax
losses of PCKSP. These tax losses will expire in one to five
years. The recognition of the deferred tax assets was based
on an estimated taxable income and the tax losses which
could be used for offsetting against these estimated future
taxable profits. The directors estimated that future taxable
profits of PCKSP mainly represented compensation income
from the government in relation to a redevelopment of the
land owned by PCKSP. For the year ended 31 December
2020, tax losses of PCKSP were fully utilised to offset against
taxable profits generated from the net gains from the land
resumption of PCKSP.
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

S =

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

20. FEEHIE (%)
EEBEEE

Changes in/  Appreciation
realisation of of property,
fair value of plant and
investment equipment Temporary Withholding
property and land difference tax Total
RENEZ NEBER
A¥E RERLH
B8,/ B ®E ERHER AMB @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTT AR¥TT AR¥TTR AR¥TTRT AR¥T T
At 1 January 2020 R-B-2E
—R—H 354,380 11,378 - 2,265 368,023
Deferred tax credited FARGABRHER
to the consolidated statement of FFAREERIE
profit or loss during the year (5,820) (5,483) - - (11,303)
Deferred tax credited to the asset ~ FNFAAEE(
revaluation reserve during the year & EEIERE (1,361) - - - (1,361)
Transferred to liabilities directly BREENEARKE
associated with the assets HENEEERIEREN
classified as held for sale afE - (1,483) - - (1,483)
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZF
+-A=+—H 347,199 4,412 - 2,265 353,876
Changes in/ Appreciation
realisation of of property,
fair value of plant and
investment  equipment and Temporary Withholding
property land difference tax Total
RENEZ DE BER
ATE R Rt
25,/%5 A TR 2R AR wt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETFR ARETR ARETR AREBTR
At 1 January 2019 R-E-h#F
—R—H 589,776 11,656 35,077 2,265 638,774
Deferred tax credited FARGABEER
to the consolidated statement of STAREERE
profit or loss during the year (82,996) (278) (35,077) - (118,351)
Deferred tax credited to the asset ~ FRFABEE[FHELD
revaluation reserve during the year JEE 8 (152,400) - - - (152,400)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+-A=+—H 354,380 11,378 - 2,265 368,023

\
A
4y
"H
¥t
£
]:_1

A

HBIRMARREEZRERAT 201



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H
20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. GEFEBIIE (&)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and REVNEMME &ETEERBEERAGEZR
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of BEVMBRARFEE FNEERYBRENS
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred RURERIBHRES T T
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
2020 2019
—BF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RIFETHERARERZ

consolidated statement of financial position EERRIBE EFRE - 210,943
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B AR RER

consolidated statement of financial position EER IS EFRE 353,876 368,023
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% (or BRI R B ERTE L W B RRER S SN
a lower rate if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China BERERBFIINEEESTIRRE  BEMNI0% (K
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors) withholding tax fist 1 B ) 3t BR OB 4% & B P A HE R A B A
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the BAORERERZ)BEHAFH - HBRER TN
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. F-A—BEW HEAR=ZZETELF+=A
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies =t+—HERENAFN Al AEBEAERFH
to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore RNEKRZ 2 ZEMBRARR —SZENF—A—H
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those RESEZ BN IR RS A TET -

subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

Since 2011, no deferred tax has been recognised by the BE-Z2——F8 AEEMEREBHAEHNHZ
Group for withholding taxes that would be payable on the ZEMB AT 2 AREL &N 2 BN SMTET #
unremitted earnings of those subsidiaries that are subject to RELEFIE ARAEEERAZSWEBATATRK
withholding taxes as management considered that it is not ARETEA] RS R D IR & FI o

probable that those subsidiaries will distribute any earnings in
the foreseeable future.
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31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

21.

22.

A

INVENTORIES 78
2020 2019
—BFE —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®EFT
Raw materials FE 127,688 76,788
Work in progress paaYe 88,253 36,968
Finished goods BUAK M 201,986 107,732
417,927 221,488

Less: Provision against slow-moving and WO RRETTERE

obsolete inventories (2,218) (2,386)
415,709 219,102

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

22. ESREWERRREVREE

2020 2019

—=F —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARET T

Trade receivables B 5 EWERR 506,570 422,936
Impairment A (6,333) (19,434)
Trade receivables, net 5 EWRFFRE 500,237 403,502
Bills receivable FE W =& 11,301 273
511,538 403,775

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally 30 days
to 90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H
22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. EZRRBWRAREKREE (&)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

RBEHR REERHRREERCHRERE
BHEZRURRRER DT

2020 2019
—2& -—Taf
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Within 60 days 60H A 343,253 242,323
61 to 90 days 61HE90H 11,429 5,680
91 to 180 days 91H £=180H 19,290 27,057
181 to 365 days 181H £365H 28,418 11,052
1 to 2 years 1824 10,642 30,563
2 to 3 years 2E34F 14,333 24,450
Over 3 years HBiB3F 72,872 62,377

500,237 403,502

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

EHRURFREERREEHWT

2020 2019
—EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBTT

At 1 January Hn—A—H 19,434 16,883
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRI EEE (H3E6) - 3,845
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale EREESBEABELENEE (217) =
Reversal of impairment (note 5) AR (F5E5) (12,884) =
Impairment losses write-off 8 R B B 1R - (1,294)
At 31 December W+=—RA=+—H 6,333 19,434

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. EZRRBWRAREKREE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure UTENEEASERAREEETENE SR
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: WERRBEERKR &R :
As at 31 December 2020 R=ZB=-ZBF+=-H=+—8H
Past due
a8
Less than
1year 1to2years 2to3years Over3years Total
PR-F —ZME ME=F HB=F @t
Expected credit loss rate BHEEBRE 0.3% 1.1% 1.9% 6.3%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) #BEmEE (ARBTT) 403,425 7,095 18,301 77,749* 506,570
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEEE (ARETT) 1,035 75 346 4,877 6,333
As at 31 December 2019 R=B-AF+=A=+—8H
Past due
Less than
1 year 11to 2 years 2to 3years  Over 3 years Total
PR—F —EME MEZF BB=F FoE
Expected credit loss rate RHEEERX 0.5% 2.2% 4.3% 20.5%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) #8RmEE (ARETT) 287,688 31,249 25,547 78,452 422,936
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FHEEEE (ARETT) 1,577 686 1,097 16,074 19,434
e Included in the balance was a trade receivable of RMB54,240,000 * FH 7B BT JE S 75 A A R 54,240,000 B &
due from a debtor with whom the Group was in commercial SEWEF ZEBALEREERELEMR S
dispute over certain other transactions, and thus the settlement GEBEAMAD BUHEERTHE AR ESTERE
was delayed. The directors of the Company performed a B EREEMBERAUARBEBANGEASERENTT
specific assessment by considering the aforementioned fact and FMWAH BAZBEIRRERR_Z_ZF
circumstance and the credit rating of the debtor and concluded TZ A=+ —BHRRBEIF (ZE—NF : H
that the credit risk on this trade receivable was insignificant though BIF) SHAERARZEIERERNEERR
its aging was over 3 years as at 31 December 2020 (2019: over BTAER-Al ZEHRURFARAREREE
3 years). Therefore, no expected credit loss was provided for this E1E -

trade receivable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. ESZRUEREREEVRERE (&)
At 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain bills R-ZE-_ZEF+_A=+—H AEEHEET
receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the PEARITESNERER ([RIEEREER])
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to FTEHETHERS NEERNZSHERNED
settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying BEA X ARM12,092,000tE 5 ER B -
amount in aggregate of RMB12,092,000. The Derecognised WEHR RIBRAZEENIHAR=2T
Bills had a maturity of three to twelve months at the end of A-BREPEMNTBEEREZ WRPEMRITE
the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable 2 AR BREBENF[EABEYREERED
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills BERE([FEL2HE]) -EERA- $%IE$J&
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks B FEREEBBA BRI D AR KER-
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the t'HEﬁgﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂtﬁﬁﬂfﬁﬁE’U’i\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and HAZESENER - AEEFELARIBRE
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has BRTEENRANEIERR I KERE S LKL IFER
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised EBENARTRReREFNEAREE - EFRA
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum REEFE2 R ERZEBENATFELTEKX -

exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are
not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has HE-ZT-_ZF+-_A=+T—HBLEFE £&E
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of REZERIEBERERZ ARBEREMER EAX
the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised FERRFHME SBERFELEPEREMNE
from the Continuing Involvement, both during the year and wmoBFHETES

cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the year.

As part of its normal business, the Group transferred certain EREREBN— s AEEKELEEKEE
bills receivable to banks in Mainland China (the “Discounted HBIPREARENRIT(TMMREE])  LER
Bills”) in order to obtain sufficient cash for operation. The RHOKERe EHEE AEETEERXES
Group is not exposed to default risks of the trade debtors ERRENEAORR EHEE AEETERE
after the transfer. Subsequent to the transfer, the Group did FRMREROTMRESN BREEHE BHERK
not retain any rights on the use of Discounted Bills, including RUREBTEMHEME=ZF -R_ZE_FF
the sale, transfer or pledge of Discounted Bills to any other T A+ HERAEBNUREENEER
third parties. The original carrying value of Discounted Bills BEAARKM®12,282,000t (ZE—NF: AR
that have not been settled as at 31 December 2020 was 14,939,0007T ) °

RMB12,282,000 (2019: RMB14,939,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

23.

A

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 23. A RE - HttEWRERHEMEE
OTHER ASSETS

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
Prepayments TEfT RIA 338,613 282,748
Deposits and other receivables e R EH MW FKIE 759,801 643,270
Tax recoverable A] W B # 78 68,602 126,620
1,167,016 1,052,638
Impairment allowance A B (163,686) (136,468)
1,003,330 916,170

The movements in the provision for impairment of deposits
and other receivables are as follows:

RehEMEBUHRBEREREBEESET:

2020 2019
—g-®¥F —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBT T

At 1 January n—HA—H 136,468 98,853
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRI EEE (H3E6) 27,222 37,615
Transferred to assets classified as held for sale  EBEEDEABELENEE (4) =
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H 163,686 136,468

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental
deposits and deposits with suppliers. An impairment analysis
is performed at each reporting date by considering the
probability of default. Expected credit losses are estimated by
applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. Except for certain receivables
for which the Group has made 100% provision because the
counterparty was default in payment (“default receivables”),
the balances were settled within the credit term with no
historical default. The financial assets included in the above
balance were categorised in stage 1 as at 31 December
2020. Except for the default receivables, the Group estimated
that the expected credit loss rate for the other receivables is
minimal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

20 RERBTEEYUARCTERRZR

PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK ol 88 1T 45 R
BALANCES
2020 2019
ZEZEF —E-NEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 5 AR¥ T ARBEF T
Cash and bank balances e RIRITE 19,466 58,585
Pledged and restricted bank balances B IR & 208 I SR 1T 45 5 22,712 164,826
42,178 223,411
Less: Do
Pledged and restricted bank 2 LR GIRT
balances — current i — BN
— Pledged for bank acceptance notes —RRITERBRD HIF (2,642) (20,443)
— Pledged for letters of guarantee —SEER K E R (3) (95,632)
— Pledged for long-term bank loans —BRABITERD T 26(c) (2) (2)
— Restricted cash —ZRHRE (a) (20,065) (48,749)
(22,712) (164,826)
Cash and cash equivalents RehBeEEY (b) 19,466 58,585
Notes: i

(a) Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place at
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sales proceeds
of properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the
related properties. The deposits can only be used for purchases
of construction materials and payments of construction fees
for the relevant property projects. As at 31 December 2020,
such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB20,065,000 (2019:
RMB48,749,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

25.

A

(b)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
denominated in US$ amounted to RMB6,050,000 (2019:
RMB633,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the

end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

20 RERBTEEYUARCERRZR
IR 1T & &R (4

fisE: (48)

(b) R-ZTE-_ZTF+-_A=+—R8 AEEUETH
BENRE;FELEEY R ARE,050,0007T (=
T—NF: AR¥633,0007T) - ARETAIHAK
BMAHMER BRIES B R &) INE B B 5K 5
LkiEE SERNEEERT ~AEBrERER
BETINEXBORITHARE R SHMEY -

RITRESRRITERMN R RELEN) T B F KRR
B -RITEBRRECERERNFERNEEEE
BTN 48 R R SR A R T

25. EZENERAREMRE
RBEMF REFRFAMAEOE B EAEK
RERNBEERRSTMT -

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Trade payables BESEMNERR
Within 90 days 90H 423,131 135,417
91 to 180 days 91H Z2180H 33,100 89,557
181 to 365 days 181H £365H 19,192 32,017
1 to 2 years 1FE2F 56,746 51,977
2 to 3 years 2F B3F 29,517 19,876
Over 3 years 3FELLE 47,882 45,188
609,568 374,032
Bills payable ENEE 4,943 5,903
614,511 379,935

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled within a year. All the bills payable have maturity dates
within 365 days.

A

EHRNERBTE B—RAR—FRAX(T-
P e AR 1974365 H A E H] -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —Z-—ZF+-A=+—H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. sFERITRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
2020 2019
“ECER K3
Effective Effective
interest interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BERAIE(%) HME ARMTRT ERAE%) B ARETR

Current e
Lease liabilities HEEE 9.51 2021 2,011 9.51 2020 2,444
—B--F e g 33
Bank loans RITER
- secured - FEE 4.79-6.09 2021 402,900 5.00-6.31 2020 502,400
—B=-fF —Z-%H
- unsecured — B 5.44 2021 59,000 6.09-6.13 2020 59,000
—B--F e g 33
Other borrowings HigE
- secured ~-BHEA 5.60-16.88 2021 238,272 N/A N/A -
—E--F TiEH TiEA
- unsecured —BEA 6.60-24.00 2021 398,270  5.60-24.00 2020 421,645
—Bz-F i S 2
Government loans BRER
- secured ~BHEA 4.90 2021 88,000 4.90 2020 88,000
—E--F il ke 33
Current portion of long term loans RESERRHHH
- secured -HHEA 4.90-16.88 2021 989,883 4.39-5.88 2020 43,400
—Bz-F i S S
Subtotal Nt 2,178,336 1,116,889
Non-current Eiof)
Lease liabilities MEERE 9.51 2022 354 9.51 2021-2036 5,487
—E-C& —E-—fF-
“TZRE
Bank loans RITER
- secured ~-BHEA 4.90-15.39  2022-2028 1,240,755 4.90-5.88  2021-2028 1,430,005
—E-C"F- —E-F-
“Eo)NE “Z-N\E
Government loans BRER
- secured ~BEA 490  2022-2023 132,000 490  2021-2023 220,000
—E-"F- B —fF-
—B-=F —E-=F
Other borrowings HffEE
- secured -BEA N/A N/A - 10.00-11.25 2021 2,098,483
TER TEA o
Subtotal Nt 1,373,109 3,753,975
3,551,445 4,870,864
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. sHERITREMEE (&)

BORROWINGS (Continued)

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBEF T
Analysed into: BTN A:

Bank loans repayable: ARUTHREENRITER:
Within one year —F R 613,300 604,800
In the second year E_F 199,850 149,400
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FEFERF (REEEMT) 918,905 1,154,605
Beyond five years BT F 122,000 126,000
1,854,055 2,034,805

Government loans repayable*: ARUATHREZSNENFER

Within one year —FRN 88,000 88,000
In the second year B _F 88,000 88,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEZFERF (BEEEMSE) 44,000 132,000
220,000 308,000

Other borrowings repayable: ARUTHREEHNHMEE:
Within one year** — R 1,475,025 421,645
In the second year** B - 2,098,483
In the third to fifth years, inclusive BE-FEFERF (REEEMTE) - -
1,475,025 2,520,128

Lease liabilities repayable: ARUTHREENHEHEAR:
Within one year —FR 2,011 2,444
In the second year F-F 354 2,255
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=EZERF (BEEEMSE) - 1,563
Beyond five years AT F - 1,669
2,365 7,931
3,551,445 4,870,864
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H
26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. 5T ERTRHEMEE (&)

BORROWINGS (Continued)
Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured
by:

(a) the pledge of certain property, plant and equipment of
the Group with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,197,950,000 (2019: RMB1,201,053,000) as at the
end of the reporting period;

(b) the pledge of certain leasehold land of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB816,224,000
(2019: RMB792,454,000) as at the end of the reporting
period;

(c) the pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits amounting
to RMB2,000 (2019: RMB2,000) as at the end of the
reporting period;

(d) the pledge of certain of the Group’s properties under
development amounting to RMB1,264,749,000 (2019:
RMB1,267,321,000) as at the end of the reporting period;

(e) the pledge of certain of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale amounting RMB102,638,000 (2019:
RMB109,434,000) as at the end of the reporting period;

(f) the pledge of certain of the Group’s trade receivables
amounting to RMB2,551,000 (2019: Nil) as at the end of
the reporting period; and

(g) the pledge of certain of the Group’s prepayments,
other receivables and other assets amounting to
RMB115,655,000 (2019: Nil) as at the end of the
reporting period.

Except for the other borrowings of RMB101,788,000 and
RMB4,413,000 (2019: RMB108,829,000 and nil) as at
31 December 2020, which are denominated in US$ and HKS,
respectively, the borrowings are in RMB.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

PE+=A=+—8

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group had the following undrawn banking facilities:

27.

A

Floating rate
— expiring within one year***

FEFE

——F R

26. GFERITREMEER (@)

AEBA T W ARERRITEER:

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFE  ARMTT
14,600 290,331

*k

Certain of the government loans are secured by the pledge of
certain property, plant and equipment with a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB659,609,000, and the pledge of certain
leasehold land with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB368,271,000.

Among which, the Group had an aggregate loan of
RMB954,138,000 borrowed from Yuecai Trust and its related
companies as at 31 December 2020.

Pursuant to the relevant contract, certain of the Group’s undrawn
banking facilities of RMB299,200,000 (2019: RMB172,595,000)
can only be used for property development projects and are
repayable based on the pre-sale progress of such properties.

*k

B TERFEERAE TEREFELARK659,609,000
THWME - BEREEFEER RETERDFED
AR #368,271,0007C K & + 3t /I 1 -

Eh - AEER_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HAR
BRMERAREABAREANERAEARYE

954,138,0007T °

RIBEBERAEH XEE 2% R AKK299,200,000
T (ZE—NAF: AR¥172,595,0007T) 2 & F &
REOBTEEEVTARMELREER WIXEH
MEZEESHEEEE-

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. BRAE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHEEFBOT:
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
—EBCEH —E—hE
+=A +-A
EF=E =+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFTT
Short-term advances received from customers CWEFHNEHEMRK
Sale of steel pipes & T 205,784 165,467
Rendering of manufacturing services R EE RS 19,766 28,112
Sale of properties SHEMZE 1,061,436 965,491
Total contract liabilities SHAEGERRE 1,286,986 1,159,070

A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H
27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 27. BN EE (®)

Contract liabilities include sales proceeds received from EHNEERENRAEE EEME RWEDKE
FREEMBRE- R_T_SF 6HAEE

buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of steel pipes —ETF
MDEEBRAEE 2 TEEMEL M-

and properties. The increase in contract liabilities in 2020
was mainly due to the increase in the Group’s pre-sale of

properties.
Changes in contract liabilities during the year are as follows: FRNEHNBEZEESHMT
2020 2019
—B-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT
At beginning of the year REH 1,159,070 896,765
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAFEVERHNAGEZERARBA
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (103,241) (251,057)
Increases due to cash received, excluding B SBHAMIEM (TEIEFA
amounts recognised as revenue during the year EERAWVAZ L) 231,157 513,362
At end of the year RER 1,286,986 1,159,070
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HinENRIEREFTEH
2020 2019
—E2EC-EF —E-NF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
b 5 ARBT ARBFT
Deposits received B lize 23,319 37,336
Other payables H & 5108 (a) 380,022 327,270
Payroll payables FE A 5 A 24,567 20,986
Accruals and other liabilities B ERAREMEE 326,069 208,626
Other tax payables H b ER 18 28,689 34,629
782,666 628,847

(a)

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average
term of two to three months.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 —Z -4+ -A=+—H

29. PROVISION 29. #B1E

Legal

proceedings

SRR

RMB’000

AR®EFT

At 1 January 2020 R-ZZT-_ZTE—-—HF—H -

Provision for the year REEEAE 54,579

Utilised during the year FAEHHA -

At 31 December 2020 RZFB_FF+-A=1—H 54,579

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are currently defendants in AEEETHBARBMARE = FREMFR
lawsuits brought by third parties alleging that the subsidiaries WhE REZHEBRSEWBRATERRKTET
breached and repudiated certain purchase and construction ETHERZREGHN ZBRRAFREMBET
contracts. The claims are subject to the legal arbitration and AAEMBHER - E - —FEBET - R-2T=
are expected to be finalised in late 2021. As at 31 December TFEF A=+ —H BEESMHETHOEHTE
2020, a provision of RMB54,579,000 (including related ER - ERERBERAR®54,579,0007T (81

interest) was recognised in profit or loss based on directors’ HERME) 2B

estimation of the expected probable outcome.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

30. FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES

Current
2017 Notes

2017 Bonds A

2017 Bonds B

2017 Bonds C

2019 Bonds A

2019 Bonds B

2020 Bonds A

2020 Bonds B

2020 Bonds C

Non-current
2017 Bonds B

2020 Notes

Principal
at original
currency
"million
FE®AE
BB

HE
—E-tEZE N/A
TEH
“E-LEFEHA US$1.8
1827
“E-tEE%B HK$10
108 7T
—E-tEFESHC HK$10
108 T
“E-NERHA HK$3
3BT
“E-NEEHB N/A
TEH
“ECEEBHA HK$2
28T
“Z-ZEESB HK$2
28T
“Z-ZEEHC HK$1
17T

37k

—E-tEFE4B N/A
TEH

“ECEERE HK$140
1403 7T

2020
-%-%F
Contractual
interest
rate (%)
per annum Maturity
ANERE
(%) Z#A
N/A N/A
TER ~EA
7.0 2021
—E--F
7.0 2021
g -3
6.0 2021
—E--F
5.0 2021
—B=-F
N/A N/A
TER TER
5.5 2021
—EZ-F
6.0 2021
—E--F
6.0 2021
—E--F
N/A N/A
TER TER
12.0 2022
—E-CF

RMB’000

AR¥T T

11,545
7,889
7,736

2,525

1,683

1,683

842

33,903

114,608

114,608

148,511
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BEREE
2019
—EB-NE
Principal Contractual
at original interest
currency rate (%)
‘million  per annum Maturity RMB’000
FE¥EAS ANERNE
BE (%) HEBE ARWTR
HK$155 8.0 2020 135,593
155% 1T —BIEF
Us$3 7.0 2020 20,360
3XTT ZE2C-2F
N/A N/A N/A -
TEA TEA TEA
HK$10 6.0 2020 8,293
0% k- g 2.2
HK$3 5.0 2020 2,687
BT g 2.2
UsD$0.5 6.0 2020 3,471
0557 It et 3
N/A N/A N/A -
TER TEA TEA
N/A N/A N/A -
TER TEA TEA
N/A N/A N/A -
TEA TEA TEA
170,404
HK$10 7.0 2021 7,631
10& 7T b
N/A N/A N/A -
TER TEA TEA
7,631
178,035
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

30.

|
A

FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)
HK$155,000,000 8% Notes due in 2020 (2017 Notes)

On 27 April 2017, the Group issued 8% notes due on
27 April 2020 with a principal amount of HK$155,000,000
to an investment fund (the “2017 Notes”). Pursuant to the
note purchase agreement, specific performance obligations
are imposed on the controlling shareholder of the Group.
Any breach of the specific performance obligations may
constitute a breach under the note purchase agreement,
pursuant to which the investment fund is entitled to redeem
the 2017 Notes immediately in accordance with the terms
and conditions. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had fully
redeemed the 2017 Notes.

US$3,000,000 7% bonds due in 2021 (2017 Bonds A)

On 28 April 2017, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of US$3,000,000 to an individual investor (the
“2017 Bonds A”). The bonds should be repayable in full
by 28 April 2020 but the expiry date could be extended to
30 April 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed coupon
interest rate of 7% per annum for three years payable semi-
annually, commencing on 28 October 2017. The bonds are
unsecured. As at 31 December 2020, The Company had
partially redeemed the 2017 Bonds A with a principal amount
of US$1,200,000.

HK$10,000,000 7% bonds due in 2021 (2017 Bonds
B)

On 24 August 2017, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of HK$10,000,000 to an individual investor (the
“2017 Bonds B”). The bonds should be repayable in full
by 24 August 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed
coupon interest rate of 7% per annum for four years payable
semiannually, commencing on 24 February 2018. The bonds
are unsecured.

A
;R
‘—H
¥t
£
o

0. ERBHFRERE (&)

155,000,000 TR =-F_ZFF W2 FF
RN RBE(ZE—LFEE)
RZB—+tFOAZ+LR AEERNKREESD
1T R & FH5155,000,0008 TR —FF M
A+ RIBZFNEN RE ([ 2B —+F
RE) - REZEBRBEEHHR AEEEERRE
ERERANEK ERERBEBRNEETAEE
REEBEBHRTNENTS MREARBER
1'7r<1¢ REEASEHANINELN —Z—+F
RE-R-_FT_TFEF+_A=1t—-RH Fr5EEZ
BEELO _T—tFRE-

3,000,000 TR —E=-—FHHP2FRE
T%EH (ZE—tFEHA)
RZFE—+tFMA-+NB AEEHER—ZEA
WEHEIEITALEA3,000,000 T2 ES ([=
T—+HFEHA])  BEFEAR-_ZT-_ZTFNWNA
ZHNBRBRHEMNEIAEEEE T - —
FHA=TH - BHEREECFZEEERT% T E
BT +t5+A-t+N\BEAH=FEHEF
FEIH - BEEHEAEER - R_T-_TF+_A
Zt+—B ARREPLER T —LFEEHA
7K 4 %8 /41,200,000 T °

10,000,000 8B T A S - —FEHHBH2F AR
T%EH (ZZE—LtFE%B)
RZBE—+tFNAZ+WMB AEER—FREA
REEHITAEEAE10,000,0008 L 2EE ([
EZ—+tFEHB]) EHFER-_ZTE=-_—FN\A
OB REEEN BEFEREEFRERET% A
BB E- N\F-A-tHNAEARNERE
FBEFI -BEBHFAEER-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

30. FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued) 0. ERBHFRERE (&)

HK$10,000,000 6% bonds due in 2021 (2017 Bonds
C)

On 26 September 2017, the Group issued bonds with a
principal amount of HK$10,000,000 to an individual investor
(the “2017 Bonds C”). The bonds should be repayable in full
by 26 September 2020 but the expiry date has been extended
to 28 September 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed
coupon interest rate of 6% per annum for three years payable
semi-annually, commencing on 26 March 2018. The bonds are
unsecured.

HK$3,000,000 5% bonds due in 2021 (2019 Bonds A)

On 30 August 2019, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of HK$3,000,000 to an individual investor (the
“2019 Bonds A”). The bonds should be repayable in full by
28 February 2020 but the expiry date has been extended
to 6 July 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed coupon
interest rate of 5% per annum for half year payable semi-
annually. From 6 January 2021, the interest rate of the 2019
Bonds A increased from 5% per annum to 6% per annum. The
bonds are unsecured.

US$500,000 6% bonds due in 2020 (2019 Bonds B)

On 28 October 2019, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of US$500,000 to an individual investor (the “2019
Bonds B). The bonds bear interest at a fixed coupon interest
rate of 6% per annum for half year payable semi-annually.
The bonds are unsecured. As at 31 December 2020, the
Company had fully redeemed the 2019 Bonds B.

218 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

10,000,000 8 T A —FE-—F B2 FR =X
6%EHF(ZZE—LtFEHC)
RZZE—+tFNAZ+B AE@EE—ZEA
WEHZEITAELEH10,000,0008 T2 EH ([=
T—+HFEHC|) BHEEAR-Z_ZTFNA
—+ABRERSENEINHECTCEE T - —
FAAZTNB -EHFREATFEE L% B
BE-Z-N\F=ZAZ+"BRAHM=FAEEY¥
FXft-EHAEER-

3,000,000 TR—F - —FEH2FF=R
5%E% (ZE—NEFEHA)
RZB-AFNA=Z+RH TEER—-ZBREAA
REEZHITAEFEA3,000,0008 T2 ER (1=
E-NFEHFA]) BHFER_FT_FTF_A
“HN\BRIEBENEIHAREEE —T— —
FELARNB -BEHFREETFRE L% L BH
FERAGFFEXN - BT -_—F—AXAE"
—E-NFEFANNEHEFS% EAEEF
6% ° B R EEM -

500,000 X TR=-ZZE-_ZFANHZFFE6%
BHE(ZE—NEFEEFB)
R—ZE—h&F+A=+NB" ZKE@Wf%IA
WEHETAELEEAE500,000E T 2ES ([=
—NEEHB]) - BHFREEFS \,\ﬁe%ﬁ%'
BRI FRABYEIN -BFAERA N
?_?¢+ A=+—8 AAREBRHER=
—NFEEHB-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

30.

|
03

FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)
HK$2,000,000 5.5% Bonds due in 2021 (2020 Bonds
A)

On 6 July 2020, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of HK$2,000,000 to an individual investor (the
“2020 Bonds A”). The bonds should be repayable in full by
7 January 2021 but the expiry date could be extended to
7 January 2022. The bonds bear interest at a fixed coupon
interest rate of 5.5% per annum for half year payable semi-
annually. From 7 January 2021, the interest rate of the 2020
Bonds A increased from 5.5% per annum to 6% per annum.
The bonds are unsecured.

HK$2,000,000 6% Bonds due in 2021 (2020 Bonds B)

On 28 September 2020, the Group issued bonds with a
principal amount of HK$2,000,000 to an individual investor
(the “2020 Bonds B”). The bonds should be repayable in
full by 30 April 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed
coupon interest rate of 6% per annum for half year payable
semiannually. The bonds are unsecured.

HK$1,000,000 6% Bonds due in 2021 (2020 Bonds C)

On 14 December 2020, the Group issued bonds with a
principal amount of HK$1,000,000 to an individual investor
(the “2020 Bonds C”). The bonds should be repayable in full
by 15 December 2021. The bonds bear interest at a fixed
coupon interest rate of 6% per annum for half year payable
semi-annually. The bonds are unsecured.

HK$140,000,000 12% notes due in 2022 (2020 Notes)

On 27 April 2020, the Group issued 12% notes due on 27 April
2022 with a principal amount of HK$140,000,000 to an
investment fund (the “2020 Notes”). Pursuant to the purchase
agreement, specific performance obligations are imposed on
the controlling shareholder of the Group. Any breach of the
specific performance obligations may constitute a breach
under the note purchase agreement, pursuant to which
the investment fund is entitled to redeem the 2020 Notes
immediately in accordance with the terms and conditions.

A
;R
‘—H
¥t
£
o

0. ERBHFRERE (&)

2,000,000 8B tR—E-_—FHH2FF =X
55%EF (ZEZZFFEFHA)
RZZEZZFLANA AEER—ZEARE
EE{TARELE A2,000,0008 T2 EHE ([T =
TEBEHA]) - BEBHFBER-_ZE-_—F—A+tBH
BYEMNEDHHEIEEE T -_—F—A+H-
BERETFEEBR55%:T8 AH¥FAAE
YELIRN-BZFT=—F—AtEAR —ZE=F
FEFANFNEARTFS5% EAEZTFF6% &
H BRI o

2,000,000 8 TA—FE-—FEHB2FRZE
6%EHR(ZZE_ZFEHB)
RZZFEZZFAAZ+NB AEEHER—ZEA
WEHEIETAEEA2,000,0008T2ES ([=
T_EFESFB]) BEBHFEEAR-_ZT-_—FMA
ZTHREBEN -BEHIZETFE B E6%T
B AHYFEABHFI M -EHABEEF-

1,000,000 TR —Z - —FHH2FRE
6%EF(ZZE-_ZFEHC)
R-ZZB-_ZTHE+-_F+NWBE -AEBEH—-ZEA
WEHEETAEEA1,000,0008 T2ES ([=
T_TFEHC)) BEHFER-T-_—F+=A
+THEBREREMN -EHEETEFES L6
B AN FREABHFI M -EHFAEEF-

140,000,000/ 8B TR —ZE-_—F 22 FF
Z12% ZB (ZE-Z2FFE)

RZZEZZEFOMA-—++ER - AEERKEES
17K 4 % /140,000,000 TR —E - —F 1
AZ+tBREHBHZFHNENR2%ZH ([T =_F
FERE]) - REBERR AEEZRBERAR
MR ETRHNEA AMNERBEBHE AR
KREEBEHRTHENTRE THERT &
EECERBEGEARKEINED T _ZF

ESE

BIRMARRMEZRERAT 219



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

31. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 31. BUFAE R
2020 2019
—B-%F —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®EF T
At 1 January n—A—H 341,915 350,899
Grants received during the year FREZEHAL 8,188 25,780
Recognised as income during the year (note 5)  FRER AW A (Hf5E5) (14,092) (34,764)
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H 336,011 341,915

32.

Government grants have been received as encouragement
for technological innovation and improvements, the
construction of production plants and rewards for investment
encouragement. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to these grants. Related assets
associated with the above grants have not yet been
completed.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

On 18 October 2018, the Company issued warrants in
a registered form conferring the right upon the holder
thereof, exercisable in whole or in part at any time during
the subscription period to subscribe a maximum amount
of HK$313,320,000 for ordinary shares of the Company.
The subscription period is the period from the date of issue
of warrants until the day immediately preceding the third
anniversary thereof or, if that day is not a business day,
the business day immediately preceding that day. The
subscription price is initially HK$0.84 per share in cash or
such adjusted price as may be applicable in accordance with
the terms of the warrant instrument.

32.
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AN B B BB BUN B - ASCEY R 85T R 3R T -
Bt ERERERKRENER ZFMUHE
MERERGHAIAFTHE- B AWM ERL
HEEERRRT -

TTEERMIA

RZB-NF+ATNA RRBALEEAHE
T8 T E 58 AN AR R M B 2 2B 2B
DITIELAR BB & = £ §8313,320,0008 ;L A A &
EERNRREE BB ABTRRESE R Y
BEEERAEE-EBEFHEMOHEF (HMHZA L
FEER RIREEZRANEER) MR - BB
BOXRERE 08B THIREAREETA
B A BEE A RSB RER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

32. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 32. fTHE ST A (8)
(Continued)
During the year, the movements in the warrants to subscribe FRN ARBRARFTRNOBREZTZHNOT :

for the Company’s shares were as follows:

Numbers of warrants

AREEYE
Balance as at Granted during Lapsed during Balance as at
Date of grant Exercise price per share 1/1/2020 the year the year 31/12/2020
R-B-EF
R-ZZ-ZF +=A=t-8
R A BRITEE —A—-R#&& FRARHE FRRMU g3
HK$
B
18/10/2018
—N\E+A+N\HE 0.84 373,000,000 - (373,000,000) -
Notes: B 3
(1) The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before (1) BB )/\FTA+N \ARLAREZZAF
the date on which the warrants were granted on 18 October KRR ARG E YT B R0.6478 T °
2018 was HK$0.64.
(2) Warrants were cancelled on 29 September 2020 with a gain of (2) *IHXTE‘“&F_ Z_TFNAZ ‘T’j‘b Aads Bl
RMB3,724,000 recognised in the statement of profit or loss. = ARES3 724,000t RIEFRIER
33. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE/ B2 EABELHENEE HI2BERBE
LIABILITIES DIRECTLY ASSOCIATED WITH HENEEEERBENARE
ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
Amounts represent 100% equity interests in Ningbo Sanhe ZEREEZFR=Z6HEBRAFAN([EE=
Steel Pipe Co., Ltd. (“ZEK=AME AR 27" or “Ningbo Gl EERE-RENEEAE L REENE
Sanhe”). According to the agreement entered into between the RARIK(REI)R-_ZE-NEETNHBE"
Group and Ningbo Langteng Building materials Co., LTD. (“Z AEBREEEER-G2TRE REARE
BORBEREM BB AF)” or “Langteng”) in 2019, the Group has 24,300,000 - R—E—AE+-_B=+—8"
agreed to transfer the 100% equity interest of Ningbo Sanhe T/Bi_/\EI’JHxﬁET_EEﬁ IR EARR &AL
for a consideration of RMB24.3 million. As at 31 December HE-R-ZZE-_ZEF+-_A=+—H FZFE®
2019, the equity interest of Ningbo Sanhe was in dispute and FoBEREEZESRTHR B RZFTZTF
was not available for immediate sale in its present condition. +ZA=+—H ERE=-ANREETSEES
As at 31 December 2020, the dispute was resolved but the HARELENEERESBARBIELHENEE
equity transfers have not been completed. Accordingly, the BEEHEEMNEE-
equity interests in Ningbo Sanhe were reclassified to assets
classified as held for sale and liabilities directly associated
with assets classified as held for sale as at 31 December
2020.
The transfers of the equity interests in Ningbo Sanhe were BR=ERENEEEN T —F—HA+HA
completed on 15 January 2021. FERK ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

== >
U E
31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H
34. ISSUED CAPITAL 4. ERITRA
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBF T
Authorised: ERE
10,000,000,000 (2018: 10,000,000,000) 10,000,000,000/% ( ==& — \4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 10,000,000,0000% ) &A%
H{E0.10B L2 B 878,335 878,335
Issued and fully paid: EEITRER:
1,011,142,000 (2019: 1,011,142,000) 1,011,142,0008% (== — L F:
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,011,142,0000% ) & %
H{E0.10E T2 T B 88,856 88,856

35. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

35. f&1B

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
a) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had entered into non-cash transaction
agreement with a third party for interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB116,280,000
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil), the
proceeds of which was retained by the debtor as deposits

36. ZREBERERWE

a) FENIREXRS

to secure certain of the Group’s other borrowings.

222 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEERAEERACFEORBLERED S
SR BBRZ SO ESEHRN -

AREFBRBE_ZE_EF+_-_A=+—H
HTFERFTERITREAMBERE =77
SR E X 51 ARM116,280,0007T (=
T-NF &) HEFEX

ReBEF UWERAKENSE THEMES-

HHEBAER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36. MEHESRERMKEE (80
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) REZBHELEZEEEH
activities
Bank and
other
borrowings
(other than Fixed rate
Lease lease bonds Due to
liabilities liabilities) and notes a director
Year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-%F BITREM
+ZA=+-BLEE B8 (HE EEES
HESE BERM) RE EAESRE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR¥TR AR¥ TR AR¥TR
At 1 January 2020 RZE-ZF—-HF—H 7,931 4,862,933 178,035 138,857
Changes from financing cash flows RERERER (2,470) (1,441,139) (28,912) (8,089)
Interest expense FERX 654 = = =
Interest paid classified as operating PEREERERELEFNFE
cash flows (654) - - -
Transferred to liabilities directly associated ~ EAZEEH1EAFIEHED
with the assets classified as held for sale BEBRIEBNERE (3,153) - - -
Other non-cash movement HittkRe g - 116,280 = =
Foreign exchange movement JME B 57 11,006 (612) =
At 31 December 2020 RZZE-_ZF+-_A=1+—H 2,365 3,549,080 148,511 130,768
Bank and
other
borrowings Fixed rate
Lease (other than bonds Due to
liabilities  lease liabilities) and notes a director
Year ended 31 December 2019 HE-_T-NF RITREAM
tTZA=+—-BLEE e (HE EEES
HEBRE BERI) REE ENEZHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETTT ARETTT
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NF—HA—H 5,635 6,097,719 157,406 118,944
Changes from financing cash flows RERENER (2,219) (1,152,047) 6,158 (83,587)
New leases HE 6,289 = = =
Early termination RELIL (1,774) = = =
Interest expense FIERY 794 = = =
Interest paid classified as operating NEREERERE
cash flows ZERAFE (794) = = =
Repayment of a director on behalf REAGEER-—2ES
of the Group - (103,500) - 103,500
Foreign exchange movement HNEZE) - 20,761 14,471 =
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=1+—H 7,931 4,862,933 178,035 138,857

A
A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BF RS R AR BT T

31 December 2020 2 -ZF+-A=+—H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. mMEHEREBRM T (&)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
c) Total cash outflow for leases c) HERSRLATE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the SFAReRER2HERSREABHOT:
statement of cash flows is as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2020 2019
8z HZE
—EC-EF ZE-NF
+=A +=A
=+—H =+—H
LHEE IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Within operating activities LB EE (654) (794)
Within investing activities HEEH - -
Within financing activities MEEH (2,470) (2,219)

(3,124) (3,013)

37. B ER
HBEERANNREHESFBRERNBRER
SEADHR Y EHRAL B RS EHTIHE -

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES
The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised

less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
the holders for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the debtor. The
amount initially recognised represents the fair value at initial
recognition of the financial guarantees.

(a) At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees
not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

BEHEEERREERGLAREERAANE
EEEBENEFFRRAEEBETBEBAK
BHNEASRcREERTE - VRERSHEE
RV R BREREFO A FE-

(@) RBWEWK MBEEREABBZABRR
PURE

2020 2019
—g-%8F —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities FLIRIBFENE AR EE Y 2

provided for certain purchasers of
the Group’s properties

ETETRENER

99,462 94,255
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

PE+=A=+—8

37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

A

(a)

A

(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group provided guarantees
in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain
banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default
on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the
expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any auction
proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related
properties were pledged to the banks as collateral for
the mortgage loans, and in the event of default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks
are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise
the pledged properties through open auction. The
Group is responsible for repaying the banks when the
proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the date of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers, which will generally be available within one
to two years after the purchasers take possession of the
relevant properties.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant
and the directors of the Company consider that in the
event of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment
of the outstanding mortgage principals together with
the accrued interest and penalties, and therefore, no
provision has been made in the financial statements for
the guarantees.

37. MBER (@)

(a)

(&)

R-F-_ZFF+-_A=1t—B AKEHRE
TRITMAEEMEETELRHERBE
RMETORIBRERBER - REERN
R RERBER AT i Ll BT R R
BERLEN AEEAERRITEREEY
BENAERNRKEERBASEREHE
K (B T XA ERAERS) -

R LH BEMEEERRBERD
ERYERTRIT MEEABETRIRIBE
REBK RITARNGEEXERE LEB
AFAMERZRERYE - EHEDERSH
WHETRNEEREENRBASERE

HRERIAR AAEEAFERRITEER
o
AEBMERPRETHEBARBERZA

BRAZETREFHEMEREES (BER
BETRERBYMELR —EMFEATTIANER)
B 1 o
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37. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued) 37. B ER (&)
(b) At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees (b) RMEBR WHEBRRPARBHEZRETE
given to banks in connection with facilities granted to a ERBEZRMERBITREMBEROT :

joint venture not provided for in the financial statements
were as follows:

2020 2019
—g-®F —T-nF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Guarantees given to banks in connection METTAZBE

with facilities granted to: MERITIR M ER

A joint venture —EaEERF 512,477 548,055
As at 31 December 2020, the banking facilities RZEZTF+_A=+—H AEEM
guaranteed by the Group to a joint venture were utilised EERFERZBRITRMEDCHAOAR
to the extent of approximately RMB464,520,000 (2019: 464,520,000 (ZZE—NLF: AR
RMB511,518,000). 511,518,0007C) °
In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the BEEZERR EROQTERVBEERRTEH
guarantees at initial recognition and ECL allowance are FEEBEEREBTEKXR-

not significant.

38. COMMITMENTS 38. &I
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the (a) RMEER NEBBUTEAREE:
end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBT T

Contracted, but not provided for: DT 4B R B4
Buildings EF 266,484 290,926
Plant and machinery T 5 Je e 28 35,786 69,626
Capital contributions payable to R —FHEERAIENZEE
joint venture 107,858 120,145
410,128 480,697
At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not R HI R - AN B 3 M {F {a] 88 K&K HE -

have any significant commitments.
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB AR S
(a) Name and relationship of related parties (a) BB A BRBKREBER
The directors are of the view that the following EERBUTAT ABE

companies are related parties:

Name of party Relationship

BEE A8 &

Guangzhou City Pearl River Machine GZMT is a company of which Mr. Chen Chang is the ultimate equity
Tool Works Co., Ltd. (“GZMT”") owner

BM T I ERB AR QR ([FROTHK]) WIKKTTARE S ERTKRRERE A2 AT

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company is a joint venture of the Group

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company A& &~ 4 & A A

(b) The Group had no transactions with related parties (b) REBZE-_Z_ZEF+_A=+—RHLEFE"
during the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil). REEREEB ARG (ZT—NF:E) -
(c) Outstanding balances with a related party and a director: (c) IR RER 2 RX[THEER:
2020 2019
g 322 —Z-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Due from a related party JiE W Ba B 77 RIR

GzZMT f?mﬂ%%ﬁ 84,522 84,522
Due to a director JERTEENIA

Mr. Chen Chang YT 130,768 138,857
The outstanding balances with a related party and a BB A REEHN ARSI NEHRTEER £
director are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed BEWEETERA BT HIRKIEBLR
terms of repayment. The amount due from GZMT has RZEZ—F—RA#H-

been settled in January 2021.
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 30. BB AR 5 (#)
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d AEEXZEEBAENHH:
Group:
2020 2019
—E-EfF —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBEF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYEF 4,596 5,116
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKTE FIEH B R 89 145
Total compensation paid to key SNEZEBEABTIEE
management personnel 4,685 5,261

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in

note 9 to the financial statements.

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

H9 e

40. eI EAMNDSSE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

EEMEanE—SHBEARNMBERR M

RBEHRR SR TANKEENT

follows:
Financial assets SREE
2020 —ECEF
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
7 8
RARGTEN
SRMEE
RMB’000
AR%T
Financial assets included in long term FFARHENFIE R
prepayments and deposits EemamEE 3,384
Trade and bills receivables EZRBER L EREE 511,538
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATERTFRIE - E A FE Y RIR
other receivables and other assets LEMEENSHEE 713,905
Pledged deposits ez S 22,712
Due from a related party JE U A B 75 SR E 84,522
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 19,466
1,355,527
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(Continued)

40. ERTAENS B (8

Financial assets (Continued) EWMEE (&)
2019 —EB-AF
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost
bivg !
KA 28
CREEE
RMB’000
ARBFIT
Financial assets included in long term AARBEMNFIEK
prepayments and deposits REMEMEE 4,508
Trade and bills receivables B RBRER R EREE 403,775
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATERTFRIE - E A FE YRR
other receivables and other assets REMEENEMEE 602,188
Pledged deposits [R5 164,826
Due from a related party & U BB B 5 5RIR 84,522
Cash and cash equivalents ReRhBEEEY 58,585
1,318,404
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. eMI AN E (&)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities N R
2020 —ECEF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
R 8 R A
TEH
cHEE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Trade and bills payables BHRENERREMNZERE 614,511
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,365
Financial liabilities included in other FTACE A SR IE K
payables and accruals EEAERAMNEMARE 492,081
Due to a director ERESHIA 130,768
Interest-bearing bank and other ERITREMEES
borrowings (other than lease liabilities) (FHEA BRI 3,549,080
Fixed rate bonds and notes EEEHFMERE 148,511
4,937,316
2019 —E-NF
Financial
liability at
fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit amortised
or loss cost Total
ERAFEE RE KA
AR ATER
=R SRAE 4@t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEF T ARET T AR®EF T
Derivative financial instrument MTESRTA 3,724 = 3,724
Trade and bills payables B REMNEREEMNEE = 379,935 379,935
Lease liabilities HEAE - 7,931 7,931
Financial liabilities included in other FTACH 8 RUE K
payables and accruals EAERNeRARE - 335,460 335,460
Due to a director Bt EERIE = 138,857 138,857
Interest-bearing bank and other ERITRHEMEE
borrowings (other than lease liabilities) (BEBERIN) - 4,862,933 4,862,933
Fixed rate bonds and notes EEEHRRERE - 178,035 178,035
3,724 5,903,151 5,906,875
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41.

A

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY M EMIAZAFERAFESER
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial REMEREATESEEENESRIAN K
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that SEHpTENEREERRAFESRT
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—BC-2F —E-hF —BC-BF —E-AF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFT AR®TR ARETTT
Financial liabilities =R
Interest-bearing bank and other  FERITREMEE
borrowings (other than lease (HE A GRS
liabilities) 3,549,080 4,862,933 3,636,519 4,994,179
Fixed rate bonds and notes EEBERRER 148,511 178,035 157,006 179,178
Due to a director J& 1 8 % 5RIR 50,000 50,000 49,104 49,012
Derivative financial instrument eI HE - 3,724 - 3,724
3,747,591 5,094,692 3,842,629 5,226,093

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and an
amount due from a related party approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these

instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair

values:
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AfR e TOTERBRAR G AFE:
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities included
in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, fixed rate
bonds and notes and an amount due to a director have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for finance lease payables, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, fixed rate bonds and notes and an amount
due to a director as at 31 December 2020 were assessed
to be insignificant. The carrying amounts of these financial
instruments carried at amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019.

The fair value of warrants was estimated as at the date of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the warrants were granted.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB3,724,000).
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 December
2019:

B

Recurring fair value measurement for:

HE 3tk
S
o
H
Jm

E'Ii

fln

>

1

Derivative financial instrument )

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H

41.

EMITAZAFERAFESER (&)

A ERTREMEE TEEEFRERAR

ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁmﬁﬂ§§&E%ZA
B R T HRBEE 2 T AR AR

=&

{Kﬂv sER

RN

FAE - ThIA

ﬁiﬁt ﬁiﬁfﬁxﬁﬁﬂixfﬁémﬁﬁ 5/\_ =
?¢+*H7+*E'$E@Mﬁﬁﬂ§ﬁ%ﬁ
TH%%MEZQETEﬁH
PBABEATER R_T_TF+-_A=+—H

&:?*ﬂ¢+_ﬂ:+*5
A RZERMTAZRmMESR
Ho

R HEE B A

;ﬁz

AP

TR IR AR
NRFPELEEKRE

NFETDRIEL RER B ER

AT I E B AR A B A R R R AR (A AT -

ﬂ$ﬁ§ﬁ

REBR

— ==

—7—7

EET_A=1T—H AKELEEM

FEAEZEREE(ZZ-NF E)-

F+-A=+t—RLEEM

BAFEFEZERBEE(ZT—NAF:ARE

3,724,0007T) - TR HEARNEER =
TZA=t—BZEBMARZIA

=

NEF

FastEEA:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2019 using
R-B-AF+ZA=Z+-BEAUTHBAETFEZAFE

Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
RWEBR TS
FrRE®
(B-8)
RMB’000
ARBFT

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
BXA
BEBAE
(B=4)
RMB’000
ARBFT

3,724

Significant
unobservable
input

(Level 3)

E-p |
BEBAE
(B=%)
RMB’000
ARBFT

Total

aE
RMB’000
AREFT

3,724
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY M SRITEACZAFERAFESHR (8
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEER (&)

FRN E—BRE_BIEABEFAEREER
CREBEZATEHAEER TEEAZ =R
BE=REL (ZZE—ILF &)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2019: Nil).

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BEAFERENAE:

Fair value measurement using

EATIEEETAFENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs input
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SEETS BEXT EXFH
PR E% BEnAE BHEBAE
(F—#) (B=#) (F=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
2020 —T-EF
Interest-bearing bank and ERITRHEMEE
other borrowings (other than (HEEERINM)
lease liabilities) - 3,636,519 - 3,636,519
Fixed rate bonds and notes EEEFAERE - 157,006 - 157,006
Due to a director FERTZEE IR = 49,104 = 49,104
2019 —E-NF
Interest-bearing bank and ATERITRHEMES
other borrowings (other than (HEA BRI
lease liabilities) - 4,994,179 - 4,994,179
Fixed rate bonds and notes TEEEFLEE = 179,178 = 179,178
Due to a director & & = RE - 49,012 - 49,012
Derivative financial instrument MESFBIA - 3,724 - 3,724
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. B RABEEBERBXR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
and other borrowings, fixed rate bonds and notes, cash and
short term deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written risk
management policies and guidelines. Generally, the Group
introduces prudent strategies on its risk management. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans
and government loans with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of
fixed and floating interest rate borrowings in order to
manage its interest rate risk. Interest-bearing loans,
cash and short term deposits are stated at amortised
cost and not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate
interest income and expenses are credited/charged to
the statement of profit or loss as earned/incurred.

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest
rate of bank and other borrowings with floating interest
rates by one percentage point, with all other variables
held constant, the consolidated operating results would
have decreased/increased by approximately RMB23.3
million (2019: RMB30.8 million), and there would have
been no impact on other components of the consolidated
equity, except for retained profits, of the Group.

234 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

FEBTIENSRMIABRERTREAMEE &
BEFERER ReRERFR -ZZ2RIA
MEZEMNREEAKTENRERE - A5EE
EREMEREENAE WEERAKEELN
EORKERRE DRNERE -

HASENERTAEENTIERAMREF AR
SNERR - FEERBEABDESRR AKX EE
THEmAREERREES - —KRME K&
BERERREETIARENER - EEEEH
WipEERELERREBNBE BlmT:

(a) FRE M
REBAZOMSENEEHREBREZEAE
EEZRFHFEFENRITERERTE
RE@-

AEBEHESEYERETERFHNNEE
AEE UEREMNERBR -FEER B
& REHFRREHEKAIE M AEHE
fif o F B A R F S WA KR IR REE &
Rz R Ak -

ERZHHEAENRITEREMEEER
me/meE—EE2H mMAEEMES
TE ARACEEBEBRL ENHA
R #23,300,000c (ZZ—F: AR
30,800,0007T ) - ¥ 7N & E 47 & #E 25 00 H
B i 5 2 (WERB T m FUBRAN) ©

Annual Report 2020



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 =%

A=+—8

T+

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Foreign currency risk

|
A

(c)

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
These exposures arise from sales by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
Approximately 12% (2019: 11%) of the Group’s sales
were denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the operating units making the sale.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the United States (“US”) dollar exchange rate,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
profit/(loss) before tax.

Effect on profit/(loss) before tax

Increase in the US dollar rate of 3% Z T IE RIEMN3%
Decrease in the US dollar rate of 3% ETTEXR 3%

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

(b) SMEEREER

AEEHBRZEERER - ZEREKE L
EEMNBMNIREEB NI EREETT
BISHE - REEHEPH12% (ZFE—N5F:
M%) AETHENKLEBELNINETEIA
SN EHEEHE

TRETREBEHRAEERBATNER, (B
BIEMBEMEERF TERATHRE
T(IET])EXNSBAREHHGRE -

HBRBAEF (BE)HE

2020 2019
—®=%F —T-h%
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFTT
(2,708) (14,891)
2,708 14,891

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the
financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2020

(c) FERE (&)
REBBRRERER (&)

Lifetime ECLs

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

MEFNEREATREENREALERM]
FBEREOERENEERR -

R-ZB-BF+-A=+—H

12-month Simplified
ECLs Stage 1 approach Total
128 A8 2HEH
FEEFR FEEA
F-RE 5R{7S et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR¥ T AR T
Financial assets included in long st AKHEITEM ZUIE K
term prepayments and deposits ResemEE 3,384 = 3,384
Trade receivables* E S ERER = 500,237 500,237
Bills receivable & W = 4z - 11,301 11,301
Due from a related party JE U a5 SR I8 84,522 - 84,522
Financial assets included FFATERRIE - B
in prepayments, other receivables [ U E [ H b & &=
and other assets ZEREE
— Normal** —IEF* 713,906 - 713,906
Pledged deposits Rk
— Not yet past due — I#) 7% 48 R 22,712 - 22,712
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEEEEY
— Not yet past due — &) R 8 A 19,466 = 19,466
Guarantees given to banks in RAET—HEEQAIZ
connection with facilities granted Bt & AR 1TIR 4 2 &R
to a joint venture
— Facilities not yet drawn by ——H&&ERA
a joint venture AR Z@E 195,366 - 195,366
— Facilities drawn by ——H&&E QA
a joint venture ERERRZHE
- Not yet past due — A R 8 Bf 317,111 - 317,111
Guarantees in respect of mortgage LA TAEEMEEE S
facilities provided for certain R RBEERM
purchasers of the Group’s ER
properties
— Facilities drawn by certain —ETAEEMEBEESE
purchasers of the Group’s ERMZBE
properties 99,462 - 99,462
1,455,929 511,538 1,967,467
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2019

Financial assets included in long st AKETEM FIE K

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

(c) FERR (&)
REBBRRFERER (#)

RZB-NF+-_A=+—8H

Lifetime ECLs

12-month Simplified
ECLs Stage 1 approach Total

1218 A 78 8A T HITEHA

BEEER FEER
E—BE K@z #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT

term prepayments and deposits ResemEE 4,508 = 4,508
Trade receivables* Z 5 MW AR K> - 403,502 403,502
Bills receivable LS - 273 273
Due from a related party & LK BB Btk 77 SRR 84,522 - 84,522
Financial assets included ETATER FRIE - H

in prepayments, other receivables & W IE & E b & &=

and other assets ZEmMEE

— Normal** —IE&E** 602,188 - 602,188
Pledged deposits BEREe

— Not yet past due — 4 7K 180 HA 164,826 = 164,826
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY

— Not yet past due — [#) A< 18 HA 58,585 = 58,585
Guarantees given to banks in AETFT—HREERATZ

connection with facilities granted Bl & AR TR 2 FER

to a joint venture

— Facilities not yet drawn by ——H&&ERT

a joint venture AR Z BE 36,537 = 36,537

— Facilities drawn by ——H&E AT

a joint venture ERMZBE
— Not yet past due — 14 7K 781 5 511,518 = 511,518
Guarantees in respect of mortgage FtHE TASEYEREEE

facilities provided for certain Rtz RBRERHE

purchasers of the Group’s R

properties

— Facilities drawn by certain —ETAREEYEEEE

purchasers of the Group’s BERRBRZEE
properties 94,255 - 94,255
1,556,939 403,775 1,960,714
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

(c) EERME (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(Continued)

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
provision matrix is disclosed in note 22.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are
managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical
region and by industry sector. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors
and industries.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure continuity of sufficient
funding and flexibility by utilising a variety of bank and
other borrowings with debt maturities spreading over
a range of periods, thereby ensuring that the Group’s
outstanding borrowing obligation is not exposed to
excessive repayment risk in any one year. Due to the
capital intensive nature of the Group’s businesses, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit
lines to meet its liquidity requirements.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its
ability to obtain external financing to meet its committed
future capital expenditure. With regard to its future
capital commitments and other financing requirements,
the Group has already obtained banking facilities
with several banks of up to an amount of RMB2,685
million as at 31 December 2020, of which an amount of
approximately RMB1,965 million has been utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 — 2=+ -A=+—H

42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. R REREE B ZRBUER (#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REBESER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities RMERR AEBERDTORITRAR
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the MNEfmBENIEBBRET:

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2020
—E-_EF+-A=1+-—H

Less than Over
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
RER LPR—F —FBE aat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTRT ARBTR
Trade and bills payables B I RNER R
& R IR - 614,511 - 614,511
Other payables H fth & - 5RIE = 492,081 = 492,081
Due to a director BN EZEERA - 80,768 50,000 130,768
Lease liabilities HEBRE - 2,413 402 2,815

Interest-bearing bank and AERITREMEE

other borrowings (excluding (TEEREAR)

lease liabilities) - 2,330,147 1,723,509 4,053,656
Fixed rate bonds and notes & Ef&5 K ZEik - 51,507 124,899 176,406

- 3,571,427 1,898,810 5,470,237

Financial guarantees issued: =%t 7 @& &R :

Maximum amount EREREE
guaranteed 611,939 - - 611,939
31 December 2019
—E-NE+=ZA=+—H
Less than Over
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
LEK DR —F —F LAk #BEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETET
Trade and bills payables B IRNERR
& 2% - 379,935 - 379,935
Other payables H fth &t 518 - 335,460 = 335,460
Due to a director JE & = FRIA - 88,857 50,000 138,857
Lease liabilities HEBRE - 2,458 7,144 9,602

Interest-bearing bank and HERITREMEES

other borrowings (excluding (TeiEHEaE)

lease liabilities) - 1,384,980 4,199,687 5,584,667
Fixed rate bonds and notes T EEHNMEE - 20,686 199,505 220,191

- 2,212,376 4,456,336 6,668,712

Financial guarantees issued: 231 7 @& &R :

Maximum amount mEEREE
guaranteed 642,310 - - 642,310
—E-TEEERE BIARARARMEZERERLT 239
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B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2020 —ZT=ZTF+=-A=+—H
42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. BERREEBEEREEK (&)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debts divided by total assets. Total debts include
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and fixed
rate bonds and notes. The gearing ratios as at the end of
the reporting periods are as follows:

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B R1T R HEMEE

(e) EXEHE

AEBEAEENIZAREHTAKE
SEKLENRNIRBRER L X UXFHE
EBAERREEZAL-

AEENAEEABLRERERN  ZHLE
REBEBHRABREE BEH BB BRT
REMEBERESEHFERERE RESHR
MEERBLEMT:

2020 2019
—E-%F —B-hE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

(note 26) (Pf5E26) 3,551,445 4,870,864
Fixed rate bonds and notes (note 30) EEEHRERE (KHE30) 148,511 178,035
Total debts BER 3,699,956 5,048,899
Total assets BwEE 8,541,528 8,489,806
Gearing ratio BEAEBLE 43.3% 59.5%
43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. HEHEEBE

The Group had no significant event after the reporting period
required to be disclosed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2020 —Z -4+ -A=+—H

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the N
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

44. R 7] 2 B iR &R

RARBERRZPBRRAKRER DT

2020 2019
—E_EFE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIRE 49,591 49,591
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 49,591 49,591
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Due from subsidiaries g N NGIE O] 511,568 709,866
Cash and bank balances " e MIRTTHE 240 4,887
Total current assets MENVEERE 511,808 714,753
CURRENT LIABILITIES B &
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings AERITRHEMEE 103,266 108,829
Other payables and accruals HapERIE M ERTE A 25,720 16,554
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE S 65,578 189,198
Fixed rate bonds and notes TFEEHFLEEE 33,903 170,404
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 228,467 484,985
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 283,341 229,768
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BERERESAG 332,932 279,359
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBEE
Fixed rate bonds and notes TFEEEFLEE 114,608 7,631
Total non-current liabilities FRBBEEETE 114,608 7,631
Net assets BEFE 218,324 271,728
EQUITY 2
Issued capital BB TR A 88,856 88,856
Reserves (note) e (fEE) 129,468 182,872
Total equity 4B 218,324 271,728
—TEEERS KWIRBXARMEERERAT 241
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2020 —Z-—ZF+-A=+—H

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44, KRR Z B BRR T (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: M EE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARBZREERENT
Exchange
Share Contributed Accumulated fluctuation
premium surplus losses reserve Total
R EE BEAEH 2itER EXRDREE Lo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2019 R-E-hnE—A-8 824,219 1,712,731 (1,360,406) (33,328) 1,143,216
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEE2EFEAE - - (965,515) 5171 (960,344)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ-NF

+-fA=+-8 824,219 1,712,731 (2,325,921) (28,157) 182,872
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFE2HEEEATE - - (42,313) (11,091) (53,404)
At 31 December 2020 i 3

+=A=+-A 824,219 1,712,731 (2,368,234) (39,248) 129,468

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45. #LEBM B | K
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MBHRRER T —F=-A=+HEESSH
issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021. R T
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFMBHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities

of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on the basis

set out in the note below is as follows:

MBENBE

AEBRTXWEMENEEREBEEA AN RFRE

MERAMEEREERAGBR

B

Results S
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=t—-HLEFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBZ®E _—T-NE ZT-N\FE T+t ZE-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETT AREBTT AR®TR
Revenue WA 1,141,807 1,193,961 1,681,566 873,293 1,443,487
Cost of sales HER K (935,120)  (981,769)  (1,358,041)  (815,182)  (1,361,900)
Gross Profit EF 206,687 212,192 323,525 58,111 81,587
Other income and gains Hip e A R Wz 1,911,272 441,747 81,579 140,553 37,564
Selling and distribution expenses 56 & 7 4% A (34,808) (55,821) (63,744) (107,330) (144,423)
Administrative expenses THER (287,638) (336,042) (437,020) (475,632) (470,977)
Other expenses Hih B A (300,702) (69,388) (93,432) (12,873)  (105,283)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net X (BiE) s 38 (120,098) 23,528 16,241 (44,121) (86,417)
Finance costs & B (475,384)  (450,058)  (374,468)  (426,286)  (237,142)
Impairment of property, M- BEREEZRE
plant and equipment - - - (18,006) (516,250)
Fair value (loss)/gain on BEMEZATE
investment properties (B18) s (20,000) 78,008 21,779 = =
Fair value gain/(loss) on TEemITAZATE
a derivative financial instrument Utz (&18) - 19,260 (22,984) = =
Share of loss of a joint venture ~ [E{5 —fH& & A &1 (2,668) (18,655) (2,724) (2,779) (1,460)
Profit/(loss) before tax B%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁll/ (E#E) 876,661 (155,229) (551,248) (888,363)  (1,442,801)
Income tax (expense)/credit BH (ZH) /Ee (253,750) 13,140 52,313 14,608 (56,197)
Profit/(loss) for the year FNsF, (EE) 622,911 (142,089) (498,935) (873,755)  (1,498,998)
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEZARAS
(loss) for the year, net of tax (B518) (JBBE) 178,815 (21,323) (116,857) 153,862 (133,018)
Total comprehensive profit/(loss) FAZ@EE ],/ (EE)
for the year B 801,726 (163,412)  (615792)  (719,893)  (1,632,016)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) &R &F,/ (E1E)
(AR®) RMBAE¥ RMBARY® RMBAR®¥ RMBARMY RMBARK
— basic and diluted —EAREE 0.627T (0.14) 7T (0.49) 7T (0.86) 7T (1.48) T

\
A
4y
"H
¥t
£
]:_1

A
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

FEKEE

Assets and Liabilities EEHAE

31 December

+=A=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZB-®E _—T-NE ZT-N\FE ZT—+tF ZERF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETT AR®TT AR®TT
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,034,502 4,435,885 5,437,956 5,986,437 7,140,362
Current assets MBEE 4,507,026 4,053,921 4,570,337 4,166,659 3,815,464
Current liabilities mBEE (5,457,229) (3,913,293) (4,610,046) (6,333,616) (6,539,519)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,227,604) (4,521,544) (5,167,974) (2,973,415) (2,848,421)
Total Equity R 856,695 54,969 230,273 846,065 1,567,886
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